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Chairperson’s Statement

BV

Dear shareholders,

On behalf China New City Commercial Development Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”), |
am pleased to present the annual results of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2018 (“the year under review”).

REVIEW OF RESULTS

During the year under review, the revenue of the Group was approximately
RMB1,925 million, representing a significant increase of approximately
550% as compared with that of 2017. Our property business reported
sales of nearly RMB1,578 million reaching a record high. The gross
profit of the Group was approximately RMB340 million, representing an
increase of 152% as compared with that of 2017. The loss of the Group
will decrease to RMB219 million (2017: RMB359 million), when taking no
account of gain or loss investment properties fair value movement of the
year.
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During the year under review, the Group recorded a loss attributable to
equity holder of approximately RMB244 million, decreasing by RMB732
million as compared with that of 2017; and the basic loss per share was
approximately RMBO0.13, decreasing by RMB0.40 as compared with that
of 2017. The board of directors do not recommend the payment of any
final dividend for the year under review (2017: nil).

MARKET AND BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2018, the economy of China faced both internal and external
challenges due to the escalation of China-US trade friction, the increasing
downturn pressure of domestic economy, slowing down growth of
international demands and an export which fell short of expectation. The
macroeconomic environment faced by the property industry became
more complicated, but the control policies showed no sign of easing
and even more control measures were issued and implemented by the
government. Based on the core principle of “housing for living in, not
for speculation”, the market further followed the control policies of the
industry which underwent a gradual transformation from suppressing
demand to increasing supply to optimize the supply structure.
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Chairperson’s Statement

R

As a commercial property developer and operator, the Group is
committed to developing commercial complexes in the Yangtse River
Delta and other major economic regions. Under the business model of
combining sale and lease, the Group strategically diversified its revenue
sources and return periods. Meanwhile, through adhering to the corporate
mission of “creating new urban life” and the strategic guiding principle
of “focusing on the demand of the public’, and based on its existing
business and sophisticated development and investment concepts, the
Group further developed its health, film, television and culture, hospitality,
and cultural tourism segments and extended their presence to the whole
Yangtse River Delta area.

The year 2018 was first year of the Group’s “Three-year Strategy” and
also the year in which various work initiatives was implemented. Property,
commerce, culture, tourism, health, services and other segments
continued to develop steadily. During the year under review, though faced
with challenging market environment, the Group worked together and
tackled various difficulties to further develop all the business segments.
Not only improvements been made in the major activities such as hotel
management and commercial operation, but also breakthroughs have
made with respect to film, television and culture, health and cultural
tourism and satisfactory results have been achieved for the exploration
of new segments such as smart agriculture and bed and breakfast asset
trading center.

1. Property Sales

The Xixi New City, located at riverside of the Xixi Wetland in the
West Lake District of Hangzhou, achieved remarkable result and
made remarkable contribution to Group’s property sales result
during the year under review by virtue of its superior geographical
location, good reputation and intelligent home design. And the
commercial and service apartments project Jia Run Mansion in
the International Office Center (“IOC”) (Plot A3) continued to make
contribution to stabilizing the Group’s property sales revenue. The
IOC project is adjacent to the Hangzhou Olympic and International
Expo Center where the venue of 2016 Group of Twenty (G20)
Summit and the sports venue of the 2022 Asian Games are
located, and it is directly across the river from Hangzhou'’s political
and cultural center Qianjiang New Town, therefore it is warmly
welcomed by the market due to its favorable geographical location.
The Company has commenced the development of Plot A2 in this
year to assure the steady growth of property sales revenue.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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Property Leasing

The Group’s current property leasing income has increased
significantly as compared with that of last year, and was mainly
derived from the Highlong Plaza in Xiaoshan Hangzhou and the
Zhong An Intime City. In order to enhance its influence in the local
area, the shopping mall section of the Highlong Plaza has entered
into asset optimization project and merchant portfolio adjustment
since April 2016. The Highlong Plaza upon upgrade increased the
proportion of merchants catering for children’s food and beverages,
living and services with more differentiation and experience
elements and witnessed gradual improvement in operating
efficiency.

Hotel Operations

In respect of hotel operations, the Zhong An Holiday Inn hotel
in Xiaoshan Hangzhou operated well. In addition, the Group’s
brand hotels Hangzhou Qiandao Lake Bright Resort Hotel and
Huaibei Bright Hotel both achieved satisfactory operation result.
The opening in succession of these two brand hotels has injected
new momentum to the hotel segment of the Group. Benefiting
from significant increase of leasable hotel rooms, the Group has
recorded continual growth of operation revenue in hotel segment.
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Chairperson’s Statement
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New Emerging Business

For the commerce and real estate business, the Group will further
adjust its business model and optimizes its operating structure,
and will launch its new child-oriented business model on the basis
of the traditional business model. The Group will focus on serving
children in cities and integrating child health, child education,
child entertainment and child sports to build a diversified and
intelligentized body of comprehensive functions, with the help of
excellent partners around the world and to inject new impetus to
the development of the child-related industry.

In November 2018, the Group’s first British-style parent-child
membership-based club, Maggie Rose, which was established in
cooperation with Maggie & Rose in the UK for pre-school children,
opened in Highlong Plaza and has attracted many families to
join this club to experience British play and preschool education
services.

At the same time, the Group will also proactively explore other
business opportunities in the fields of emerging industries such as
recreation and tourism, healthcare, and culture and entertainment.

As for healthcare, the successive openings of Qiushi
Ophthalmology (k2R ®l) , Vanke Nursing Home (& RIBE B &
Pt ) and Landscape Garden Clinic (117K%&%Ff) created good
conditions for the growth of operating income in the coming year.
The Group will rely on the existing social resources and financial
strength, with the help of high-end expert teams and research and
development strength of scientific research institutions, to improve
the overall management and service capacity, establish industry
characteristics, and strive to build China’s first-class health industry
brand.

As for film and television, “Xinmu (7% ) " Cinemas, as the newly
launched cinema brand of the Company, has expanded rapidly
after entering the market. At present, there are four cinemas in
the operation, and the traffic volume is increasing year by year. In
the first half of 2018, the project expansion has achieved fruitful
results and signed two projects of Jiangsu Jiangyan Times Square,
Chengdu Fantasia. The projects signed are located in the main
business district of the core city, with a prominent situation in the
region.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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PRUDENTLY PURCHASE LAND AND
REPLENISH LAND RESERVE

The Group implements prudent land purchase strategy and purchases
lands with high quality and low cost according to market requirement
as and when appropriate while maintaining a sound financial condition,
aiming to optimize the local reserve structure.

On 31 January 2018, the Group bidded at total consideration of
RMB39.38 million and obtained the land use right for a piece of state land
located at Phoenix Hill, Tuankou town, Linan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang
Province, the PRC with a total site area of 37,500 sg.m., and it in held for
commercial/hotel use.

On 16 May 2018, the Group entered into an equity transfer agreement
with an independent third party by acquiring 51% equity interest at total
consideration of RMB144 million and a refundable performance deposit in
the amount of RMB60 million. Such land is located at Xincheng District,
Xuzhou, Jiangsu Province, the PRC with a total site area of 154,802
sg.m., and it is held for commercial use. For details, please refer to the
paragraph “Acquisition of Equity Interest in Xuzhou Wanxiang” below.

Such projects will bring synergy effects to the Group’s other projects
under planning in Hangzhou and further strengthen our brand marketing
in the Yangtze River Delta Region. As at the date of this report, the total
GFA of land reserves of the Group was approximately 3.25 millions sg.m.
distributed among 7 cities and regions of the Yangtze River Delta Region.
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PROSPECTS AND OUTLOOK AND
DEVELOPMENT STRATEGIES

Looking forward into 2019, China’s economy is still facing downward
pressure. In order to ensure the stable operation of the real estate market,
all the control policies will be mainly on timely and moderate basis.
Classified measures, city-specific measures and structural optimization
are still the key points of the real estate control policies. The Group will
closely focus on the three-year strategic planning objectives, adhere
to scientific management, docking development, integration of internal
and external resources, with an aim to create a new pattern of industrial
development with multi-support, multi-industry and multi-development,
and ultimately achieve a new leap forward in the Group’s development
and achieve new goals.

The main development area of the Group is the Yangtze River Delta
Region, which has a strong economic foundation and low-cost lands and
benefits from China’s strategies such as the Belt and Road Initiative and
the Yangtze River Economic Belt, thus the Group strongly believe that the
development projects under the Group will continue to be well received by
the market.

The completion and launch of Yuyao Zhong An Times Square and
Intime City project in Yuyao, as well as the successive opening of
Qiandao Lake Bright Resort Hotel and Huaibei Bright Hotel, significantly
increase our leasable area and the number of leasable guest rooms
of the entire property portfolio, providing stable cash flow support to
the Group in the long run. In such context, the Group will uphold the
synchronous development of traditional and emerging sectors as its
development direction. That means the Group will continue to pursue
scale development and achieve new industry cultivation and incubation
in the field of culture tourism, health and education industry on the basis
of strengthening traditional segments, such as real estate development,
commerce operation and hotel operation etc., so as to promote the
synergetic development of traditional segment and emerging industry.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2018 Annual Report
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Among the developing projects, the International Office Center (‘lOC”)
project is still the major development project of the Group. Benefiting from
a series of favorable policies, Qianjiang Century City where the project
located is under fast construction and development. Hangzhou Olympic
Sports Stadium, adjacent to the IOC project, will host international major
sports events such as the 2022 Asian Games in future. Benefiting from
its strategic layout and cheap cost of land that the Group had acquired in
early years, the IOC project enjoys absolute geographical advantage and
development potential in this segment. The Group has begun to develop
Plot A2 of I0C in 2018, which will create sustainable impetus to property
sales. The Group plans to explore more lands with low price but high
potential in 2019 through mergers and acquisitions.
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sincere gratitude to the continuing support and trust of the shareholders
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all the staff of the Group.

Shi Kancheng
Chairperson

Hong Kong, 19 March 2019
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Investment Properties

BEYIR

As at 31 December 2018 72018412 831H

Available for
lease/resale

Project Location Property type GFA
HE EE

EH i B MEER EEEE

Completed Projects

E%IEH

Guomao Building Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 12,225

BERNE AT AEM EES N

Integrated Service Center Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 5,913

A RBH O HLEFMN [EE3 N

Highlong Plaza Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 67,700

BE &% AT AEM EES N

Landscape Garden Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 8,781

17k %E HLAHMN [EEIS N

Hidden Dragon Bay Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 17,814

Ey ) AT AEM EES N

La Vie Shanghai Commercial 341

RLLE g EES

International Office Center Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 80,396
Y N AT AEM EES N

Zhong An e Intime City Yuyao, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 92,489

R ¢ T T E Rk [EEIS N

Yuyao Shangguan Yuyao, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 2,160

RkEE HIAE R EES N

Yuyao Zhong An Times Square Yuyao, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 7,274

(Phase I)
RURLHRES (ZH)

RAE-F R

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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Major Properties Held for Development and/or Sale

(209 O ¥ h RS ALY S

Project GFA of
Project Location Property type Site area GFA land bank
HEEE T fRE
HE 1 36 MEEE i EE (G EEHE
sq.m. sq.m. 5q.m.
FHok FHok ik
Projects Under Development
B hIEE
Zhong An Times Square Yuyao, Zhejiang Integrated Commercial 65,159 305,473 263,596
(Phase ) Province Complex
R ES (—H) HTE R [EEI N
Zhong An Times Square Yuyao, Zhejiang Integrated Commercial 71,519 322,912 113,032
(Phase Il) Province Complex
R ES (ZH) HTE R [EEI N
Hidden Dragon Bay Hangzhou, Zhejiang Integrated Commercial 89,173 241,695 87,559
Province Complex
e AL HN [EEI N
Cixi Ningbo Land Ningbo, Zhejiang Integrated Commercial 49,804 159,510 159,510
Province Complex
ERBEM IR MIAER [EEI N
Chaoyang Yinzuo Hangzhou, Zhejiang Integrated Commercial 10,541 53,033 20,563
Province Complex
FAR5 IR 2 AL HN [EEI N
International Office Center Hangzhou, Zhejiang Integrated Commercial 93,610 798,795 708,825
(Plot A) Province Complex
BIER AT L (AfhIR) AL HN [EEI N
Xixi New City Hangzhou, Zhejiang Office/Commercial 39,703 83,391 83,391
Province
PR AL HN /NP
Xixi Manhattan Hangzhou, Zhejiang Integrated Commercial 24,534 109,173 91,493
Province Complex
FEERE AL HN [EEI N
Xuzhou Wanxiang Xuzhou, Jiangsu Integrated Commercial 154,802 562,371 562,371
Province Complex
HmMNER TERE RN BEGAE
Hangzhou Linan Tuankou Land Hangzhou, Zhejiang Commercial/Hotel 37,500 63,502 63,502
Province
UM ER 20 O 3 TERE RN BE/BE
Projects contracted to be
acquired
EFHNKTWEBER
International Office Center Hangzhou, Zhejiang Integrated Commercial 207,390 1,098,065 1,098,065
(Plots B and C) Province Complex
BRI AF L (B RCHIER) AT A HM EEEAR
3,251,907

FEFBTAEERER
—ZE-N\EF
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B i L O A

AWARDS AND HONOURS

Awarding Institution Award Awardee
China’s famous comprehensive ~ High-End Hotel Industry Award of  Huaibei Bright Hotel of
travel website under the Top the Year- “China’s Best China New City

20 advantage Tourism Group in -~ Commercial Hotel of the Year”

China
BUSINESS REVIEW

The year of 2018 presented rather involved macroeconomic situation for
property policies to evolve. In further response to the keynote of “housing
is for living in, not for speculation”, and to carry on the philosophy of
implementing measures adjusted to the scale of cities, local governments
have made tougher effort on market surveillance to curb housing
speculation so that a reasonable demand for housing is to be met.
Specifically, local governments restructured housing supply at supply
side, promoted tenancy market in its full swing and launched houses with
joint property rights and other affordable housing in a rewarding direction
to an effective supply. Despite of less favorable market conditions, the
Group managed to achieve still desirable results in contract sales with its
unremitting effort against hardships and challenges. This fully embodied
the Company’s leading strategic vision, accurate investment layout as well
as prudent and flexible operation strategy.

Outlook for 2019

China still faces a downward pressure upon its economy in 2019. Real
estate as an important support for the economic growth, to maintain the
stability of the real estate market is one of the important measures to
relieve the pressure. Real estate policy “control by city by classification”
will be the main theme of future control and regulation. Although the whole
economy is going down with the individual economy developing and
consumption level rising, people are paying more attention to quality of life
and are more willing to spend on better experience and services, against
the backdrop of overall downturn in economy. A higher demand for quality
life will increasingly shed light upon advantages of commercial real estate
by integrated commercial shopping mall turning into the dominant mode
of an upgraded service experience in the future. Commercial real estate
will feature the continuous renovation and upgrade, fast urban renewal
and upgraded consumption level as its indispensably part.
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DEVELOPMENT OF MAJOR PROJECTS
Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province

Highlong Plaza

It is a large-scale integrated commercial complex located in Shanyin
Road, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, comprising hotels, shopping malls
and offices, and is the flagship project of the Company. The total site
area of the project is 30,933 sg.m. and the total GFA thereof is 171,071
sg.m.. The project was completed in January 2009, and has been in good
function to date.

International Office Center (“IOC”)

IOC is a large-scale integrated commercial complex located in Qianjiang
Century City ($THt4230) ,
serviced apartments, shopping malls, hotels and offices. The total site
area of Plot A3 is 92,610 sg.m. and total GFA is approximately 798,795
sg.m.. The project is in three phases, consists of Plots A1, A2 and AS.

Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, comprising

Among which, Plot A3 was completed in 2015, comprising serviced
apartments, shops and underground car parking spaces with a total GFA
of approximately 327,996 sqg.m.. Plots A2 has commenced construction
by the end of 2018 and planned total GFA is approximately 263,555
sg.m..

Xixi New City

It is located in Jiangcun Unit, Xihu District, Hangzhou and is in
proximity to Xixi Wetland. It is the only classic project integrating “Urban
Prosperity” and “Ecological Tranquility” in Xixi. The total site area of the
project is 39,703 sg.m. and total GFA is 83,391 sg.m.. The project has
commenced construction in 2017, which will become an integrated
commercial complex comprising offices, serviced apartments and shops.

Xixi Manhattan

It is a commercial real estate project located in Yuhang District, Hangzhou,
with GFA of 109,173 sg.m.. The project was open for sale in late August
2017 and part of the serviced apartments were delivered in 2018.
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Chaoyang Yinzuo

It is the commercial portion of the Chaoyang community parcel, Xiaoshan
District, Hangzhou with a total site area of 10,541 sg.m. and total GFA
of 53,033 sg.m.. The project mainly includes serviced apartments
and shops, and pre-sale was commenced in 2016, and the serviced
apartments were delivered in 2018.

Hangzhou Qiandao Lake Bright Resort Hotel

It is a hotel project located in the southwest of Qiandaohu Town
(F &), Chunan County, Hangzhou, with total GFA of 46,691
sg.m.. The hotel is built adjacent to Thousand-Islet Lake Passengers Port
which enjoys a beautiful lake view and natural habitat. This project was
completed and commenced business in the first half of 2017.
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Yuyao, Zhejiang Province

Zhong An Times Square

It is a large-scale integrated commercial project located in Yuyao,
Zhejiang Province with estimated total GFA of 628,385 sg.m.. The
development of project is completed by two phases, comprising hotels,
shops, residences, serviced apartments, shopping malls and offices. The
construction of phase Il of this project was completed in 2016, and the
construction of phase | of this project was completed and delivered in
2018. All net economic benefits arising from the sale or pre-sale of the
residential apartments in Phase Il shall belong to a connected person (as
defined under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”)) of the Group according to the
Cooperation Agreement entered into between the Group (through its
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary) and such connected person on 16
March 2014. Details of the Cooperation Agreement were disclosed in the
section headed “Continuing Connected Transaction” in the prospectus
(“Prospectus”) of the Company dated 17 June 2014.

Huaibei, Anhui Province

Huaibei Bright Hotel

It is a hotel project in Huaibei, Anhui province, with a site area of 60,768
sg.m. and total GFA of 67,061 sg.m.. This project has fully completed and
commenced business by the end of 2017.

Xuzhou, Jiangsu Province

It is an integrated commercial complex located in the south of Xuzhou
new district, Jiangsu Province with the site area of 154,802 sg.m. and
total GFA of 562,371 sg.m.. The project is still under planning by the end
of 2018 and the construction of Phase | of this project is expected to be
completed in 2022.
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Sales Review

For the year under review, the recognized sales of properties sold and
delivered was approximately RMB1,578,447,000 (2017: approximately
RMB148,234,000). The recognized sales area of properties was
approximately 118,010 sg.m.. In addition, the sales of investment
properties of approximately RMB323,301,000 (2017: RMB920,671,000)
was not included in the sales of properties in accordance with
International Accounting Standards.

HED R

EREFEN MEHEZEBRR (HERRM)
HE RN A ARK1,578,447,0007T (20174 :
# B ANR¥148,234,0007T) - EERM W EHE
EEA A118,010F 7K o i o - IRIRBI R & 5 25
Al SHE IR E W E L AR ES323,301,0007T 2017
4 1 920,671,0007T I KRET AV FEHE o

Proceeds from

disposal of

Sales of investment
properties properties
HEREWF

YMESHE P8 RE
(RMB million) (RMB million)

(AR%BBERL) (AR¥BET)

International Office Centre IOC T B % X
Yuyao Zhong An Times Square Phase || RRLRHRES _H
Zhong An Hidden Dragon Bay R E

Highlong Plaza BfE &%

Yuyao Zhong An Times Square Phase | RKBLRERES—H
Chaoyang Yinzuo A5 iR R

Xixi Manhattan FESRIE
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2018 Contracted Sales 2018 FEEREHE

For the year under review, the contracted sales area of the Group was REIBEFERN  AEBEHNAREEEELN S
approximately 71,906 sa.m. (2017: approximately 243,268 sg.m.) and  71,906°F 75 2K (20174F : 4 /243,268 5 K ) -
contracted sales revenue was approximately RMB1,670,300,000 (2017: & E#HE WAL A AR %1,670,300,0007T (2017
approximately RMB3,296,300,000). Details of the contracted sales of the  4F : &1 A R#3,296,300,0007T) * + ZIEEH K& R

major projects are as below: HEFFIBIT :
Contracted Contracted
sales area sales revenue
ERMEEE ERBEEKRA

(sg.m.) (RMB million)
(FAHXK) (AREA®ET)

Jia Run Mansion =S N 11,052 404.9
Yuyao Zhong An Times Square Phase | AR LEBRES 2 26,631 225.3
Yuyao Zhong An Times Square Phase |l RIERLHNRES 8 2,983 46.0
Chaoyang Yinzuo 55 98 /E 2,890 65.3
Highlong Plaza 1B ES 8,368 115.4
Xixi Manhattan PR EMRE 4,241 138.9
Xixi New City PR T 15,741 674.5
Total #Et 71,906 1,670.3
Xinnongdu R 54,158 580.6
Hotel Operation BIEEE

There are three hotels of the Group that are currently under operation, 755 B ER G = B /& 1E 78 & 5& - BN & 1L &
being Holiday Inn Hangzhou Xiaoshan, Hangzhou Qiandao Lake — EEJE ~ H1 0 F & 8 3 45 2 BUB /& &g 1A
Bright Resort Hotel and Huaibei Bright Hotel. The hotel operation of — Im4FBJE c REIEBFE N - AN EEE S & B85
the Group recorded a revenue of approximately RMB111,328,000 WAXIAR#111,328,0007T (20174 : IR/ AR
(2017: approximately RMB66,815,000), representing an increase  #66,815,0007T) * #& h4967% * J JE Hi 18 F 49 3%
of approximately 67%, during the year under review and the hotel ~ 58% (20174 : 52% ) ©

occupancy rate was approximately 58% (2017: 52%).
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Leasing Business

The current leasing income of the Group mainly comes from Highlong
Plaza, |IOC and Yuyao Zhong An Times Square in operation, including
office and shopping malls. The total revenue from leasing business for
the year under review was approximately RMB160,369,000, representing
an increase of approximately 152% from approximately RMB63,610,000
recorded in the year of 2017. The average occupancy rate of leasing
properties (calculated by dividing total lease area by total area available for
lease) was approximately 96% (2017: 91%).

Land Reserve

As of 31 December 2018, the total GFA of land reserves held for
development/sale of the Group was approximately 3,250,000 sg.m..

Repurchase of Shares

At the Company’s annual general meeting (the “AGM”) held on 5 June
2018, the shareholders granted a general mandate to the directors of
the Company (the “Directors”) to repurchase the shares of the Company
(the “Repurchase Mandate”). Pursuant to the Repurchase Mandate, the
Company is allowed to repurchase up to 184,613,200 shares, being 10%
of the total number of issued shares of the Company as at the date of the
AGM, on Stock Exchange. For the year ended 31 December 2018, the
Company repurchased a total of 11,164,000 shares through the Stock
Exchange, representing approximately 0.6% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at 31 December 2018. The aggregate consideration
for the repurchase was HK$14.1 million. Save as disclosed above, neither
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company'’s listed securities during the year under review. The
share repurchase reflects the Company’s solid financial position and the
Board’s strong confidence in the Company’s future business prospects.
The Company believes that the Repurchase Mandate is in the interest of
the shareholders as a whole by enhancing the net asset value per share
and earnings per share of the Company.
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Acquisition of Further Equity Interest in
Zhejiang Xinnongdu

Reference is made to the joint announcements of Zhong An Real Estate
Limited (“Zhong An”) and the Company dated 21 August 2017 and 29
August 2017 in relation to Zhong An Shenglong (an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company) acquiring 19.85% of the entire equity
interests in Zhejiang Xinnongdu from Hangzhou Oriental; and the joint
announcement of Zhong An and the Company dated 20 July 2018 in
relation to Zhong An Shenglong further acquiring 22.65% of the entire
equity interest in Zhejiang Xinnongdu from Hangzhou Oriental.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 29 November
2018, Zhong An Shenglong (an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of
China New City Commercial Development Limited) intended to acquire an
additional 22.65% of the entire equity interest in Zhejiang Xinnongdu from
Hangzhou Oriental at the consideration which was satisfied by the issue
of 178,280,000 Consideration Shares by China New City Commercial
Development Limited. Subject to Completion, Zhong An Shenglong
will own an aggregate of 42.5% of the entire equity interest in Zhejiang
Xinnongdu.

Zhejiang Xinnongdu was established on 8 May 2008 and is principally
engaged in investment holding and trading of agricultural products. The
principal activities of the Zhejiang Xinnongdu Group are the development,
construction and management of logistics center for agricultural products.
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Acquisition of Equity Interest in Xuzhou
Wanxiang

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 16 May
2018. Zhong An Shenglong entered into an equity transfer agreement
with China Business Alliance (Beijing) Commercial Investment Co., Ltd.*
(PR E (L R)EERESMR AR and Wanxiang (Fujian) Zhiye
Development Co., Ltd* (BR (BB)EXZEBRAF), pursuant
to which, among others, Zhong An Shenglong has conditionally agreed
to acquire 51% of the entire equity interests in Xuzhou Wanxiang from
Wanxiang Fujian at a consideration of RMB144 million and a refundable
performance security deposit of RMB60 million. As at the date of
this report, the acquisition has been completed. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 16 May 2018 for further details.

The principal activities of Xuzhou Wanxiang are the development,
construction and management of commercial properties in Xuzhou
city, Jiangsu Province, the PRC. The acquisition of equity interest in
Xuzhou Wanxiang would allow the Group to capture the business and
development opportunities arising from the commercial properties
development in areas of Xuzhou city, Jiangsu Province, the PRC, in light
of the continued urbanisation, economic growth and improvement in living
standards of the residents in these regions. This is conducive to the long-
term growth and sustainable development of the Group as a whole, and
may enhance shareholder’s value in the long run.

b
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Cooperation with Maggie & Rose

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 24
November 2017. On 24 November 2017, the Group entered into a joint
venture agreement with Maggie & Rose (CN) Limited and Highest Joy
Limited for the establishment of the joint venture to invest in the high
quality family lifestyle business including amongst other things, high
quality Flagship Clubs, Family Clubs, children development and education
institutions, nurseries, books, food and beverage and events using the
System or websites or internet or other medium under the “Maggie &
Rose” brand in the Mainland China, Macau and Taiwan. Upon signing
of the joint venture agreement, MRGC may operate business mentioned
above in the Mainland China, Macau and Taiwan.

The first Maggie & Rose parent-child family club in Mainland China with
the largest scale in the world, covering an area of approximately 6,000
square meters, was grand-opened in Highlong Square in Xiaoshan,
Hangzhou City on 18 November 2018. This outlet provides unique
parent-child experience and fun in Xiaoshan district of Hangzhou and at
the same time brings more visitors to the Group’s Highlong Square and
shopping malls nearby, establishing a children-theme environment as the
goal of our group.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS
Revenue

Consolidated revenue of the Group was approximately
RMB1,924,619,000 for the year under review, representing an increase
of 5560% as compared to the revenue of approximately RMB295,986,000
for the year of 2017. This was due to the deliveries of sale contracts
previously recognized during the year under review. The main projects
delivered were the International Office Center (IOC), Yuyao Zhong An
Times Square, Chaoyang No.8 and Xixi Manhattan.

The revenue from property leasing recorded an increase of 152% to
approximately RMB160,369,000 (2017: approximately RMB63,610,000)
during the year under review. The revenue from hotel operation
was approximately RMB111,328,000 during the year under review,
representing an increase of approximately 67% as compared to previous
year of approximately RMB66,815,000.
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Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Gross profit of the Group for the year under review amounted
to approximately RMB340,491,000, representing an increase of
approximately 152% when compared to approximately RMB135,369,000
for the year of 2017. This was mainly due to the increase in sales of
properties, which were delivered for the year and recognized as revenue.

Gross profit margin for the year under review amounted to approximately
18% (2017: 46%). Such decrease in gross profit margin was mainly due
to the property sales recognized during the year under review, which
largely consisted of the completed properties located in the non-core
urban areas of Hangzhou and in Yuyao City in Zhejiang. The reason was
to make quick fund recover for new project development. In addition, as
the Group converted part of the investment properties into completed
properties held for sales during the year under review, the cost of
converting into completed properties held for sales shall refer to the latest
fair value in accordance with the International Accounting Standards
which resulted in a decrease in margin in the subsequent sale of the
inventories.

Other Income and Gains

During the year under review, other income and gains amounted to
approximately RMB53,706,000 (2017: RMB77,844,000), lower as
compared with last year. This was mainly due to the one-time gain
recorded from the disposal of investment properties of approximately
RBM63,221,000 last year.

Other Expenses and Losses

During the year under review, other expenses and losses amounted
to approximately RMB74,900,000 (2017: RMB6,939,000), higher as
compared with last year. This was mainly due to the one-time loss
recorded from the disposal of investment properties of approximately
RBM29,554,000 for the year under review.

Selling and Distribution Costs

For the year under review, selling and distribution expenses amounted to
approximately RMB138,519,000 (2017: RMB152,252,000), representing
a decrease of 9% as compared to that from last year. Such decrease
was principally due to a decrease in sales commission, advertising and
promotional expenses of the investment property sold during the year
under review.
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Administrative Expenses

For the year under review, administrative expenses amounted to
approximately RMB198,455,000 (2017: RMB114,451,000), representing
an increase of approximately 73% from last year. Such increase was
principally due to the increase in employee remuneration for Yuyao
Intime City and two new hotels by RMB28.98 million, the rent for trial
operation of a new ophthalmology hospital amounting to approximately
RMB18 million and the depreciation expense of two hotels amounting to
approximately RMB20 million for the year under review.

Finance Costs

For the year under review, finance costs was approximately
RMB110,330,000 (2017: RMB13,161,000), which arising from the interest
on bank loans and other borrowings for completed properties which could
no longer be capitalized.
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Earnings

For the year under review, the loss attributable to equity holders of the
Company amounted to approximately RMB243,524,000 (2017: profit
RMB488,505,000), representing a decrease of approximately 150%
compared to last year. The decrease in profit attributable to equity holders
of the Company for the year under review was primarily attributable to
the price of the self-owned investment properties being in a stable period
for the year under review, and no material gain in fair value of investment
properties being recorded in the valuation as that in 2017.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES AND
ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

Details of material acquisitions during the year under review are disclosed
under sections headed “Acquisition of Further Equity Interest in Zhejiang
Xinnongdu”, “Acquisition of Equity Interest in Xuzhou Wanxiang” and
“Cooperation with Maggie & Rose”.

Save as disclosed above, during the year under review, there was no
other material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries or associated
companies of the Company.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

Cash Position and Fund Available

As at 31 December 2018, the total cash and bank balances of the
Group were approximately RMB625,322,000 (2017: RMB612,463,000),
comprising cash and cash equivalents of approximately RMB548,907,000
(2017: RMB323,312,000) and restricted cash of approximately
RMB76,415,000 (2017: RMB289,151,000).

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s total available financial resources
amounted to approximately RMB10.99 billion being the undrawn
borrowing facilities of approximately RMB8.02 billion and the borrowings
of approximately RMB2.97 billion.
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Borrowings B

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s bank and other borrowings 20185128318  REBRITER K E M5

amounted to approximately RMB2,968,085,000 (2017: A A AKR¥2968,085,0005T (201745 : AR

RMB3,107,739,000), comprising bank loans of approximately  #3,107,739,0007T) ' BERITERN A ARE

RMB2,158,085,000 (2017: RMB2,297,739,000) and other loans of  2,158,085,0007T (20174 : A F #2,297,739,000

approximately RMB810,000,000 (2017: RMB810,000,000). 70) R EME L A AR ES10,000,0007T (2017
F: AR%810,000,0007T) °

The maturity profile of borrowings were as follows: EREREBIBRET AT
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
720184 #20174F
12A831H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARETIT
Within 1 year or on demand —FANIZERK 922,460 1,180,739
Over 1 year but within 2 years ZH—FEBILRWE 320,500 1,270,000
Over 2 years but within 5 years EINE ISR A S 1,565,000 487,000
Over 5 years HELE 160,125 170,000
2,968,085 3,107,739

For bank and other borrowings, except for certain short term bank and other ~ BLERTTE R EMER - FrE THREEMETE2
borrowings amounting to RMB1,010,000,000 (2017: RMB1,201,000,000) & #RER1T & 7 & E A fE 5 A R #61,010,000,0007T
that bear interest at fixed rates, all bank loans bear interest at floating rates. (20174 : A R #1,201,000,0007T ) 4 » A B R 17
The Group’s bank and other borrowings bear effective interest at rates B FIZF B)FI KT B - REEMK20185F12H31H
ranging from 0.9% to 8.2% per annum as at 31 December 2018 (2017:  EVERITEF R EM{EFIZN F0.9%%E8.2% (2017
0.9% to 8.2%). The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between % : 0.9%Z£8.2% ) K EFR F F X5+ 8 - NEEH B
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank and other EEERRITER R HMMETORERFE S EEM
borrowings. BRI 2 A T o
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Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s bank and other borrowings of
approximately RMB2,968,085,000 (2017: RMB3,057,739,000) were
secured by the Group’s pledge of assets as follows:

EEEHA

R2018F12A31H  AEBEEFEIT R HEME K
#4975 N R #2,068,085,0007T (20174 : AR
3,057,739,0007T) HASEE LA T EERIEKT

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2018 2017

20184 20174

12A31H 12H31H

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARET T

Investment properties A 1,238,247 1,732,798
Properties under development FAEE R 753,053 786,511
Completed properties held for sale BIEHEER T E 1,524,606 1,086,533
Property and equipment I EY &L 498,179 90,704
Restricted cash ERHRE 5,033 182,246
4,019,118 3,878,792

Net Current Assets and Current Ratio

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s net current liabilities amounted
to approximately RMB257,828,000 (2017: net current assets of
approximately RMB215,003,000). As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s
current ratio, calculated as current assets divided by current liabilities, was
approximately 0.94 (2017: 1.05).

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s gearing ratio (as measured by net
debt to total equity) was 40% (2017: 42%). Net debt is calculated as total
borrowings less cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash.

Cost of Borrowings

For the year under review, the total cost of borrowings of the Group was
approximately RMB198,985,000 (2017: RMB218,090,000), representing
a decrease of approximately 9% when compared with the year of
2017. In addition, for the year under review, interests with an amount
of approximately RMB88,655,000 (2017: RMB204,929,000) were
capitalized. The decrease was mainly attributable to the increase in funds
recovered from projects, which represented lessen time period of project
fund occupied of the Group.
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TREASURY POLICIES

The Group principally operates in PRC and the revenue, operating cost
and borrowings were mainly denominated in RMB. As a result, the Group
has minimal exposure to exchange rate fluctuation. The interest rates for
the Group’s borrowings were floating and fixed. Upward fluctuations in
interest rates will increase the cost of borrowings.

The Group adopts conservative treasury policies in cash and financial
management. Cash is generally placed in short-term deposits mostly
denominated in RMB. The Group does not use any financial instruments
for hedging purpose for the year under review.

GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s contingent liabilities was
approximately RMB332,636,000 (2017: RMB232,541,000), which were
mainly the guarantees provided by the Group in favour of certain banks for
the grant of mortgage loans to purchasers of the Group’s properties.
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COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s commitments for property
development expenditures amounted to approximately RMB480,259,000
(2017: RMB520,421,000). It is expected that the Group will finance such
commitments from its own funds and bank loans.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND
REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2018, the Group employed 1,399 staffs (2017:
1,272). For the year under review, the staff costs of the Group was
approximately RMB123,116,000 (2017: RMB87,824,000),
increase of 40%, mainly due to the increased average headcounts and

representing

average salary during the year under review as the result of Yuyao Intime
City and two new hotels developed by the Company.

The employees’ remuneration policy was determined by reference to
factors such as remuneration information in respect of the local market,
the overall remuneration standard in the industry, inflation level, corporate
operating efficiency and performance of the employees. The Group
conducts performance appraisal once every year for its employees,
the results of which are applied in annual salary review and promotion
assessment. The Group’s employees are considered for the entitlement of
annual bonus according to certain performance conditions and appraisal
results. The Group also provides continuous learning and training
programmes to its employees to enhance their skills and knowledge, so
as to maintain and enhance their competitiveness.

.‘

i
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STRATEGIES

The management has developed sound strategies to overcome the
above mentioned challenges and address the uncertainties faced by
the Group, including formulating effective marketing strategy plan and
improving our products and services quality to consolidate our brand.
The Group will put more effort in formulating new policies, guidelines,
systems and processes to facilitate effectively cost management, risk
management, internal control and sustainable environmental management
to enhance company management standards and corporate governance
standards. For growth strategy, the Group will focus on identifying
possible acquisitions with future development prospects and profitability
to improve the returns on assets. The Group will further emphasize
on investor relations management, and continue to convey clearly the
operation vision, business updates and future development strategies
of the Group and other information to various stakeholders through
press conferences, roadshows, media delegation visits and one-on-one
analyst or investor interview and otherwise to strive for the recognition
and support from various stakeholders and obtain more resources for
business development and maximize shareholders’ value.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Employees, customers and suppliers are the key stakeholders who
affected the sustainability of our business. Engaging with those
stakeholders will not only help us understand the possible risks and
opportunities to our business, but also help us to mitigate risk and seize
the opportunities in the real market situation.

The Group believes that our people are critical factors to the Group'’s
success and competitiveness in the market. As such, we had adopted
a share option scheme on 20 May 2015 for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contributed to the
success of the Group’s operations.

Customer satisfaction with our services and products has profound
effects on our profitability. Our dedicated sales team constantly
communicates with our customers and potential customers to uncover
and create customer needs and help customers make informed
decisions. To grasp the market trend is critical for the Group to timely
adjust our operating strategies to fit the market requirement.
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Collaborative and mutual beneficial business relationship with our
strategic suppliers and contractors is of importance to achieve higher
levels of efficiency and competitive advantage. The Group evaluates the
capabilities of our suppliers and contractors to determine if they are able
to meet the requirements and needs of the Group from time to time.

Developing and maintaining good relationship with various commercial
banks and financial institutions is always our main task because our
capital-intensive projects require on-going funding to maintain continuous
growth.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Company’s policies and practices highlight the importance of
compliance with all relevant local laws, rules, regulations and standard.
This in return, facilitates the continuous granting of specific licenses and
permissions.

The Group will seek professional legal advice from legal advisers, where
necessary, to ensure transactions and business to be performed by the
Group are in compliance with the applicable laws and regulations.

No material accidents related to serious injuries, death or property
damage and no environmental claims, lawsuits, penalties or administrative
sanctions were reported to our management during the year under
review and as at the date of this annual report. The management is of the
view that the Group were in compliance with all relevant PRC laws and
regulations in each material respects.

ENVIRONMENT POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to protecting
the environment in the areas where we operate and ensuring that
environmental standards set by the government are consistently met.

We have closely monitored our projects at different stages to ensure that
construction process is in compliance with laws and regulations related
to environment protection and safety. The Group endeavors to manage
its project operations by working with suppliers and contractors to ensure
that they understand the importance of environmental protection, pollution
prevention and waste reduction. We also encourage all our employees to
be more environmentally conscious.
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DIVIDEND POLICY AND DIVIDEND

The Directors may recommend a payment of dividend after taking into
account the operations, earnings, financial condition, cash requirements
and availability, capital expenditure and future development requirements
of the Group and other factors as they may deem relevant at such time.
Any declaration and payment as well as the amount of the dividend wil
be subject to, among other things, the constitutional documents and the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, and may include the approval of
the Shareholders. Any future declarations of dividends may or may not
reflect the historical declarations of dividends of the Group and will be at the
absolute discretion of the Directors. Dividend payments will also depend
upon the availability of dividends received from the subsidiaries of the Group
in the PRC. PRC laws require that dividends be paid only out of the net profit
calculated according to PRC accounting principles, which differ in many
aspects from generally accepted accounting principles in other jurisdictions,
including IFRS. PRC laws also require foreign-invested enterprises to set
aside part of their net profit as statutory reserves, which are not available
for distribution as cash dividends. Distributions from the subsidiaries of the
Group may also be restricted if it incurs debt or losses or pursuant to any
restrictive covenants in bank credit facilities, convertible bond instruments or
other agreements that the Group may enter into in the future.

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (2018: Nil).

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (“AGM”)

The AGM of the Company will be held on Thursday, 6 June 2019.
Notice of AGM will be published on the websites of the Company (www.
chinanewcity.com.cn) and the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk),
and will be despatched to the shareholders of the Company within the
prescribed time and in such manner as required under the Listing Rules.

REVIEW BY AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has set up an audit committee (“Audit Committee”) and
adopted the terms of reference which complied with the code provisions
of the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules (“CG Code”). The Audit Committee was set up for the
purposes of reviewing and supervising the financial reporting process
and internal control procedures of the Group and regulating the financial
reporting procedures, internal controls and risk management system
of the Group. It is responsible for making recommendations to the
Board for the appointment, reappointment or removal of the external
auditor; reviewing and monitoring the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity, as well as reviewing and monitoring the effectiveness of
the audit process to make sure that the same is in full compliance with
applicable standards.
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The Chairperson of the Audit Committee is Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry. The
other members are Mr. Xu Chengfa and Mr. Yim Chun Leung. The Audit
Committee is comprised of all of the three independent non-executive
Directors.

The results for the year ended 31 December 2018 have been audited
in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing, issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”), by Ernst
&Young whose unmodified auditor’s report is included in the annual report
to be sent to shareholders.

The Audit Committee had reviewed the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year under review, and reviewed with
the management of the Group regarding the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group, and discussed with them the internal
controls and financial reporting matters.

The figures in respect of the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial position, consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and the related notes thereto for the year under
review in 2018 as set out in this annual report were derived from the
Group’s audited consolidated financial statements for the year under
review with an unqualified audit opinion.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding the Directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules.

The Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors and all Directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the required standards set
out in the Model Code for the year under review and up to the date of this
report.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and,
to the knowledge of the directors, they confirm that the Company has
maintained at least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital held
by the public for the year under review and as at the date of this annual
report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Board has adopted the code provisions of the CG Code. The Board
has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance practices and is
satisfied that the Company has complied with the code provisions set out
in the CG Code for the year under review and up to the date of this report.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determination of the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, the
transfer books and register of members will be closed from Monday, 3
June 2019 to Thursday, 6 June 2019 (both days inclusive) during which
period no transfer of shares of the Company will be effected. In order to
qualify for attending and voting at the AGM, all transfers accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong
Kong branch registrar and transfer office, Tricor Investor Services Limited
at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 31 May 2019.

The Board is committed to maintaining good corporate governance
in safeguarding the interests of the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) and enhancing Shareholders’ value. The Board reviews
its corporate governance practices periodically in order to meet the rising
expectations of stakeholders, and to comply with increasingly stringent
regulatory requirements as well as fuffill its commitment to excellence
corporate governance.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company has complied
with the code provisions in the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
STRUCTURE

The Board will review the corporate governance structure of the Group
from time to time and will adopt appropriate measures as may be
desirable for future development of the operating activities or business of
the Group.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises three executive directors, namely Mr. Dong
Shuixiao, Ms. Jin Ni and Ms. Tang Yiyan, one non-executive director,
namely Mr. Shi Kancheng and three independent non-executive directors,
namely, Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry, Mr. Xu Chengfa and Mr. Yim Chun Leung.

The details of the Directors and (where applicable) their family
relationships are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management” on pages 69 to 73 in this annual
report. There are no relationships (including financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationships) among members of the Board. A list
of the Directors identifying their roles and functions are available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Company has received from each of its independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board considers that all the independent
non-executive Directors are independent in accordance with the
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

During the year under review, the Board meets regularly to discuss the
overall strategy, the operational and financial performance of the Group.
The Directors can attend meetings in person or through other electronic
means of communication in accordance with the articles of association of
the Company (the “Articles”).
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During the year under review, a total of 5 Board meetings and one general R EIBEFEXN  BITARAXREFESEE LK
meeting were held. The individual attendance of the Directors is tabulated R A& - FEEHNER|HERWLOT :
as follows:
Number of Number of
attendance/ attendance/
Number Number
of Board of general
meetings meetings
HEEEY
SERE HE
BEEE® RERAGRH
SRR  BREAEARH
Non-executive Director FHITES
Mr. Shi Kancheng FEATLRK %2 4 5/5 1/1
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Dong Shuixiao BERREE 5/5 1/1
Ms. Jin Ni et 5/5 1M1
Ms. Tang Yiyan Eleiat 5/5 1/1
Independent non-executive Directors BYKBITES
Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry RETTEE 5/5 1/1
Mr. Xu Chengfa AKX 5/5 1/1
Mr. Yim Chun Leung BRI A& 5/5 11

Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer

The roles of the chairperson and chief executive officer are separate and
are not performed by the same individual as this ensures better checks
and balances and hence better corporate governance. During the year
under review and as at the date of this report, the role of the chairperson
was performed by Mr. Shi Kancheng, while Mr. Dong Shuixiao was chief
executive officer of the Group.

The chairperson had held a meeting with all independent non-executive
Directors in the absence of executive Directors. No specific or other
issues had been raised or discussed as it had been concluded that all
issues which would be discussed had been properly dealt with in the
meetings of the Board.
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Non-Executive Director and Independent
Non-Executive Directors

The non-executive Director, Mr. Shi Kancheng, has been appointed for
a term of 3 years commencing on 31 May 2014, which is automatically
renewable for a successive term of one year from the next day upon the
expiry of the appointment.

The independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry, Mr. Xu
Chengfa and Mr. Yim Chun Leung, have been appointed for a term of 3
years commencing on 31 May 2014, which is automatically renewable for
a successive term of one year from the next day upon the expiry of the
appointment.

All non-executive Director and independent non-executive directors
possess extensive academic, professional and/or industry expertise and
management experience and have provided their professional advice to
the Board.

Power of and Delegation by the Board

The Board operates and exercises its power in accordance with
the Articles. The Board focuses on overall corporate strategies and
policies with emphasis on the business growth, financial performance
and corporate governance standard of the Group. It also decides on
matters such as annual and interim results, major transactions, director
appointments or re-appointments, investment policy, dividend and
accounting policies and responsible for developing, reviewing and
monitoring the policies and practices on corporate governance and legal
and regulatory compliance of the Group. In addition, the Board has also
specifically resolved that all transactions/contracts/other matters of the
Group that are subject to the disclosure requirement in accordance with

the Listing Rules should be approved by the Board in advance.

The Board has delegated to the senior management to deal with day-
to-day operations and reviewed those arrangements on a periodic basis.
The senior management frequently reports back to the Board and obtains
prior approval from the Board before making decisions for key matters or
entering into any commitments on behalf of the Company.
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Appointment, Re-election and Removal of
Directors

The Articles provide that any Director appointed by the Board to fill a
casual vacancy in the Board or as an additional member of the Board
shall hold office only until the next following general meeting of the
members of Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at such
meeting.

In accordance with the Articles, at each AGM, one third of the Directors
for the time being, shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election. The Company may, at any general
meetings convened and held in accordance with the Articles, remove
a Director by ordinary resolution at any time before the expiration of his
period of office notwithstanding anything contrary in the Articles or in any
agreement between the Company and such Director and may by ordinary
resolution elect another person in his/her stead.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees and has delegated various
responsibilities to the committees, including the remuneration committee
(the “Remuneration Committee”), the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”), the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”)
and the corporate governance committee (the “Corporate Governance
Committee”) of the Company. All the Board committees perform their
distinct roles in accordance with their respective terms of reference which
are available for inspection by the Shareholders on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange. The Board Committees are provided
with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable
request, are able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises a total of three members,
being one executive Director, Ms. Tang Yiyan, and two independent
non-executive Directors, Mr. Xu Chengfa (chairperson of the
Remuneration Committee) and Mr. Yim Chun Leung.

The Company has adopted written terms of reference for
the Remuneration Committee. The role and function of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company include the following:

(@) to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

(o)  to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment,
and make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive Directors;

(c) to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives;

(d) to review and approve the compensation payable to
executive Directors and senior management in connection
with any loss or termination of their office or appointment to
ensure that such compensation is determined in accordance
with relevant contractual terms and that such compensation
is otherwise fair and not excessive;
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(e) to review and approve compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that such arrangements are determined in accordance with
relevant contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and
appropriate;

() to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates is
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration; and

(@ to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group.

One meeting of the Remuneration Committee was held during the
year under review. The Remuneration Committee had reviewed the
policies of remuneration packages of the Board of Directors. The
individual attendance of the members was tabulated as follows:

€ RFEIEREFTRREMBEESR
EBRERESMYRNBERS U
BRZERHRBAA OERETE
ERERBBAANGTREE BHER
BIRARBEE

N

H EREMESIEEABEATESS
HEERTRE B S HFHH: &

@ ZERBRFATHOFE AR HA
By ) S B B DA e SR B R L A BB
& PR ARIT -

REBFEAFHEREGRTT —RE&E-
FNZEecEM TESSNFHMRENK
o BB MR H R RBRIT :

Number attendance/
Number of meetings

HEREERRE
Mr. Xu Chengfa KIS 1/1
Mr. Yim Chun Leung BiRZE S E 1/1
Ms. Tang Yiyan BElafit 11

(ii) Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises a total of three members,
being one executive Director, Ms. Jin Ni, and two independent non-
executive Directors, Mr. Xu Chengfa (chairperson of the Nomination
Committee) and Mr. Yim Chun Leung.
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The Company has adopted written terms of reference for the

Nomination Committee. The role and function of the Nomination

Committee are as follows:

(@)

to review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of perspectives)
of the Board at least annually and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members
of the Board and select or make recommendations to
the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorship;

to review the board diversity policy of the Company (the
“Board Diversity Policy”) and the progress on achieving the
objectives set for implementing the Board Diversity Palicy,
and to make disclosure of its review results in the corporate
governance report of the Company’s annual report;

to assess the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors;

to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to, among others, the appointment or re-appointment
of Directors and succession planning for Directors (in
particular, the chairperson and the chief executive officer of
the Company);

to give full consideration to, among others, the skills and
expertise required from members of the Board and the
relevant requirements of the Listing Rules with regard to
Directors and such like in the discharge of the Nomination
Committee’s duties;
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in respect of any proposed service contracts to be entered
into by any members of the Group with its director or
proposed director, which require the prior approval of the
Shareholders at general meeting under Rule 13.68 of the
Listing Rules, to review and provide recommmendations to
the Shareholders (other than shareholders who are directors
with a material interest in the relevant service contracts and
their respective associates) as to whether the terms of the
service contracts are fair and reasonable and whether such
service contracts are in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole, and to advise Shareholders on how
to vote;

to ensure that on appointment to the Board, non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
receive a formal letter of appointment setting out what is
expected of them in terms of time commitment, committee
service and involvement outside meetings of the Board;

to conduct exit interviews with any Director upon their
resignation in order to ascertain the reasons for his/her
departure; and

to consider other matters, as defined or assigned by the
Board from time to time.

The Board has set the following measurable objectives

implementing the Board Diversity Policy:

when identifying suitably qualified candidates to become
Board members, it should be based on a series of diverse
aspects, including Board members with different background,
skills, regional and industry experience, race, gender and
other qualities, that are in balanced and complementary
with each other, creating synergy, and enabling the Board to
function effectively as a whole.
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The nomination procedures are as follow:

° candidates for directorship are selected by the Nomination
Committee subject to the review and approval of the Board in
accordance with the Articles.

° when reviewing the composition of the Board and
considering the nomination of new Directors, the Nomination
Committee will take into account the skills, regional and
industry experience, background, race, gender and other
qualities of potential candidates and also business needs of
the Company.

As at the date of this report, the Board’s composition under major
criteria for diversity was summarized as follows:

Independent
Non-executive
Directors

BYEPITES

Designation Age Group Gender
£ FiAa R 5]

Based on the review by the Nomination Committee, the Nomination
Committee considers that the Company has achieved the
measurable objectives set for implementing the Board Diversity
Policy for the year under review.

One meeting of the Nomination Committee were held during the
year under review. The Nomination Committee had reviewed the
structure and the diversification policy of the Board of Directors and
had revised and restated the Board Diversity Policy.
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The individual attendance of the members of the Nomination
Committee was tabulated as follows:

EREZBENEBMERHFERINT

Number of attendance/
Number of meetings

HERE EBRE
Mr. Xu Chengfa ARRERE 11
Mr. Yim Chun Leung B iRSe S 1/1
Ms. Jin Ni et 11
(iii) Audit Committee (i) BXEES
The Audit Committee comprises a total of three members, being EZEECTHAR=RAKE (A=W Ik

three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Ng Sze Yuen Terry
(chairperson of the Audit Committee), Mr. Xu Chengfa and Mr. Yim
Chun Leung. Mr. Ng Sze Yuen possess the appropriate professional
qualification, and accounting and financial management expertise.

The role and functions of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@  to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal
of the external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and
other terms of engagement of the external auditor, and any
questions of its resignation or dismissal;

(b)  to review and monitor the external auditor's independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process
in accordance with applicable standards. The Committee
should discuss with the auditor the nature and scope of the
audit and reporting obligations before the audit commences;

(c) to discuss with the auditors the nature and scope of the
audit and reporting obligations and ensure co-ordination
where more than one audit firm is engaged before the audit
commences;
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to develop and implement policy on engaging an external
auditor to supply non-audit services. For this purpose,
“external auditor” includes any entity that is under common
control, ownership or management with the audit firm
or any entity that a reasonable and informed third party
knowing all relevant information would reasonably conclude
to be part of the audit firm nationally or internationally. The
Committee should report to the Board, identifying and
making recommendations on any matters where action or
improvement is needed;

Review of the Company’s financial information

)

to monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial statements
and annual report and accounts, interim report and, if
prepared for publication, quarterly reports, and to review
significant financial reporting judgments contained in them;

in reviewing these reports (the Company’s annual report
and accounts, interim report and, if prepared for publication,
quarterly report) before submission to the Board, the
Committee should focus particularly on:

(i) any changes in accounting policies and practices;

(ii) major judgmental areas;

(i) significant adjustments resulting from the audit;

(iv)  the going concern assumption and any qualifications;

(v)  compliance with accounting standards;

(v compliance with the Listing Rules and legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting;

(vi)  the fairness and reasonableness of any connected
transaction and the impact of such transaction
on the profitability of the Group and whether such
connected transactions, if any, have been carried out in
accordance with the terms of the agreement governing
such transactions;
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1 E RS
(viil
(ix)
)

whether all relevant items have been adequately
disclosed in the Group’s financial statements and
whether the disclosures give a fair view of the Group’s
financial conditions;

any significant or unusual items that are, or may need
to be, reflected in such reports and accounts; and

the cash flow position of the Group;

and to provide advice and comments thereon to the Board;

(@ inregard to (e) and (f) above:

U

(i)

members of the Committee should liaise with the
Board and senior management of the Group and the
Committee must meet, at least twice a year, with the
Company’s auditors; and

the Committee should consider any significant or
unusual items that are, or may need to be, reflected
in the reports and accounts, it should give due
consideration to any matters that have been raised by
the Company’s staff responsible for the accounting
and financial reporting function, compliance officer or
auditors;

(h)  to discuss problems and reservations arising from the interim

and final audits, and any matters the auditors may wish to

discuss (in the absence of management where necessary);
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Overseeing the Company’s financial reporting system, risk

management and internal control systems

U

to review the Company’s financial controls and, unless
expressly addressed by a separate Board risk committee,
or by the Board itself, to review the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems;

to discuss the risk management and internal control systems
with management to ensure that management has performed
its duty to have effective systems. This discussion should
include the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function;

to consider major investigation findings on risk management
and internal control matters as delegated by the Board or
on its own initiative and management’s response to these
findings;

where an internal audit function exists, to ensure co-
ordination between the internal and external auditors, and to
ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced
and has appropriate standing within the Company, and to
review and monitor its effectiveness;

to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

to review the external auditor's management letter, any
material queries raised by the auditor to management about
accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control
and management’s response;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditor’'s management letter;
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to conduct exit interviews with any Director, manager,
financial controller or internal credit control manager upon
their resignation in order to ascertain the reasons for his
departure;

to prepare work reports for presentation to the Board and to
prepare summary of work reports for inclusion in the Group’s
interim and annual reports;

to consider the appointment of any person to be a
Committee member, auditors and accounting staff either to
fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Committee member,
auditors and accounting staff or dismissal of any of them;

to report to the Board on the matters set out above;

to review arrangements employees of the Company can use,
in confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control or other matters. The
Committee should ensure that proper arrangements are in
place for fair and independent investigation of these matters
and for appropriate follow-up action;

to act as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company’s relations with the external auditor; and

to consider other matters, as defined or assigned by the
Board from time to time.

A total of two meetings of the Audit Committee were held during

the year under review. The work performed by the Audit Committee

during the year under review included the following:

reviewed the annual report and results announcement of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2017;

reviewed the interim report and interim results
announcements of the Company for the six months ended
30 June 2018;

reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and other financial reporting matters;
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(iv)

reviewed the results of external audit and had discussion with
external auditors on any significant findings and audit issues;

reviewed the internal control reports and had discussion
with internal control consultant on any significant findings
and internal control issues for the first half of the year under
review;

reviewed the internal control reports and had discussion
with internal auditors on any significant findings and internal
control issues for the second half of the year under review;

discussed with the external auditors before the audit
commenced, the nature and scope of the audit and the
respective relevant issues; and

considered and approved the service contract of the auditors
for the year under review.

The individual attendance of the members of the Audit Committee
was tabulated as follows:
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Number of attendance/
Number of meetings

Leung.

The role and functions of the Corporate Governance Committee
include the following:

to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

HERE, S8R
Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry RETEE 2/2
Mr. Xu Chengfa AKX 2/2
Mr. Yim Chun Leung BIRZE L 2/2
Corporate Governance Committee (ivi EXERZES
The Corporate Governance Committee comprises a total of three TEBREZEEHEHR=FKE (BI—EH
members, being one executive Director, Ms. Jin Ni (chairperson TEFSRLZET (DEBRTESER )N
of the Corporate Governance Committee), and two independent MEBIFERTEFR I RE KBRS
non-executive Directors, Mr. Ng Sze Yuen Terry and Mr. Yim Chun o) HAK

GEERZEENAERBELNT
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(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous ) RIUMEREEREREEABNLE
professional development of Directors and senior IRFEEEEE:
management;

(¢)  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices € BUMERARATEETERAREE
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; REHERBEE LR

(d)  to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and (d

TEARE & ﬁﬁ%&%%iﬁﬁé’\]
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and BTERERFM (0E)
Directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the code e WIAARAREFEEERTAASTA
provisions of the CG Code and the disclosures in the BXHERARE (BEERBE) A
Corporate Governance Report. k4

One meeting of the Corporate Governance Committee were REREFE Wﬁ%% AEBEHBITT —

held during the year under review. The Corporate Governance RBH - CEERLZEGE T mAENE

Committee had discussed and reviewed the Board’s and the EERAEER @@iFWL?ﬁ:\%Eiﬁ

Group’s compliance with the code provisions of the CG Code SRR SR X RIRIT ETRBISIER

and the prevailing Listing Rules during the year under review. The TEERZEENECEHNAZEMNAE

Corporate Governance Committee had also reviewed the internal W WHER EFEEFEARATMERER

control reports and had discussion with internal control consultant RASEGIEEETAR  ARIBET RET

on any significant findings and internal control issues for the first EENEHREETELRR S TAHEHAE
half of the year under review and had revised and restated Code HEIE

for Securities Transactions by Directors and Employees and Inside
Information Policy;

The individual attendance of the members of the Governance TEERZESEKEMNERLFEERMT

Committee was tabulated as follows:

Number of attendance/
Number of meeting

KRB EERE
Ms. Jin Ni ezt 1M1
Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry RETTEE 1/1
Mr. Yim Chun Leung BRiRSe S 1/1
Further details of the terms of reference of Board committees are ExgZEgnNBEEENE —SFER
available on websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. AN A) M B X B AR &R
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL SYSTEM

The Group recognizes that good risk management is essential for the
long-term and sustainable growth of a business. The Board puts particular
emphasis on determining the risk-tolerance levels in achieving the Group’s
strategic objectives and is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss. The management also
learns from other outstanding companies and takes into consideration
of the Company’s unique business and operating environment in
formulating the risk management and control framework. All employees
are committed to continually enhancing the risk management framework,
linking to our corporate strategies as well as integrating it into day-to-day
operation.

Objective of the Risk Management and Internal
Control

The objectives of the risk management and internal control framework of
the Group include:

° to strengthen the Company’s risk management and internal control
in compliance with the Listing Rules requirement;

o to establish and constantly improve the risk management and
internal control system;

. to implement a top-down and companywide risk management
system that covers every aspect of the business; and

o to keep baseline risks within the acceptable range.
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Main Features of Risk Management System -
Three-tier Risk Management Approach

The Group has adopted a three-tier risk management approach to
identify, assess, mitigate and handle significant risks. At the first line of
protection, business units are responsible for identifying, assessing and
monitoring risks associated with each business or deal. The management,
as the second line of defense, defines rule sets and models, provide
technical support, develops new systems and oversees portfolio
management. It ensures risks are within the acceptable range and that the
first line of protection is effective. As the final line of protection, the internal
audit department ensures that the first and second lines of protection are
effective through constant inspection and monitoring.

BREEERGIERM -—=QERE
BRE

AEERMN=BEAREIEF = #R 5T B
BREHERAR EF—BHK EBEMLE
Bl HERERESREBIRHFEM A
BoERAFE_BYK EEERATRANES IR
B RS  BIEM AR REEEAERE -
HEREREANXIBEARSE —EHRER -
ERRE—ENR AMEXIMPIEBFERD
MEEERE-NE_BHRAR -

Audit Committee
FEEERY

Management

| |

f
-
’ assess@ define rules and models
monitor risks EZH AIFER
sociating with . y
— provide technical
ch business and support
B (3
251 . AR R TS
| BEBANRZHEE develop new system
)N and oversee portfolio
management
RN RSEE
RELEERE

5 6 China New City Commercial Development Limited
2018 Annual Report

LT
Third Line of
- Pro n

B
Internal audit

AEPEX

Inspection

=N

Monitor
g

=



Main Features of Internal Control System

Our internal control systems are developed with reference to the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
principles which involved five elements as internal environment, risk
assessment, control activities, information and communication and
internal supervision. The aim of internal control is to reasonably guarantee
the compliance of its operation and management with regulations and
laws, assets security, and authenticity and integrity of financial report and
related information, improve the efficiency and effect of operating activities
and promote the realization of development strategy of the Group.
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Principal Risks and Key Controls

1. Market risks

The Group’s revenue is mainly derived from customers from PRC.
The Group is exposed to the risks associated with the PRC market
which include the risks of policy change, interest rate change,
demand-supply imbalance and the overall economic conditions.
The market risks may pose an adverse impact on the Group’s
business, financial condition or results of operations.
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The project team will carefully scrutinize each project for
related risks and returns. These include assessment of relevant
government policies, market demand and conditions and economic
data. The management is responsible for supervision, conducting
regular operation reviews and keeping the Board fully informed
through regular reports, and prompt decisions can therefore be
made if changes are required.

Business and operational risks

Distinctive risks factors in property related businesses such as
default of buyers, tenants and strategic business partners, and
inadequacies or failures of internal processes, people and systems
may have different levels of negative impact on the results of the
Group’s operation. Industrial accidents may happen although
precautionary measures is established, which may damage the
Company’s reputation or cause financial loss to the Group.

The internal audit team will review key activities of the Group and
ensures all material controls, including financial and operational, are
functioning effectively. Precautionary and contingency measures are
also set up to ensure the Group is protected against major potential
loss, damage or impact to our operations. Insurance coverage
against accidental losses and/or other hazards is used in protecting
our assets and reputation against any potential liabilities.

Financial risks

The investment and business operation are exposed to risks from
exchange rates, interest rates and liquidity. Amid global financial
uncertainties, the financial risks encountered by the Group had
increased accordingly.

The Group closely monitors the financial risks and when appropriate
will adopt measures to manage and hedge corresponding risks by
using of derivatives such as interest rate and currency swaps. The
Group’s cash and financing are centrally managed and controlled
at the corporate level to achieve a better borrowing terms and
coherent financial risk management. To meet our obligations as and
when needed, the Group maintains sufficient facilities with various
banks and financial institutions. The maturity of deposits and loans
is carefully planned and managed to reduce liquidity risk.
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4. Talent risks

Talent shortage and high employee turnover will have a negative
impact on the Group’s present and future performance. We believe
that human resources are of critical importance for the success of
the Company.

To attract, motivate and retain talented employees, the Group
evaluate our employee remuneration packages and monitor them
against market trends. We provide on-the-job training for new staff
and offer career advancement opportunities for suitable staff to
develop their full potential at various stages of their career. We also
encourage communication with all levels of staff to gather feedback
and suggestions for future improvement.

Review of Internal Control System

The internal audit department of the Company (“Internal Audit
Department”) in the year under review responsible for the internal control
functions. The Internal Audit Department is required to provide internal
control assessment reports to the Audit Committee and the Board on a
regular or ad hoc basis.

The Board recognized its responsibility to ensure the Group maintains a
sound and effective risk management and internal control system. The
Directors had conducted a review of the effectiveness of the system of
internal control of the Group during the Year. Such review had covered
all material controls including financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions. No major issue but areas for
improvement have been identified. The Board and the Audit Committee
considered that the key areas of the Group’s internal control systems are

reasonably implemented.
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HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF
INSIDE INFORMATION

The procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination
of inside information are as follows:

° the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the disclosure
requirement under the Listing Rules as well as the “Guidelines on
Disclosure of Inside Information” published by the Securities and
Future Commission in June 2012;

° the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy on fair
disclosure by pursuing broad, non-exclusive distribution of
information to the public through channels such as financial
reporting, public announcements and its website;

° the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorized use of confidential or
inside information;

° the Group has established and implemented procedures for
responding to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs, so that
only the executive Directors of the Company, company secretary
and investor relations officers are authorized to communicate with
parties outside the Group; and

° employees or Directors possessing inside information should
report the same to an executive Director, who will then report to
the Board. The Board will then discuss and handle the relevant
disclosures or dissemination of inside information accordingly.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is subject to
the Board’s approval in accordance with the articles of association of
the Company. Mr. Chiu Ngam (“Mr. Chiu”) had been appointed as the
Company Secretary since 2017. Mr. Chiu resigned as the Company
Secretary with effect from 22 February 2019. Mr. Ng Mo Chun (‘Mr.
Ng”) has been appointed as the Company Secretary with effect from 22
February 2019.

Mr. Chiu was a full time employee of the Group during the year under
review, appointed by the Board and responsible for the Board. He was
also the secretary of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee.
Mr. Chiu was responsible for advising the Board through the chairperson
and/or the chief executive officer on governance matters and assisting
the Board in discharging its obligations to Shareholders pursuant to the
Listing Rules. He was also responsible for ensuring that the activities of
the Board conducted efficiently and effectively, and procedures and all
applicable laws and regulations complied with, and facilitating induction
and professional developments of the Directors, the company secretary
has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge that they are responsible for the preparation
of accounts which give a true and fair view of the Group. The Company
has selected appropriate accounting policies and has applied them
consistently based on prudent and reasonable judgments and estimates.
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During the year under review, all Directors have been given on a quarterly
basis the latest information report about the financial position and
business development of the Group. The Directors endeavor to ensure
a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s position
and prospects in annual reports, interim reports, inside information
announcements and other disclosures required under the Listing Rules
and other statutory requirements.

The statement of the auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the accounts of the Group is set out in the section
headed “Independent Auditors’ Report” in this annual report.

OPERATION OF MEETING AND SUPPLY
OF AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION

Notice of at least 14 days should be given of a regular board meeting to
give all directors an opportunity to attend. For all other board meetings,
reasonable notice should be given.

Full Board or committee papers will be sent to all Directors at least three
days before the intended date of a Board meeting or a Board committee
meeting.

Management has supplied the Board and its committees with adequate
information and explanations so as to enable them to make an informed
assessment of the information put before the Board and its Board
committees for approval. Management is also invited to join the Board or
Board committee meetings where appropriate.

Draft and final version of minutes of the meetings should be sent to all
Board and Board committee members for their comment and records.
Minutes of the meetings are kept by our Company Secretary, and the
Board and Board committee members may inspect the documents and
minutes of the Board and the Board committees at any time.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The audit fee of the Group in respect of audit services provided by the
independent auditors, Ernst & Young, for the Year was RMB1,350,000
(2017: RMB950,000).

During the year under review, the independent auditors was also engaged
to review the interim results of the Company at a fee of RMB250,000
(2017: RMB250,000) and no other non-audit services took place (2017:
Nil).
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NON-COMPETE UNDERTAKINGS

In respect of the compliance with the provisions of the Non-compete
Undertakings by the Controlling Shareholders, please refer to the section
headed “Non-compete Undertakings” in the Directors Report of this
report.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’
INSURANCE

The Company had arranged liability insurance for Directors and senior
management officers of the Company with appropriate coverage in
respect of legal action against them arising from their duties performed.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Company updates Directors on the latest development regarding the
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements from time
and time, to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good
corporate governance practices.

According to the records provided by the Directors, a summary of training
received by Directors during the year under review is as follows:

Name of Directors
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Type of continuous
professional development

EEnE BESXZRER
Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Dong Shuixiao B EE B
Ms. Jin Ni Lt B
Ms. Tang Yiyan Eleiat B
Non-executive Director FHITES

Mr. Shi Kancheng MEATLAK 5 A B
Independent Non-executive Directors BIFHITES

Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry RETLEkE A/B
Mr. Xu Chengfa AR E A/B
Mr. Yim Chun Leung BRI A/B
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Notes:

A: attending briefing sessions and/or seminars relating to matters in financial, legal

and corporate governance

B: reading seminar materials and updates relating to the latest development of the

Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements

MECHANISM FOR THE PROPERTY
DEVELOPMENT ON MIXED-USE LANDS

In relation to the mechanism for the property development on Mixed-use
Lands (as defined in the Prospectus), each of Zhong An together with its
subsidiaries, (the “Zhong An Group”) and the Company has undertaken
to each other that it must, in respect of each of its financial year ending
after the Listing, instruct its auditors or independent financial advisers to
review such documents as the auditors or independent financial advisers
may require and confirm to its board of directors that the mechanism set
out the section headed “Relationship with our Controlling Shareholders
— Joint property development on mixed commercial-residential use land
projects” in the Prospectus had been complied with during such financial
year. During the year under review, the Directors confirm that there has
not been any occasion where an opportunity aroused for an acquisition
and development of land for property development project on mixed
commercial-residential use land projects in which the remaining Zhong An
Group (i.e. Zhong An Group, excluding the Group) (the “Remaining Zhong
An Group”) has invited the Group to participate in the Joint Development
(as defined in the Prospectus).

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding the Directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules.

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors have confirmed
that they have complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code and the Company’s code of conduct during the year under review.

Senior management who, because of their office in the Group, are likely
to be in possession of inside information, have also been requested
to comply with the provisions of the Model Code when dealing in the
Company’s shares.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening Extraordinary General Meeting and
Putting Forward Proposals at Shareholders’
Meetings

The following procedures are subject to the Articles, the Companies Law,
Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised from time to time) of
the Cayman Islands and the applicable legislation and regulation.

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to propose new resolutions
at the general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Law (2012
Revision). Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles, general meetings shall
be convened on the written requisition of any two or more Shareholders
made to Directors or the Secretary specifying the objects of the meeting,
provided that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition shall not hold less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company. If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit
of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within a
further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves may convene the general
meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
meetings may be convened by the Board and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall
be reimbursed to them by the Company.

Procedures for Proposing a Person for Election
as a Director

If a shareholder, who is entitled to attend and vote at the relevant
general meeting, wishes to nominate a person (not being the nominating
shareholder) to stand for election as a Director, he or she should give to
the company secretary of the Company notice in writing of the intention
to propose a person for election as a Director and notice in writing by
that person of his or her willingness to be so elected, no earlier than the 7
clear days after the dispatch of the notice of the relevant general meeting
and no later than 7 clear days prior to the date appointed for the relevant
general meeting.

Detailed procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as
a Director are available on the Company’s website.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS/WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS
COMMUNICATION

The Company attaches great importance to communication with
the Shareholders. A number of means are used to promote greater
understanding and dialogue with the Shareholders. The means of
access includes the release by the Company of the various corporate
communication of the Company via the website of the Stock Exchange
and the website of the Company (http://www.chinanewcity.com.cn).
Shareholders are encouraged by the Company to attend general
meetings of the Company where the chairperson of the Company and
other members of the Board and (if appropriate) the auditors of the
Company, are available to answer questions.

In addition, our chairperson, Directors and senior management actively
participated in various investor relations activities to reach and establish
a good long-term interactive relationship with shareholders and potential
investors. We introduced our current operating conditions and future
development strategies and at the same time also received advices
from investors regarding the Company’s development, from which we
understand more about investors’ expectations of the Company. Thereby,
we can continue improving the operation management of the Company
and establish effective mutual communication channels.

Enquiries and Proposals to the Board

Shareholders are encouraged to communicate with the Company for any
enquiries in relation to the affairs of the Group. Shareholders may contact
the Company in writing to the Company’s head office in the PRC or the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong or by e-mail to
cnc_ir@chinanewcity.com.cn or direct any enquiries to the Company’s
investor relations representative, Capital Markets Department, whose
contact details are set out in the annual report of which this report forms
part.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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Annual Results Conference

During the year under review, the Company convened the 2017 annual
results conference and gave full elaboration on its operating conditions for
the Year. The Directors and senior management attended the conference
and communicated actively with the investors, securities analysts and
media attending the conference to enable them to understand fully the
operating conditions and development strategies of the Company, and
actively strived for the understanding and recognition from the market
regarding the Company’s profit growth and sustainability.

Annual General Meeting

The 2017 annual general meeting was held on 5 June 2018 at
Conference Room No. 5, 4th Floor, Holiday Inn Hangzhou Xiaoshan, No.
688 Shanyin Road, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, the
PRC. The Directors and senior management together with the external
independent auditors attended the annual general meeting to answer
enquiries from shareholders and investors attending the meeting. All
ordinary resolutions proposed in the meeting were duly passed by way of
poll.

Regular Meetings with Investors

During the year under review, the Directors, senior management and
investor relations team have meetings with investors, fund managers and
financial analysts from time to time, introducing the operating conditions
and development strategies of the Company and answered the questions
raised. The Company provides the investors and analysts with clear
and timely compliance information to enable them to make reasonable
investment decisions with sufficient information.

Corporate Governance Report
A E B

FEXEARNGS

REBEEN  AQBBHT2017FEEEE M
GUHBN BT FELEBEN -ESNERER
ABHHETEME BESHREE FFHH
MEREBERBER FEXD TRARMNLE
AR - B R ERE - W ARG FEUT 45 A B A 4
RAMA 5B IR FIRR -

BREBFARE

2017F ERRBF KEH2018F6A5H & EH
BT T AN Th &R LU & 1L BE BRess SR A N AR LU AR
ZHEABENERREREER -ESNERE
BABERINEE L AZEMI D B EREEFK
G UEEINSHRREEREEENREB -G LR
EHBETRABRIUEEARKRRITEER
BB

AEREESR

REBEFEN EF SREBASRKREEBE
BRIARBORRESE E2EERUBONE
MARRREEBRAME RS WO ERER
REE - AR RREEMSIT BRMH T M
RENERER WEELABRNERETARE
HIRERR -

TEMmAEERAR QA
—E-N\EER

67



63

Corporate Governance Report

e SRR &

Media Reverse Roadshow

During the year under review, the Company organized a Hong Kong
media team to conduct reverse roadshow. The Directors and senior
management attended the reverse roadshow and answered the questions
raised by the media. This enabled investors to understand more about the
development conditions and strategic directions of the new business.

Investor Relations Plan

In 2019, we will continue to enhance communication with investors in
accordance to the main needs and concerned issues from investors
and analysts. It is expected that multiple activities for investors will be
conducted in 2019 through field trip, non-deal roadshow and one-to-
one meeting and publishing voluntary disclosure announcement to mass
investors in order to enhance their understanding of the Group.

Should investors have any inquiries and/or suggestions, please contact us
at cnc_ir@chinanewcity.com.cn.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company’s constitutional documents was adopted on 31 May 2014.
There was no change in the memorandum and articles of association of
the Company during the year under review.

For and on behalf of the Board
China New City Commercial Development Limited

Shi Kancheng
Chairperson
The Hong Kong, 19 March 2019
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Dong Shuixiao (EK&R 5% 4E), aged 53, has been appointed as
the executive Director and chief executive officer of the Group on 16
June 2015 and is responsible for leading the business of the Group. He
has over 21 years of experience in property operation and management.
He was the vice president and director of certain subsidiaries of Zhong
An (stock code: 00672), a company whose shares are listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange, since 2012 and was responsible for
assisting the chief executive officer of Zhong An on the administration
and general project management of the Zhong An Group until July 2014
and thereafter continued to serve as such positions for the Remaining
Zhong An Group until June 2015. He joined the Zhong An Group in
1997 and had served as deputy general manager and general manager
for various subsidiaries of Zhong An during the period from 1997 to
July 2014 and thereafter continued to serve as deputy general manager
and general manager for various members of the Remaining Zhong
An Group until June 2015. He has extensive professional and senior
managerial experiences in real estate industry, particularly in the field of
project administration and management, on-site technology supervision,
construction cost control and financial operation. Prior to joining the
Zhong An Group, he held managerial positions as accountant, deputy
finance manager, operational management manager, deputy general
manager and general manager in the PRC companies including Xiaoshan
Material Bureau (1985-1989), Changzheng Material Company Limited
(1989-1993) and Hangzhou Xiaoshan Hongsen Material Company Limited
(1994-1996). Mr. Dong graduated from Wuhan University of Technology
with a civil engineering degree and the China University of Geosciences
with a bachelor degree of business administration. Mr. Dong has resigned
from all his managerial positions in the Remaining Zhong An Group before
joining the Group. He is also a director of certain members of the Group.

Ms. Jin Ni (£ Z*), aged 43, is the executive Director, vice
chairperson of Board and vice president of the Group, and is responsible
for formulating and implementing strategies and business plans for the
development of the Group’s property sales, property leasing and property
management businesses. She was appointed as an executive Director
on 30 September 2013. Ms. Jin has over 19 years of experience in
sales, and operation and management of commercial projects. Prior to
joining the Group, Ms. Jin held directorial and/or executive roles of certain
members of the Remaining Zhong An Group. She obtained a bachelor
degree in administrative management from the Zhejiang University of
Technology (T T2 K& ) in July 2003 and obtained a diploma in
financial accounting from the Oriental Institute of the Zhejiang University*
(I T KB 5 2T ) (currently known as Oriental Institute of Finance
and Economics* (AT B4 R R 7528t ) ) in July 1997. She is also a
director of certain members of the Group.
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Ms. Tang Yiyan (E1a# Z £ ), aged 48, is the executive Director
and vice president of the Group, and is responsible for overall property
management of our Group. She was appointed as an executive Director
on 30 September 2013. Ms. Tang has over 16 years of experience in
operations and management. Prior to joining the Group, she held various
positions including assistant to general manager of Jiaxing Jiahe Beijing
City Shopping Center Company Limited ( 52 Bz KL 7B WESE
272 7)), and manager of sales department, project supervisor, deputy
general manager and vice general manager in general affairs of Zhejiang
Lai Yin Da Commercial Development Company Ltd. (7T 3 & £ 75
¥%REAMRAT). Ms. Tang obtained a diploma in economics and
management from the Zhejiang Province Mechanic and Politics University
(AT 4 B T BUA A E) (currently known as Zhejiang University of
Economics and Management CHT/TAZ & 12 K &) ) in July 1994,

Non-executive Director

Mr. Shi Kancheng ({5 54 ) (alias Shi Zhongan (7R %) ), aged
56, is a non-executive Director and chairperson of the Board. He was
appointed as a Director on 2 July 2013 and re-designated as non-
executive Director on 30 September 2013. He is responsible for assisting
the Board in the strategic planning of the Group, leading the Board
to ensure that it will perform its roles and carry out its responsibilities
effectively, and ensuring proper corporate governance practices and
procedures are implemented within the Group. However, he does not
participate in the day-to-day management of the business operations of
the Group.

Mr. Shi has over 22 years of experience in property development and
property investment. Mr. Shi currently serves as the executive director,
chairman and the chief executive officer of Zhong An (stock code:
00672). Mr. Shi served as a tax officer in the finance and revenue
bureau of Xiaoshan District of Hangzhou (formerly known as Xiaoshan
City) and the general manager of Hangzhou Xiaoshan Milkyway Real
Estate Development Co., Ltd. Mr. Shi completed an Executive Master of
Business Administration Program (Finance Track) organized by Shanghai
National Accounting Institute and obtained a CFO Qualifying Training
Certificate in June 2007. From 2005 to 2006, Mr. Shi completed a
program for executive officers, focusing on globalization and real estate
developers, co-organized by Harvard University, Tsinghua University, The
University of Hong Kong and the United States Military Academy and a
program for presidents of real estate companies organized by Zhejiang
University in July 2006. Mr. Shi obtained a doctoral degree of business
administration program jointly organized by Shanghai Advanced Institute
of Finance (SAIF) and W. P. Carey School of Business, Arizona State
University (ASU) in the US in May 2017. Mr. Shi is also a director of certain
members of the Remaining Zhong An Group and the Group. Mr. Shi is
the sole director and the sole shareholder of Whole Good Management
Limited, which is the controlling shareholder of the Group.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry (Rt tsE4%), aged 59, is an independent
non-executive Director and vice chairperson of the Board. He was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 31 May 2014.
He has over 31 years of experience in operation and management and
is now the chief executive officer and an executive director of L’AVENUE
International Holdings Limited, a private company in Hong Kong. His
leadership responsibilities include strategic planning, financial investments,
management of property development and investment portfolio, both
in Hong Kong and overseas. In October 2017, he was appointed as
an independent non-executive director of Sun Hing Printing Holdings
Limited (stock code: 01975), a company whose shares are listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange and provides independent views
to the board as well as its audit committee and nomination committee.
Since January 2012, Mr. Ng has been the founding member and a
director of Terry Ng & Associates Limited in which he manages his own
investment portfolio including real estate, equity market and private
equity investments. Mr. Ng was an executive director of Hang Lung
Group Limited (stock code: 00010) and Hang Lung Properties Limited
(stock code: 00101), companies whose shares are listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange, respectively and was mainly responsible
for such groups’ strategic and corporate planning, financial investments,
and relations with the investment community. He was also an executive
director of Giordano International Limited (stock code: 00709), a company
whose shares are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Ng
has over 8 years of work experience with Giordano International Limited
and its affiliated companies, and held other various positions including
senior vice president of international business and assistant director of
business development. He also worked at the Stock Exchange and held
various positions including senior manager of listing division, department
head of finance division and manager of finance division. Mr. Ng is a fellow
member of CPA Australia. He obtained a master’s degree in business
administration from Asia International Open University (Macau) (currently
known as City University of Macau) in November 1995 and a bachelor
degree in commerce majoring in accounting and financial systems from
the University of New South Wales in April 1985.

Mr. Xu Chengfa (B % % %), aged 66, is an independent non-
executive Director. He was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 31 May 2014. Mr. Xu has over 22 years of experience in
banking operations and management. He worked in the Hong Kong
Branch of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. (stock code: 03328),
a company whose shares are listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange and held various positions including senior manager of
investment banking department, senior manager of corporate services
department, assistant general manager, deputy general manager, deputy
chief executive officer and consultant.
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Mr. Yim Chun Leung (B #RZ= 554 ) , aged 57, is an independent non-
executive Director. He was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 31 May 2014. Mr. Yim has over 34 years of experience in
auditing, accounting and finance fields. He is the independent non-
executive Director who has the qualifications and experience to meet the
requirements under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Yim is a non-practicing member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and an associate of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales. He also possesses a master’s degree in business
administration.

Mr. Yim is also an executive director of Jacobson Pharma Corporation
Limited (a company whose shares are listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 02633) which, together with its group
companies, are principally engaged in development, production,
marketing and sale of generic drugs and proprietary medicines. Mr. Yim
had served in numerous companies listed on the main board of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange which included an executive director and chief
executive officer of LVGEM (China) Real Estate Investment Company
Limited (formerly known as New Heritage Holdings Ltd.) (stock code:
00095) since December 2004 and July 2014 respectively until he resigned
in March 2016, the financial controller of Soundwill Holdings Limited
(stock code: 00878) from May 2002 to June 2004, the chief financial
officer of Sinolink Worldwide Holdings Limited (stock code: 01168)
from December 2000 to February 2002, an executive director of N P H
International Holdings Limited (currently known as Concord New Energy
Group Limited, stock code: 00182) from 1998 to April 1999 and the
finance director of Tysan Holdings Limited (currently known as Hong Kong
International Construction Investment Management Group Co., Limited,
stock code: 00687) from January 1994 to January 1998.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Fang Bin (5 # 54 ) is the executive vice-president of the Group,
and is responsible for operations of film and television culture, cultural
tourism and human resource and administration. Mr. Fang joined China
New City in July 2016. Prior to joining the Group, he worked in Hangzhou
Branch of Huaxia Bank for investment sector from February 2012 to
June 2016 and has many years of experience in financial investment and
business negotiation. Mr. Fang holds a Master’s Degree in finance and
economics from the University of Warwick in September 2012.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Shi Nanlu (R £ 4 ) is the vice-president of the Group, and is
responsible for healthy business sector. Mr. Shi joined Zhong An Group
in June 2010. He held various positions including asset management
manager, fund management manager and vice president in the financial
center and has many years of experience in financial and finance
management. He is the vice-president of China New City since June
2015. Mr. Shi holds a Bachelor of Financial and Accounting from the
University of Manitoba in June 2007.

Mr. Liu Bo (2|} % %) is the vice-president of the Group, and is
responsible for financial and industry management. He joined China
New City in July 2016. Prior to joining the Group, he worked in He Jun
Capital for investment sector from December 2012 to July 2013, and
Wan Xiang Trust for trust business department from August 2013 to June
2016. He has many years of experience in financial investment and fund
management. Mr. Liu holds a Master Degree in Actuarial Science from the
Boston University in December 2012.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is subject to
the Board’s approval in accordance with the articles of association of the
Company. Mr. Chiu had been appointed as the Company Secretary since
2017. Mr. Chiu resigned as the Company Secretary with effect from 22
February 2019. Mr. Ng has been appointed as the Company Secretary
with effect from 22 February 2019.

Mr. Chiu is the chief financial officer and company secretary of the
Company. He joined the Group in February 2017. Mr. Chiu holds a
Bachelor of Business Administration from the Hong Kong University
of Science and Technology. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member of the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Chiu has over 20 years of
experience in accounting, financial management, merge and acquisition,
capital market financing and listing compliance. He is also a director of
certain members of the Group.

Mr. Ng has been appointed as the Financial Controller and the Company
Secretary with effect from 22 February 2019. Mr. Ng holds a Bachelor
of Business Administration degree and a Master of Economics degree
from the University of Hong Kong. Mr. Ng is a fellow member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member of
Chartered Institute of Management Accountants. Mr. Ng has worked
in an international professional services firm, a luxury chain hotel, a
regional airline group and a PRC property developer, in total of over 11
years of experience in accounting, financial management, mergers and
acquisitions, capital financing and listing compliance.
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O

The board (‘Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of China New City
Commercial Development Limited (the “Company”) are pleased to present
their annual report to shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”)
and the audited financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2018 (“the year under review”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is principally
engaged in commercial property development, leasing and hotel
operations. The nature of the principal activities has not changed during
the year under review.

BUSINESS REVIEW, KEY
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS AND
FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

A discussion on the business review of the Group and an analysis of the
performance of the Group based on certain financial key performance
indicators for the year under review are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year under review and the state of affairs of the
Company and the Group at 31 December 2018 are set out in the financial
statements on pages 109 to 115.

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).

SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the published audited financial statements and the
Prospectus, is set out on page 280. This summary does not form part of
the audited financial statements.
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PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property and equipment, and investment
properties of the Group during the year under review are set out in notes
12 and 13 to the financial statements respectively. Further details of the
Group’s investment properties are set out on pages 220 to 233.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s principal risks and uncertainties are set out under the
paragraph headed “Principal Risks and Key Controls” in the section
headed “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS

An account of the Group’s key relationships with its employees,
customers and suppliers are set out in the paragraph headed
“Relationships with Employees, Customers and Suppliers” under the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual
report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

A discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and performance is
set out in the paragraph headed “Environment Policies and Performance”
under the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this
annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the year
under review are set out in note 27 to the financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Scheme as disclosed in the section headed “The Report
of Directors — Share Option Scheme” of this annual report and note 28 to
the financial statements respectively, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into by the Company during the year under review or subsisted at
the end of the year under review.
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RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during the year
under review are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and note 29 to the financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2018, the Company’s accumulated losses amounted
to approximately RMB69,772,000 and the Company’s share premium
amounted to RMB573,233,000. By passing an ordinary resolution of the
Company, dividends may also be declared and paid out of share premium
account or any other fund or account which can be authorized for this
purpose in accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The details of the share option scheme (the “Scheme”) approved by the
Shareholders on 20 May 2015 (the “Adoption Date”) are disclosed below
pursuant to the requirements under Chapter 17 of the Rules (the “Listing
Rules” Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”):

1. Purposes of the scheme

The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Group to grant
options to selected participants as incentives or rewards for their
contribution to the Group. The Directors consider the Scheme, with
its broadened basis of participation, will enable the Group to reward
the employees, the Directors and other selected participants for
their contributions to the Group. Given that the Directors are entitled
to determine any performance targets to be achieved as well as the
minimum period that an option must be held before an option can
be exercised on a case by case basis, and that the exercise price of
an option cannot in any event fall below the price stipulated in the
Listing Rules or such higher price as may be fixed by the Directors,
it is expected that grantees of an option will make an effort to
contribute to the development of the Group so as to bring about an
increased market price of the Shares in order to capitalise on the
benefits of the options granted.
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Participants of the Scheme

The Board may, at its absolute discretion,

invite any person

belonging to any of the following classes of participants, to take up

options to subscribe for Shares:

@)

any employee (whether full-time or part-time including any
executive Director but excluding any non-executive Director)
of the Company, any of the Company’s subsidiaries or any
entity (“Invested Entity”) in which any member of the Group
holds an equity interest;

any non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) of the Company, any of the Company’s
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

any customer of any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity;

any person or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support to any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity;

any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any
area of business or business development of any member of
the Group or any Invested Entity;

any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the Group;

and, for the purposes of the Scheme, the offer for the grant of

option may be made to any company wholly owned by one or more

persons belonging to any of the above classes of participants.

For avoidance of doubt, the grant of any options by the Company

for the subscription of Shares or other securities of the Group to

any person who falls within any of the above classes of participants

shall not, by itself, unless the Board otherwise determine, be

construed as a grant of option under the Scheme.
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The eligibility of any of the above class of participants to an offer for
the grant of any option shall be determined by the Board from time
to time on the basis of the Board’s opinion as to his contribution to

the development and growth of the Group.

Maximum number of the Shares available
for Subscription

(@)

The maximum number of Shares which may be allotted and
issued upon the exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other
share option scheme adopted by the Group must not in
aggregate exceed 30% of the share capital of the Company
in issue from time to time.

The total number of the Shares which may be allotted and
issued upon the exercise of all options (excluding, for this
purpose, options which have lapsed in accordance with the
terms of the Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Group) to be granted under the Scheme and any other
share option scheme of the Group must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the number of Shares in issue as at the date
of approval of the Scheme (“General Scheme Limit”).

Subject to (a) above but without prejudice to (d) below, the
Company may seek approval of the Shareholders in general
meeting to refresh the General Scheme Limit provided that
the total number of Shares which may be allotted and issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme
and any other share option scheme of the Group must not
exceed 10% of the number of Shares in issue as at the
date of approval of the refreshed limit and, for the purpose
of calculating the refreshed limit, options (including those
outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or exercised in accordance
with the Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Group) previously granted under the Scheme and any
other share option scheme of the Group will not be counted.
The circular sent by the Company to the Shareholders shall
contain, among other information, the information required
under Rule 17.02(2)(d) of the Listing Rules and the disclaimer
required under Rule 17.02(4) of the Listing Rules.
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(d)  Subject to (a) above and without prejudice to (c) above,
the Company may seek separate Shareholders’ approval
in general meeting to grant options beyond the General
Scheme Limit or, if applicable, the refreshed limit referred
to in (c) above to participants specifically identified by the
Company before such approval is sought. In such event,
the Company must send a circular to the Shareholders
containing a generic description of the specified participants,
the number and terms of options to be granted, the purpose
of granting options to the specified participants with an
explanation as to how the terms of the options serve such
purpose and such other information required under Rule
17.02(2)(d) of the Listing Rules and the disclaimer required
under Rule 17.02(4) of the Listing Rules.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be issued
upon the exercise of the options granted under the Scheme
and any other share option scheme of the Group (including both
exercised or outstanding options) to each grantee in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the number of Shares in issue for
the time being (the “Individual Limit”). Any further grant of options
in excess of the Individual Limit in any 12-month period up to
and including the date of such further grant must be separately
approved by the Shareholders in general meeting of the Company
with such grantee and his close associates (or his associates if
the grantee is a connected person of the Company) abstaining
from voting. The number and terms (including the exercise price)
of options to be granted must be fixed before the approval of the
Shareholders and the date of the Board meeting for proposing such
further grant should be taken as the date of grant for the purpose of
calculating the exercise price under note (1) to Rule 17.03(9) of the
Listing Rules.
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5. Grant of options to the Directors, chief

executive or substantial shareholders
of the Company or their respective
associates

(@  Any grant of options under the Scheme to a Director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the Company or
any of their respective associates must be approved by
independent non-executive Directors (excluding independent
non-executive Director who or whose associates is the
proposed grantee of the options).

(b)  Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive Director or any of their
respective associates would result in the Shares issued and
to be issued upon exercise of all options already granted and
to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up to
and including the date of such grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in
issue; and

(ii) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price
of the Shares at the date of each offer for the grant, in
excess of HK$5 million;

such further grant of options must be approved by Shareholders
in general meeting. The Company must send a circular to the
Shareholders. The grantee, his associates and all core connected
persons of the Company must abstain from voting in favour at
such general meeting, except that any connected person may vote
against the relevant resolution at the general meeting provided
that his intention to do so has been stated in the circular. Any vote
taken at the meeting to approve the grant of such options must be
taken on a poll. Any change in the terms of options granted to a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive Director
or any of their respective associates must be approved by the
Shareholders in general meeting.
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Minimum period for which an option must
be held before it can be exercised and the
exercise period of the option:

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be determined
and notified by the Board to each grantee, which period may
commence from the date of the offer for the grant of options is
made, but shall end in any event not later than 10 years from
the date of grant of the option subject to the provisions for early
termination thereof. Unless otherwise determined by the Board and
stated in the offer for the grant of options to a grantee, there is no
minimum period required under the Scheme for the holding of an
option before it can be exercised.

Amount payable on acceptance of the
option and the period within which
payment must be made:

A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the
grant of an option and options may be accepted by a participant
within 21 days from the date of the offer of grant of the option.

Basis of determining the exercise price:

The exercise price for the Shares under the Scheme shall be a price
determined by the Board, but shall not be less than the highest of
(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of the offer for the grant, which
must be a business day; (i) the average closing price of Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of the offer for the
grant; and (i) the nominal value of a Share.

Remaining life of the Scheme:

The Scheme became effective on 20 May 2015 and unless
otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for a period of
10 years from that date.

6.

The Report of Directors
HHGHRE

REBRETEITENLESERR
RENREHRRBERENITE
HARR -

BRETRESTSREL MG ZARAZ
HAMRI BE A AR IR IR AR M At B 2 IR RA T - ot
TEHERRR D BREE B g EER
M ASERZRRDBREE BEF0
FUBXABRFEUIENGERR -RE
EFESARELINAARARBEBR L
BB 2 A ADIASN - 5 I B AR TE AR
ARTTERB R L AR B B 2 &RIK
HARR

EREREREMNRERLAE
HAY VIR

EMRLBRERAMBTAERER
SEEARFLBEEE B L2218 "%
B R

BETEENEE:

AEITRDZITRERESSETE  ETF
ER(ZBRREBREER (AREXR)
B2 P A RERAFIBRD 2 W E : i)
EREFREBEREZEAMDEL XA
R BRERMI 2B FHUHIE :
Rk EE (AkeE RE)

ZET BN R RERE -

5HBIR201565 A20 B £ 30 I BB IELE 5
TTRESEIERSN BRZBRTFR—EE
o

R AT R LR ERAT
#5 Ol

—B-N\F



32

The Report of Directors

EH G

OUTSTANDING OPTIONS

In 2018, no option was granted, exercised or cancelled by the Company
or had lapsed under the Scheme. There was no outstanding option under
the Scheme as at 31 December 2018 as no option was granted during
the relevant period.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis
to existing shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The sales attributable to the five largest customers of the Group
accounted for approximately 5% of the Group’s consolidated revenue for
the year under review.

The purchases attributable to the five largest suppliers of the Group
accounted for about 43% of the Group’s consolidated purchases for the
year under review.

The largest supplier of the Group accounted for about 27% of the
Group’s consolidated purchases for the year under review.

None of the Directors, their close associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules) or any Shareholders (who or which to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) has
any interest in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year under review and up to the date of this
report were as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Dong Shuixiao
Ms. Jin Ni

Ms. Tang Yiyan

Non-executive Director
Mr. Shi Kancheng (alias Shi Zhongan)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry

Mr. Xu Chengfa

Mr. Yim Chun Leung
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In accordance with articles 105(A) and 105(B) of the Articles, Mr. Shi
Kancheng, Mr. Dong Shuixiao and Ms. Jin Ni will retire by rotation and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting (the “AGM”).

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers all of the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for the transactions as disclosed in this report notes 2 and 31 to the
consolidated financial statements and in the section headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” of the Prospectus and the supplemental
prospectus dated 30 June 2014 (“Supplemental Prospectus”), there was
no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to
the Group’s business to which the Company, any of its subsidiaries or its
holding company was a party and in which a Director is or was materially
interested, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of
the year under review.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Group
are set out on pages 69 to 73 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Ms. Jin Ni, and Ms. Tang Yiyan, all being executive Directors, has
entered into a service contract with the Company pursuant to which she
agreed to act as the executive Director for a term of three years with effect
from 31 May 2014, which is automatically renewable for a successive
term of one year from the next day upon the expiry of the appointment.

Mr. Dong Shuixiao, being the executive Director, has entered into a service
contract with the Company pursuant to which he agreed to act as the
executive Director for a term of three years with effect from 16 June 2018.

Mr. Shi Kancheng, being non-executive Director, has been appointed
for an initial term of three years with effect from 31 May 2014, which is
automatically renewable for a successive term of one year from the next
day upon the expiry of the appointment.

Each of Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry, Mr. Xu Chengfa and Mr. Yim Chun Leung,
all being independent non-executive Directors, has been appointed for
an initial term of three years with effect from 31 May 2014, which is
automatically renewable for a successive term of one year from the next
day upon the expiry of the appointment.
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No Director (including the Directors proposed to be re-elected at the
AGM) has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable
by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to Shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with reference
to directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group. Details of the Directors’ remuneration during the year under review
is set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, no
remuneration was paid by the Group to any of the directors and chief
executive or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or
as compensation for loss of office.

No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution payable in
the future years as of 31 December 2018.

The band of the remuneration of senior management personal and related
number of members of senior management personnel are as follows:

BEEE (BREXKRFBFAS LERBEN
EX)CEARABFTLEMIAIHRARR—F
REER I ORERERIN RBE SR

EFEREREEROEH

EENHRSARKRAS LEGRRIME K
MeE T HEFELEEFT 2R BEUNLRAE
Bz RIBREEMERE - EF 70 EEFEARH
SRBENGRS M ERRIMES

RE E2018F 124318 M2017F12A31H I F
ER BESWEAAEEI N TFTAMNES =
ETHABRARERSEH AL  LEEMASE
AEER A

RAERSW MR AR ER E2018F 12831 A
RIRAEF 2 BT

BREBEABFHHAERARIEESREEABEK
BABIT:

2018 2017
20185 20174
Number of Number of
Remuneration band (RMB) HENAR (ARE) individuals Individuals
AE A

Nil to 1,000,000 = %£1,000,0007T 3
1,000,001 to 1,500,000 1,000,0017t 21,500,0007¢ 2 2

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under the Articles of the Company, the Company had a permitted
indemnity provision (as defined in section 469 of the Companies
Ordinance) in force for the benefit of the Directors throughout the year
under review and as at the date of approval of this report of the Directors,
pursuant to which the Company shall indemnify any Director against any
liability, loss suffered and expenses incurred by the Director in connection
with any legal proceedings in which he is involved by reason of being
a Director, except in any case where the matter in respect of which
indemnification is sought was caused by the fraud or dishonesty of the
Directors. The Company has maintained insurance cover for Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against the Directors
arising out of corporate activities. The insurance coverage is reviewed
on an annual basis. During the year under review, no claims were made
against the Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong (the “SFO”), as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:
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Name of Director

Name of
Group member/
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Capacity/nature of interest

Approximate
percentage of

Number of share(s) held shareholding

AEEREAR/
EEps BELEER 5/ REEEE FisRBEE REBNED
(Note 1)
(Hist 1)
Mr. Shi Kancheng The Company Interest of controlled corporations 1,301,303,594 shares of 70.92%
(Note 2 HK$0.10 each (L)
MR E AN EHEE RS (Hi22) 1,301,303,504 % SR A E
0.10BTRM L)
Zhong An Interest of controlled corporation 3,262,411,200 shares of 56.15%
(Note 3) HK$0.10 each (L)
RL REtUEENES (#523) 3,262,411,2008 &R EE
0108 THRM (L)
Beneficial owner (Note 4) 10,367,440 shares 0.18%
of HK$0.10 each (L)
BRERAA (M) 10,367 440 SR EE
0.10 TR (L)
Whole Good Beneficial owner 1 share of US$1.00 (L) 100%
24f BRBEBA 1R EE1.00% TR
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Name of
Group member/

associated corporation Capacity/nature of interest

Approximate
percentage of

Number of share(s) held shareholding

The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the shares and underlying

shares of the Company or the relevant associated corporation.

Among these 1,301,303,594 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the Company
(“Shares”), 1,270,000,000 Shares are held by Ideal World Investments Limited
(“Ideal World”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Zhong An. The entire issued shares
of Zhong An are owned as to about 56.15% by Whole Good Management
Limited ( 22F EE H R A 7)) (“‘Whole Good”), which is wholly owned by Mr. Shi
Kancheng. In addition, 31,303,594 Shares are held by Whole Good. By virtue of
the SFO, Mr. Shi Kancheng is taken to be interested in the Shares in which each
of Ideal World and Whole Good is interested.

These shares are held by Whole Good. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Shi Kancheng
is deemed to be interested in the shares of Zhong An in which Whole Good is

interested.

These shares represent the underlying shares in Zhong An comprised in the
options granted to and held by Mr. Shi Kancheng pursuant to its share option

scheme adopted on 15 May 2009.

These shares represent the underlying shares in Zhong An comprised in the
options granted to and held by Ms. Jin Ni pursuant to its share option scheme
adopted on 15 May 2009.
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Ms. Jin Ni Zhong An Beneficial owner (Note 5) 3,722,480 shares of 0.06%
HK$0.10 each (L)
E Ao RR BERBERA(Wits) 3,722,480 B XA E
010 TIRIA(L)

Mr. Dong Shuixiao Zhong An Beneficial owner (Note 6) 3,722,480 shares of 0.06%
HK$0.10 each (L)
BkREE RL BERBERA (Hit6) 3,722,480 B R EE
010 TR A (L)

Ms. Tang Yiyan Zhong An Beneficial owner (Note 7) 600,000 shares of 0.01%
HK$0.10 each (L)
BT RE BERBEBA (Mit7) 600,000 B EE
0.10B T (L)
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6. These shares represent the underlying shares in Zhong An comprised in the
options granted to and held by Mr. Dong Shuixiao pursuant to its share option
scheme adopted on 15 May 2009.

7. These shares represent the underlying shares in Zhong An comprised in the
options granted to and held by Ms. Tang Yiyan pursuant to its share option
scheme adopted on 15 May 2009.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, none of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company had or were deemed under the SFO
to have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus, the Supplemental Prospectus and
the transactions as disclosed in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements, no controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries has any
contract of significance with the Company or its subsidiaries during the
year under review.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus, Supplemental Prospectus and
in this annual report, no contracts of significance concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of
the business of the Company were entered into or subsisted during the
year under review.

NON-COMPETE UNDERTAKINGS

The Company has received the written confirmation from Ideal
World, Zhong An, Whole Good and Mr. Shi Kancheng (collectively,
the “Controlling Shareholders”) in respect of the compliance with
the provisions of the non-compete undertakings (“Non-compete
Undertakings”), entered into between the Controlling Shareholders and
the Company as set out in the section headed “Relationship with our
Controlling Shareholders — Non-compete Undertakings” of the Prospectus
during the year under review.

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed and confirmed
that the Controlling Shareholders have complied with the Non-compete
Undertakings and the Non-compete Undertakings has been enforced by
the Company in accordance with its terms during the year under review.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s
interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporation”, at no time
during the year under review were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any
Director or their respective spouses or minor children, or were any such
rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in
any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2018, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following persons (other than a Director or the chief executive of the
Company) had an interest or short position in the Shares and underlying
Shares as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO:

EFIRE O REEHER

BIEERERITBRABRAR B SEMBERZE
Er Rt - AR REERERER AR ] —4f
FriREEE SN R EERFEE NERARRE - S8R TE
MEFREESANEBIRKE T LAEBK
BARTRMDIEEEN T AESN R 2R
MR E BT EREMZFEN AR B HEEM
B8 2 R IR 2 B R AR 2 B T (R B R ME A
Hi)RBESZ SRR -

F RIS AN R
HERRE

BB 7

M20185F12A31A HESZFM - BRBEFHF K
HAE & HI 533616 R E R AR RIFENE LM
ke THMAT (EFH AR ANERTHEAER
BRON) IR RABEER D EIERSOA BT

Percentage of
the Company’s
issued share

Name of shareholder Capacity/nature of interest Number of Shares held capital

HERQTE#IT

RERERB B1ipEREME FERGEE BRAEB DL
(Note 1)
(Htat 1)

|deal World Beneficial owner 1,270,000,000 Shares (L) 69.21%
EmEAA 1,270,000,000 A% A% 17 (L)

Zhong An Interest of controlled corporation (Note 2) 1,270,000,000 Shares (L) 69.21%
R REHEE e ERS (Fi2) 1,270,000,000 &A% (L)

Whole Good Interest of controlled corporation (Note 2) 1,270,000,000 Shares (L) 69.21%
2 4F s EEE R (f72) 1,270,000,000 A% 3% 17 (L)

Beneficial owner 31,303,594 Shares (L) 1.71%

BEmfEAA
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Notes:
1. The Letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

2. These Shares are held by Ideal World, the wholly owned subsidiary of Zhong An.
The entire issued shares of Zhong An are owned as to about 56.15% by Whole
Good, which is wholly owned by Mr. Shi Kancheng. By virtue of the SFO, each
of Zhong An, Whole Good and Mr. Shi Kancheng is taken to be interested in the
Shares in which Ideal World is interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, other than the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company whose interests are set
out in the paragraph headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests
and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any associated corporation” above, no person had interest
or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares which were required
to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

RELATED PARTY AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Details of significant related party transactions of the Group are set out in
note 31 to the financial statements.

Certain related party transactions as disclosed in note 31 to the financial
statements also constituted continuing connected transactions. During
the year under reviewed, the Group has conducted the following
continuing connected transaction which was required to be disclosed
pursuant to Chapter 14A and Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules:

As disclosed in the Prospectus under the section headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions”, pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement
(as defined in the Prospectus) dated 16 March 2014 and entered into
between Yuyao Zhong'an Property Co., Ltd.* (R B L EZHBR A F])
(“Yuyao Zhong’an Property”), an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of
Zhong An, and Yuyao Zhongan Times Square Property Co., Ltd.* (5%
BLRBERESEZEAR DA (“Yuyao Zhongan Times Square Property”),
an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, Yuyao Zhong’an
Property was appointed as the exclusive project manager for the overall
management and supervision of the ongoing construction, development
and sales of the Times Square Residential Portion. For other major terms
and conditions of the Cooperation Agreement, please refer to the section
headed “Continuing Connected Transactions — Cooperation Agreement”
in the Prospectus and Supplemental Prospectus for details. Pursuant the
Cooperation Agreement, i) unsold apartments under the Times Square
Residential Portion as of 30 June 2016 (“‘Unsold Apartments”); and i)
the net sales proceeds under the Cooperation Agreement should be
transferred or paid by the Group to Yuyao Zhong'an Property on 30 June
2016.
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Due to the temporary suspension of the property construction works prior
to the 2016 G20 Hanzhou Summit and other reasons, there was a delay
in completion of the development of the Times Square Residential Portion.
In 2017, untransferred residential apartments were under renovation and,
in 2018, the project was delivering it last batch of apartments, hence
the apartments could not be transferred to Yuyao Zhong'an Property.
A waiver dated 31 December 2018 from Yuyao Zhong'an Property has
been received by the Group, pursuant to which Yuyao Zhong’an Property
has agreed to waive its rights under the Cooperation Agreement in light
of the breach of Cooperation Agreement by the Group, subject to the
completion of transfer of unpaid net proceeds under the Cooperation
Agreement by the Group to Yuyao Zhong'an Property on or before 31
December 2019.

There were no other transactions required to be disclosed as non-exempt
connected transactions or non-exempt continuing connected transactions
in accordance with the Listing Rules during the year under review. The
Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Reasons for entering into contractual arrangements

According to the Regulations on the Administration of Foreign-Invested
Telecommunications Enterprises promulgated by the State Council of
the People’s Republic of China (‘PRC”) (‘PRC State Council’) on 11
December 2001, which were subsequently amended on 10 September
2008, foreign investors are not allowed to hold more than 50% equity
interests of a foreign-invested company that operates value-added
telecommunications business, including internet content provision
services. In addition, a foreign investor who invests in the value-added
telecommunications business of a foreign enterprise must possess prior
experience in operating value-added telecommunications businesses and
has proven track record of business operations overseas (“Qualification
Requirement”). As the Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with limited liability, all the member companies of the Group controlled
by the Company through holding a majority of the interests or equity
interests are deemed to be foreign-invested enterprises and cannot apply
for telecommunications and information service operation licence (“ICP
Licence”).

With the above restrictions, through Run Zhou (Zhejiang) Hotel
Management Company Limited CEMN CHNT ) /BIEEREAR 2 A]) (‘Run
Zhou Zhejiang”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, the
Company entered into a series of agreements with Hangzhou Teng Ce
Information Technology Company Limited (f1/1 i% 1 8 R BR A F)
(“Teng Ce”), Hangzhou Ming Sheng Enterprise Management Company
Limited (#1MN B REEEEBRAF) (‘Ming Sheng”), Mr. Xu Pengsheng
(“Mr. Xu”) and Mr. Li Xiaolong (“Mr. Li"), pursuant to which, the Company
obtained the actual controlling interests of Teng Ce and all the economic
benefits arising from all the existing operating businesses of Teng Ce
(“Contractual Arrangements”). The Contractual Arrangements allow the
financial results of Teng Ce to be consolidated in the financial statements
of the Group, as if it is a wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company.

On 22 August 2017, Mr. Xu Pengsheng, the substantial stockholder of
Teng Ce, has transferred the entity interests to Mr. Zhao Tieke (“Mr. Zhao”)
and Teng Ce has changed its company name into “Hangzhou Hao Neng
Information Technology Company Limited” (#1135 8612 BRI B R A F))
(“Hao Neng”) on 31 August 2017. Therefore, the aforesaid agreements
are also transmitted to Hao Neng and Mr. Zhao Tieke.
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Business overview under Contractual Arrangements and the
importance of relevant business to the Group

Hao Neng holds the ICP Licence that is required for operating an
e-commerce platform and is permitted to operate information service
business in value-added telecommunications business (only to the extent
of internet information service). The validity period of the ICP Licence is up
to 30 August 2020. Zhong An Homestay Travel Web launched under the
Group is running its operation by relying on the ICP Licence held by Hao
Neng and will obtain economic benefits therein through the Contractual
Arrangements.

Information of Hao Neng

Hao Neng is a company established in the PRC with limited liability. As at
the date of the report, Ming Sheng is the sole shareholder of Hao Neng,
holding 100% equity interests, and Mr. Zhao and Mr. Li in turn hold 90%
and 10% equity interests respectively in Ming Sheng. Neither Mr. Zhao
nor Mr. Li is the shareholder, director or other connected person of any
members of the Group.

To the best knowledge, information and belief of the Company and as
confirmed by Mr. Zhao and Mr. Li, other than the operation and provision
of services contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements, for the
year ended 31 December 2018 and as at the date of the report, Hao
Neng has no significant business operation nor purchased any material
assets. The online services of the Group have not yet generated any
revenue.

Principal terms of the relevant agreements under Contractual
Arrangements

As at the date of the report, the agreements entered into under the
Contractual Arrangements include:

1. Entrusted Management and Technical Service Agreement

On 25 June 2015, Run Zhou Zhejiang, Hao Neng, Ming Sheng, Mr.
Zhao and Mr. Li signed the Entrusted Management and Technical
Service Agreement, pursuant to which, Ming Sheng, Mr. Zhao and
Mr. Li agreed to pass Hao Neng to Run Zhou Zhejiang to manage
on an exclusive basis and allow Run Zhou Zhejiang to provide the
technology support and technical services to Hao Neng to operate
its business.
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The validity period of the agreement will be valid indefinitely from the
date of signing, unless (1) Run Zhou Zhejiang has discharged the
agreement in advance unilaterally, or (2) on the day that Run Zhou
Zhejiang has acquired all the equity interests or assets of Hao Neng
completely according to the Exclusive Option Agreement, or (3) Hao
Neng has declared bankrupt or dissolved according to the PRC
law and regulations. Unless otherwise required by the PRC law and
regulations, Hao Neng, Ming Sheng, Mr. Zhao and Mr. Li have no
right to terminate or discharge the agreement unilaterally.

During the term of the agreement, the entrusted management
fee shall be calculated subject to the financial position of Hao
Neng. Under the premise of complying with the then PRC laws
and regulations, the relevant service fees shall be calculated
according to the PRC accounting standards, which will be the
surplus after deducting the prior year losses, necessary operating
costs, expenditures and taxation. Hao Neng shall pay the entrusted
management fee for the month before the 20th day of next month.
The aforesaid monthly entrusted management fee shall be adjusted
once after the end of each quarter but before filing the tax return
(quarterly adjustment) to allow the profit after tax of Hao Neng for
the quarter to become zero. Furthermore, the aforesaid monthly
entrusted management fee shall be adjusted after the end of each
accounting year but before the filing of tax return for the year (yearly
adjustment) to allow the profit after tax of Hao Neng for the year to
become zero.

Shareholder Proxy Agreement

On 25 June 2015, Run Zhou Zhejiang and Ming Sheng signed the
Shareholder Proxy Agreement, pursuant to which, Ming Sheng
agreed to designate and authorize Run Zhou Zhejiang (and persons
delegated by Run Zhou Zhejiang) unconditionally and irrevocably to
exercise exclusively all the shareholder rights in Hao Neng in which
it is entitled to enjoy according to the PRC laws and regulations.
The agreement shall not be terminated before the completion of the
acquisition of all the shareholder interests or assets of Hao Neng by
Run Zhou Zhejiang.

In the event that Ming Sheng is in dissolution or the occurrence of
other conditions that may affect Ming Sheng in exercising the equity
interests rights in Hao Neng that are being held or controlled by it,
its successor or succeeding entity will be deemed to be a party to
the agreement, who will succeed and undertake all the rights and
obligations under the agreement.
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Exclusive Option Agreement

On 25 June 2015, Run Zhou Zhejiang, Ming Sheng, Hao Neng, Mr.
Zhao and Mr. Li signed the Exclusive Option Agreement, pursuant
to which, Ming Sheng and Mr. Zhao and Mr. Li undertake that Run
Zhou Zhejiang has the irrevocable sole and exclusive call option,
and Run Zhou Zhejiang has the right to purchase all or part of the
equity interests of Hao Neng held by Ming Sheng or purchase all
or part of the assets of Hao Neng at any time at RMB10,000,000
or the minimum price permitted by PRC laws and regulations when
exercising the right.

The agreement will continue indefinitely after the parties to the
agreement have signed the same and become valid, unless Run
Zhou Zhejiang has notified other parties 30 days in advance to
terminate the agreement.

Intellectual Properties Licence Agreement

On 25 June 2015, Run Zhou Zhejiang and Hao Neng signed the
Intellectual Properties Licence Agreement, pursuant to which, Run
Zhou Zhejiang agreed to permit Hao Neng to use the intellectual
properties like website names and trademarks.

The licence fee under the agreement shall be at a certain
percentage of all the business revenue of the licensee (the specific
percentage will be determined subject to the negotiation between
the parties thereto according to the development and contribution
of the intellectual properties to the licensee’s business), such fee
shall be calculated on a quarterly basis and shall be paid by the
licensee to the licensor within 15 days after the end of each quarter.
If the licensor considers it necessary for the purpose of business
development of the licensee, the licensor has the right to decide to
reduce or waive all or part of licence fees payable by the licensee.

The agreement will continue to be valid indefinitely after becoming
effective, unless the licensor has notified the licensee 30 days in
advance to terminate the agreement.
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Equity Pledge Agreement

On 25 June 2015, Run Zhou Zhejiang, Ming Sheng, Mr. Zhao and
Mr. Li signed the Equity Pledge Agreement, pursuant to which,
Ming Sheng, Mr. Zhao and Mr. Li agreed that they will pledge the
100% equity interests of Hao Neng owned by them to Run Zhou
Zhejiang as the pledge security for Ming Sheng, Mr. Zhao and Mr.
Li to fully perform their respective obligations under the Contractual
Arrangements.

Unless otherwise have obtained the prior written consent from Run
Zhou Zhejiang, this agreement can only be discharged after Ming
Sheng, Mr. Zhao, Mr. Li and Hao Neng have performed all their
obligations and contractual responsibilities under those Contractual
Arrangements and Ming Sheng, Mr. Zhao, Mr. Li and Hao Neng
have paid the outstanding debts in full under those agreements and
obtained the written approval from Run Zhou Zhejiang.

Online Information Publication Agreement

On 25 June 2015, Run Zhou Zhejiang and Hao Neng signed the
Online Information Publication Agreement, pursuant to which,
Run Zhou Zhejiang has entrusted Hao Neng to publish all kinds of
relevant business information regarding “Another Village”( XX —%F )
homestay that is being collected, compiled and produced by Run
Zhou Zhejiang at the Zhong Jia Le Homestay Travel Website ( 525
LREIRPER) (http://www.zjlchina.com) operated by Hao Neng.

Run Zhou Zhejiang shall pay the information publication fees
of RMB240,000 in first year. From second year onwards, the
information publication fees can be adjusted but the adjustment
shall not be more than 5% of the fee in the previous year.

The agreement will continue indefinitely after the parties to the
agreement have signed the same and become effective, unless Run
Zhou Zhejiang has given notice 30 days in advance to terminate the
agreement.
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Letter of Consent

On 25 June 2015, the successors of Mr. Zhao and Mr. Li signed the
Letter of Consent respectively, pursuant to which, it is agreed that
Mr. Zhao/Mr. Li to sign and perform all the agreements under the
Contractual Arrangements, and consented that in the event that Mr.
Zhao/Mr. Li is declared missing, passed away, or declared passed
away, lost of civil capacity, discharge of marriage relationship or the
occurrence of other similar circumstances which render them to be
entitled to succeed, divide or escrow the rights and interests of Mr.
Zhao/Mr. Li in Ming Sheng, then he will be subject to the terms of
those agreements and shall comply with those terms and procure
Ming Sheng and Hao Neng to completely and timely perform all
the obligations under those agreements, and agreed that under the
circumstances permitted by the PRC laws and regulations, in the
event that Run Zhou Zhejiang has requested Ming Sheng to transfer
the shareholder interests or assets in Hao Neng held by Ming
Sheng to Run Zhou Zhejiang or its designated entity or individual,
he will procure Ming Sheng to transfer the shareholder interests
or assets in Hao Neng held by Ming Sheng to Run Zhou Zhejiang
or its designated entity or individual at RMB10,000,000 or at the
minimum, price permitted by the PRC laws and regulations and
refund to the Company any consideration received as a result of the
transfer of those shareholder interests or assets.

Letter of Undertaking

On 26 October 2015, Ming Sheng, Mr. Zhao and Mr. Li signed
the Letter of Undertaking, pursuant to which, if in the future, as a
result of the changes in PRC laws and regulations or policies which
rendered the agreements under the Contractual Arrangements
becomes invalid, being terminated/discharged or unable to perform,
then Mr. Zhao, Mr. Li and Ming Sheng undertake that they shall
transfer the maximum percentage of the equity interest in Hao
Neng to Run Zhou Zhejiang that is permitted under PRC laws and
regulations at that time to be held by foreign investment in value-
added telecommunications businesses (internet information service
business) and the transfer price shall be determined based on
the minimum price permitted by PRC laws and regulations at that
time. If the occurrence of the above circumstances have resulted
that Run Zhou Zhejiang is unable to obtain the 100% of economic
interests of Hao Neng, then Mr. Zhao, Mr. Li and Ming Sheng
undertake that they will compensate Run Zhou Zhejiang for all the
economic losses so caused.
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Any party signing the agreement will be entitled to submit any disputes
that arise from the agreements to China International Economic and Trade
Arbitration Commission. The location of arbitration is in Shanghai, the
PRC. The verdict of the arbitration shall be final and has binding effects
on all parties. Each party also agreed that, prior to the formation of the
arbitration court or under suitable circumstances, Hong Kong Court,
Cayman Islands Court, PRC Court and other courts with competent
jurisdiction where the Company and Hao Neng are located shall have the
competency to issue interim measures to support the arbitration.

During the reporting period, there is no material change regarding the
Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances adopted thereunder.
As there is no cancellation of the structural contract or the restriction
thereunder adopted under the Contractual Arrangements, none of the
above structural contracts are being discharged.

Risks and countermeasures relevant to Contractual Arrangements
1. Legal risk

There exist significant uncertainties and restrictions in the
interpretation and application of the PRC laws and regulations that
regulate the operation of value-added telecommunications services.
The PRC Government can determine regulations that are not
applicable for the Contractual Arrangements adopted by the Group,
or those regulations or their interpretation may change in the future,
then the Group may be exposed to penalties, including shutting
down of its website or being compelled to give up the businesses
interests.

All the agreements under Contractual Arrangements have been
reviewed by PRC legal adviser and legal opinions are issued,
confirming that the Contractual Arrangements have fully complied
with suitable PRC laws and regulations, and they are not under
the circumstance of “concealing illegal intentions in a lawful form”
as stated in Article 52 under the Contract Law (“Contract Law”)
of PRC, nor there exists other circumstance that may result the
agreements become invalid as stated in Article 52 under Contract
Law. As for the Foreign Investment Law of the People’s Republic
of China (Draft for Comments) (“Foreign Investment Law Draft For
Comments”) promulgated by Ministry of Commerce of the PRC
(“MOFCOM?”) on 19 January 2015, the PRC legal adviser is of the
view that, prior and subsequent to the official promulgation and
implementation of Foreign Investment Law Draft For Comments, it
will not result any adverse effect to the Contractual Arrangements.
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The Company will pay close attention regarding the development
and changes of the relevant PRC laws and regulations during the
subsisting period of the Contractual Arrangements, seek PRC legal
adviser opinion regularly and take positive response to the adverse
impacts caused by the PRC laws and regulations.

Control risk

The operational control under Contractual Arrangements may not
as effective as those interests that are directly-owned. If Hao Neng
and its shareholders are unable to perform the obligations under the
Contractual Arrangements and actions of default have occurred,
the Group shall seek for remedies according to the PRC laws and
regulations, and these remedies may result significant litigation
costs and distract the time and manpower and material resources
of the management of the Group in managing its ordinary business.
Furthermore, the Group is yet in the position to determine whether
the remedies to the contract are effective and sufficient to carry out
its interests.

As permitted under PRC laws and regulations, the Company
will utilize the rights granted to the Group under Contractual
Arrangements to acquire the equity interests of Hao Neng,
discharge Contractual Arrangements, hold Hao Neng through
direct interests and apply for continuing the operation of the value-
added telecommunications services. In the event that PRC laws
and regulations may not allow the Company to continue the value-
added telecommunications services, the Company may engage
other entities that hold ICP licences to continue the operation of the
online business, such move may increase the operation costs but
will not exert significant financial burden to the Group.

Compliance risk

If Hao Neng is unable to obtain and maintain the necessary
assets, licences and approvals as required under the regulatory
environment for internet content provider business in the PRC, the
homestay business of the Group may be significantly and adversely
affected.
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According to the currently applicable PRC laws and regulations, in
providing its existing service, Hao Neng must obtain and maintain
certain assets relevant to its business and obtain appropriate
licences and approvals from the relevant regulatory authorities.
Those assets and licences are extremely important for operating
the internet content provider business, which in general is subject
to annual review (“Annual Review”) by the relevant government
authorities. If Hao Neng is unable to pass the Annual Review, it
will be subject to various penalties, including but not limited to
fine, termination and restriction of business operation, in which it
will directly affect the business development, financial position and
operating results of the Group.

Run Zhou Zhejiang will actively perform the contents of the
“Entrusted Management and Technical Service Agreement”, provide
technology support and technical service in relation to its business
operation, strengthen asset custody and maintenance and strive
to drive the operation management of Hao Neng to meet the
standards required by relevant government agencies.

Qualification Requirement

It is the intention of the Group to unwind the Contractual Arrangements
and obtain all the necessary and relevant licences for its business
operation as soon as possible after it is allowed to operate the business
under the relevant PRC laws and regulations without Contractual
Arrangements. Currently, there is no applicable PRC law, regulation or rule
that provides clear guidance regarding Qualification Requirement. Despite
the lack of clear guidance and interpretation on Qualification Requirement,
through Run Zhou Zhejiang, the Group is directly involved in the operation
management of e-commerce business under Hao Neng’'s name, with
experience accumulating gradually for the purposes of being qualified and
eligible as and when appropriate. The Group can unwind the Contractual
Arrangements and acquire all the equity interests of Hao Neng when PRC
laws and regulations permit foreign investors to invest in the value-added
telecommunications enterprises in the PRC.

Opinion of the Independent Non-executive
Directors

The independent non-executive directors have reviewed the Contractual
Arrangements and confirmed that, for the year ended 31 December 2018,
(1) the transactions conducted in that year were entered into according to
the relevant provisions of the Contractual Arrangements; (2) no dividends
or other distributions have been paid which will not be otherwise assigned
or transferred to the Group thereafter.
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RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group participates in defined contribution retirement benefit schemes
organized by the PRC municipal and provincial government authorities
for the Group’s eligible employees in the PRC, and operates a Mandatory
Provident Fund scheme for the employees in Hong Kong. Particulars of
these retirement plans are set out in note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year under review, the Group donated RMB5,520,000 (2017:
RMB36,000).

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year under review, the Company repurchased on the Stock
Exchange a total of 11,164,000 shares pursuant to the general mandate
granted by the shareholders at the annual general meeting held on 5 June
2018. Details of share repurchase were as follows:—

=32 398 1)

AEERERNTEzAEREEZ2EPEMRKL
ERBUTBFIR 2 RERFRAKENETE
YAEERBLERFEDEREE - ZFRK
Bl HIEEN R A M MR RE2 ©

RER%

ARRYUTHERREAREFEROMAIZAELZ
EARERRRIAR

BER™

REEFEARN  NEEBEARES5520,0007T
(20174 : AR #36,0007T) ©

ME -HEXROFLFH L
&%

REBEEEA - ARQRIRER2018F6 A5H £ 1T
ZREBEFREG ERFETH BRI RER
Fr& #£ B8 B111,164,0008% i 7 - & B AR () B8 21 4
HEEHIET: —

Number of

shares Highest Lowest Total
repurchased price paid price paid paid

BeE 2 ER ENER
Date of repurchase e A KRB EE (&&) (&IK) [EERE -]
HKD HKD HKD
BT BT BT
17 May 2018 201845 H17H 740,000 1.42 1.32 1,007,100
18 May 2018 201845 H18H 9,076,000 1.42 1.14 11,295,900
19 June 2018 201856 H19H 1,348,000 1.42 1.24 1,804,700
Total HEt 14,107,700

11,164,000
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All shares repurchased were cancelled and accordingly the Company’s
issued share capital was reduced by the nominal value of these shares.
The repurchases were effected for the benefit of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole by enhancing the value of the net assets and
earnings per share of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
during the year ended 31 December 2018.

EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR UNDER
REVIEW

On 7 January 2019, the Group has issued 178,280,000 consideration
share of China New City Commercial Development Limited to Hangzhou
Oriental Culture Tourism Group Co., Ltd for the payment of the further
acquisition of further equity interest in Zhejiang Xinnongdu.

Except the above, no significant events affecting the Group took place
subsequent to 31 December 2018 and up to date of this report.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young retired and a resolution for their reappointment as auditors
of the Company will be proposed at the AGM.

On Behalf of the Board of
China New City Commercial Development Limited

Shi Kancheng
Chairperson

The Hong Kong, 19 March 2019
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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To the shareholders of China New City Commercial Development
Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with
limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China New City
Commercial Development Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 109 to 279, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”), and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’'s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2018 Annual Report
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Key audit matter

MEEtER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BN ESMAERARENER

Valuation of investrment properties

KREYRZI1G1E

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s investment properties
amounted to RMB5,524 million, which represented 42% of
the Group’s total assets. Investment properties are stated
at fair value. Management is required to exercise significant
judgement in determining the fair value of investment properties
as disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.
MN20185F12H31B BEBEEKREMERARE
5,624,000,0007C - 1HER BHREREENI2% REWHET)
RAABETIR- %&ﬂﬂ??éﬁﬁk#&i’%mfsﬁﬁ%&%% BIRENE
EREMEZ RABER EfTE R FIE -

We evaluated the competence and independence of
the external valuation expert engaged by the Group. We
performed audit procedures including checking those signed
rental contracts, comparing the unit price of adjacent similar
properties that were benchmarked in the valuation process,
and assessing assumptions related to future market rents,
the discount rates and future maintenance costs applied
based on historical experiences with the involvement of our
internal valuation specialists, who focused on the term yield,
reversionary yield and market unit rent. We also assessed
the adequacy of the disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements.
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Key audit matter

HMEETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BN ESTMARRARENSER

Valuation of investment properties (continued)

REYFEZ 1418 (B)

The Group engaged an external valuation expert to perform
the valuation of investment properties. The valuation methods
applied included the direct comparison approach and income
approach which involved various assumptions, such as
estimated rental revenues, discount rates, occupancy rates,
historical transactions and market knowledge.
EEECDBBEIINBAEEERAETREMEZHE KB 2
BERERFBREEHLEARS REERE 2 WAL BiEMHTHE
WA FER HEE - BAERH RAIHHHE-

The related disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 13 to
the consolidated financial statements.
A ESH N R P BmEMT24 - 3%138 ¢

Net realisable value of completed properties held for sale and properties under development

FFIEHEZ EERYRRRRFYRZ LT FE

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s properties under
development and completed properties held for sale amounted
to RMB3,856 million, which represented 29% of the Group’s
total assets. These properties were stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. The net realisable value was estimated
by management based on expected selling prices less the
cost of completion of properties under development, and the
costs to be incurred in selling the properties based on prevailing
market conditions. The estimation of the net realisable value
involved significant judgement.

M20185F12A31H EBEBERTUWERSIEHREZER
BR ¥ % B A R #3,856,000,0007T - IHE R BEEEBEEZ
29% c ZEMHEABRER AR AT FFFET K - BEEENR
amR BREEREER TR ERPWERARBEENEKT
EEZRAGETAI IR E - Al SR EGT S REA K-

The related disclosures are included in notes 3, 14 and 19 to
the consolidated financial statements.

HEARERNGE P BHRRMES  14K19
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We reviewed the Group’s net realisable value estimation
and checked the expected selling prices to prices of
similar properties presold by the Group recently or adjacent
properties sold. For cost of completion of properties
under development and the cost to be incurred in selling
the properties, we evaluated management’s estimation
methodology which has been updated to reflect the latest
historical information and refined construction and selling
costs budget process.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN
THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE
DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’'s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2018 Annual Report
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Philip Leung, Wai Lap.

Yours faithfully,
Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

19 March 2019

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

n‘/T l:lj: ﬁﬁi%

VYear ended 31 December 2018 #ZE2018F 12831 H L F /&

2018 2017
20184 20174F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt ARET T ARBTT
Revenue 'ON 5} 1,924,619 295,986
Cost of sales BHE KA (1,584,128) (160,617)
Gross profit EF 340,491 135,369
Other income and gains Hoh g A R i a 5 53,706 77,844
Selling and distribution expenses HE MR (138,519) (152,252)
Administrative expenses THAX (198,455) (114,451)
Other expenses Hps (74,900) (6,939)
Finance costs W% E A 7 (110,330) (13,161)
Fair value (loss)/gain upon transfer HEBEEREMEZ
to investment properties RAEE (B8), W 13 (25,030) 523
Changes in fair value of REMED
investment properties NABEEZEH 13 22,223 825,157
(Loss)/profit before tax BREBLAT (E18) A8 6 (130,814) 752,090
Income tax expense ISR X 10 (91,183) (285,732)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(E8B) 7B (221,997) 466,358
Attributable to: LU AL
Owners of the parent ISUNEIETFEDN (243,524) 488,505
Non-controlling interests #T ARt 2 21,527 (22,147)
(221,997) 466,358
Losses/earnings per share attributable QAT ZTERERIZTEA
to ordinary equity holders EhEREE B
of the parent 171
Basic AR (RMB13 cents) RMB27 cents
(AR¥13%) AR#275
Diluted g (RMB13 cents) RMB27 cents
(AR¥13%) AR®E27 5
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARBTT
(Loss)/profit for the year ER(EE) B (221,997) 466,358
Other comprehensive income Hih2EU =
Other comprehensive income that may be REZ AR A e EFH HEE
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent 18z HY H b 2 HE UL
periods:
Exchange differences: ME W ZRE
Exchange differences on translation BMEIGINEFHE H Z 5
of foreign operations (4,106) 9,678
Net other comprehensive income REZHEJREEFTIES
that may be reclassified to profit or BamEtrmEmkasFE
loss in subsequent periods (4,106) 9,678
Other comprehensive income that will REZBHEASTISERIEE
not be reclassified to profit or loss in BammH A2 EUE
subsequent periods:
Equity investments designated at fair value 5 E A& A R BEF A
through other comprehensive income: B 2mKEr AL E
Change in fair value “/‘Dfﬁ = 9,000 -
Income tax effect FTiSBis 2 (2,250) -
Net other comprehensive income that REZBFETS E%ﬁ’ HE
will not be reclassified to profit or loss BamEs2mElEFE
in subsequent periods 6,750 -
Total comprehensive income FREZEKEHLE
for the year (219,353) 476,036
Attributable to: AT EEAL
Owners of the parent ISYNCIETFEDN (240,880) 498,183
Non-controlling interests IEERER 21,527 (22,147)
(219,353) 476,036

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Aok o BB IR DL AR

31 December 2018 2018512 A31H

31 December 31 December

2018 2017
20185 20174
12H31H 12H31H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
k3 ARBT T ARBEF T
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property and equipment eI L 12 2,058,952 1,996,168
Investment properties A 13 5,502,607 5,472,345
Properties under development [k gask /S 14 933,400 640,170
Available-for-sale investments AHEERE 15 - 359,300
Equity investments designated at fair value 15 A& A A EBEF A
through other comprehensive income Ef2EKErRAEE 15 416,814
Long term prepayments REITEII 3K 16 230,981 188,707
Deferred tax assets RIEFTE & B 17 4,553 11,057
Restricted cash R HI3R & 22 6,565 139,927
Total non-current assets BIETMEN A E 9,153,872 8,807,674
Current assets REBEE
Completed properties held for sale BIEHEERTIYME 19 2,009,041 1,282,967
Properties under development RS 14 913,669 2,211,244
Inventories FE 22,842 11,425
Trade and bills receivables EREZERREER 20 21,501 19,275
Prepayments, other receivables TEATRIE - HAtb FEIGRIE &
and other assets Eh&EE 21 403,579 143,306
Amounts due from related companies JE U B B I FRIR 31 24,541 39,288
Financial assets at fair value % ’Afﬁf?‘ifﬁ.ﬁr/\?é 52
through profit or loss CREE 42,093 71,504
Restricted cash SR HIIR % 22 69,850 149,224
Cash and cash equivalents HeEkReZEED 22 548,907 323,312
Investment properties classified DERBEHEZREME
as held for sale 13 21,693 194,955
Total current assets BREEE 4,077,716 4,446,500
Current liabilities REBBEE
Trade payables FERTE SRR 23 690,793 750,374
Other payables and accruals H A e FIE K ST B 24 184,946 179,123
Contract liabilities BREE 25 1,123,792
Advances from customers BEIERM R 25 - 1,088,863
Amounts due to related companies JFE1S A B ’A EIE/SE 31 986,909 696,221
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings ﬁ SIRITER MK AMER 26 922,460 1,180,739
Tax payable FERT R IE 10 426,644 336,177
Total current liabilities BREEE 4,335,544 4,231,497
Net current (liabilities)/assets B (BE) EEFHE (257,828) 215,003

F B 33k m?ﬁ%?"@ﬁ G|
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

BB TR DL

31 December 2018 2018 12831H

31 December

31 December

2018 2017
20184 20174
128318 12A31H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt AR¥T ARBFT
Total assets less current liabilities BWEERRBAE 8,896,044 9,022,677
Non-current liabilities ERBAE
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings T B8R 17 & 7 M & b (& 3 26 2,045,625 1,927,000
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIE B (E 17 952,376 1,087,321
Total non-current liabilities RIEMBAE 2,998,001 3,014,321
Net assets BEE 5,898,043 6,008,356
Equity xR
Equity attributable to owners of the parent & A RIEH A FE(G
Share capital f& s 27 144,850 147,503
Reserves i 29 5,438,136 5,689,619
5,582,986 5,837,122
Non-controlling interests FFIERER 315,057 171,234
Total equity R 5,898,043 6,008,356

Dong Shuixiao
BAR
Director

EFE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

ook T BE 2R

)

Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BARERARL
Share Fair Statutory  Exchange Non-
Share premium Capital value Other surplus  fluctuation Retained controlling Total
capital account reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
K MEE EE Ed 2R
e BER  RAERE [ HfEE BREE  REEE  REEH @it E# L 3
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARETn ARETn ARETn ARETn ARETr ARETr ARETr ARETr ARETx
Note 27 Notes278296)  Note 29) Note 28 Note 29)
Mezor faoko  HEl Wizs Mg
At1 January 2017 R2017%1518 138,034 426,019 1,281,751 - 5974 81,716 228,324 3,009,835 5,171,653 170,406 5,342,059
Proft for the year EREF = = = = = = - 488,505 488,505 (2.147) 466,358
Other comprehensive income FhEmZENE:
for the year:
Exchange differences related i 3h
to foreign operations EREE - - - - - - 9,678 - 9,678 - 9,678
Total comprehensive income
forthe year ERRENELEE . . . - . - 0f78 48505 498183 (247 4760%
Issue of shares ik 9469 157,817 - - - - - - 167,286 - 167,286
Capttal contributions by
non-controling interests FEREDIE - - - - - - - - - 2975 2975
At 31 December 2017 20175124318 147,503 583836 1,281,751" - 5974 81,716* 288,002 3498340 5837,122 171,234 6,008,356
Loss for the year ERhEE - - - - - - - (d3524)  (24352) A5 (221,997)
Other comprehensive income EREMR AN
for the year:
Bxchange diferences related BEBNEHL
1o foreign operations EREE - - - - - - (4,106) - (4,106) - (4,106)
Changes in fair value of equity ERAEMAER
investment designated at fairvale s AZt2ENEA
through other comprehensive BARENAAER
income, net of tax 28 MBHE - - - 6,750 - - - - 6,750 - 6,750
Total comprehensive income FREENAER
for the year 5 5 5 6750 5 - (4105 (4352  (40880) 2157 (219359)
Repurchase of shares BERH (2,653) (10,603) - - - - - - (13,256) - (13,256)
Capital contributions by FARERTA
non-controling interests - - - - - - - - - 122,296 122,296
At 31 December 2018 R2018E12A31H 144,850 573,233*  1,281,751* 6,750* 5974 81,716* 233,896 3,254816* 5,582,986 315,057 5,898,043
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * WERERBRSZETBERIRRNEEREHEAR

RMBS5,438,136,000 (2017: RMB5,689,619,000) in the consolidated statement of

financial position.

#5,438,136,0007T (20174 : A R #5,689,619,000

JT) e
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

e Bl

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

2018 2017
20184 20174
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt AR®T ARBTT
Cash flows from operating activities REXBNRERE
(Loss)/profit before tax BB (518) /F)E (130,814) 752,090
Adjustments for: T
Depreciation e 12 49,671 17,191
Fair value loss/(gain) upon transfer to EREREMENDAER
investment properties B8 () 13 25,030 (523)
Changes in fair value of investment KEMENRABELES
properties 13 (22,223) (825,157)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of HEREMEIER 2
investment properties &8, () 6 29,554 (63,221)
Investment income from financial assets BRAREEFABZRZ
at fair value through profit or loss SREEZIRE W ] (29,072) (823)
Changes in fair value of financial assets BRANBEFABRZ
at fair value through profit or loss EMEEZAAEBEED 6 30,586 (699)
Finance costs MBER 7 110,330 13,161
63,062 (107,981)
Decrease in properties under development B %% /1 477 % 55 > 1,093,000 373,560
Increase in investment properties and LAY E R EEE YL N
investment properties under construction (24,924) (858,814)
Increase in completed properties HENE D B T EEig
held for sale (806,080) (560,767)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and bills JEWE 5 R R R =&
receivables (3gm),E (2,226) 367
Increase in deposits and other receivables & % Kz E 4 & U R IE 128 A0 (13,532) (9,583)
Increase in prepayments and other assets T8 {<F 5k & £ 4th & EE 1 N (246,741) (31,369)
(Increase)/decrease in long term REATEA R (3800) R
prepayments (42,274) 122,558
Increase in inventories FEEM (11,417) (1,986)
Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash TEE IS RIBX R HIER &
for pre-sales proceeds wA () 41,085 (60,790)
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables FERTE SRR CRlA>) /350 (59,581) 23,375
(Decrease)/increase in other payables Hfth pE A R IE K FEET B A
and accruals (R ),/ #hn (9,467) 81,738
Increase in sales proceeds received BUEF 2 $HE TS 5IEE N
from customers 59,347 780,743
Cash generated from operations REEREENRS 40,252 261,051
Interest paid EENEES) (194,279) (215,883)
Income tax and land appreciation tax paid 2 FT 15 8% & £ 18 E 5 (131,407) (89,344)
Net cash flows used in REEREANRSREFEE
operating activities (285,434) (44,176)

1 14 China New City Commercial Development Limited
2018 Annual Report



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HABlEmER
Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z20185F12A31H ILFE

2018 2017
20184 20174
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt AR¥T ARBTT
Cash flows from investing activities REXRELENRESRE
Investment on equity investments BE BB AABETA
designated at fair value through other Hih2mEK =
comprehensive income BRI ENIRE (48,514) (400,982)
Investments on financial assets at fair value &R R EE ABH 2
through profit or loss EREERE (89,822) =
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at HH &2 A A BET ABR 2
fair value through profit or loss TREEFTEHIA 117,719 =
Proceeds from disposal of a joint venture ~ H&—M& & Q&8 2 FTSHIA - 759
Purchases of items of property and BEWERKZEER
equipment (126,776) (252,834)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEYHE R REEB FRBHRIEA
property and equipment 14,321 29
Increase in investment properties WEYERIERRE YL
and investment properties under
construction (107,732) (169,5006)
Proceeds from disposal of HEREYMEFERIA
investment properties 298,883 920,671
Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash SRHIB SR (3Gm) 171,651 (63,870)
Net cash flows generated from REXEBELENRERERE
investing activities 229,730 34,267
Cash flows from financing activities METHELENRSRE
Proceeds from issue of shares BITIRM TSR - 167,286
Received from related parties S dE L NG 305,435 48,484
Capital contributions by non-controlling DEBRRZERNFE
shareholders 122,296 22,975
New interest-bearing bank and other Fat BIRITERK
borrowings H a5 1,658,216 1,057,740
Repayment of interest-bearing bank and EEFERITERK
other borrowings E A AR (1,797,870) (1,250,610)
Repurchase of shares B8 [ f% 15 (13,256) =
Net cash flows generated RMEEERELEN
from financing activities BERETFE 274,821 45875
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents IR 4 & IR 4 S(EYIE %58 219,117 35,966
Cash and cash equivalents at FYREMBCEEY
beginning of year 323,312 298,308
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [& R & 8ha) 5 £ - JH 48 6,478 (10,962)
Cash and cash equivalents FRESRRESEEY
at end of year 548,907 323,312
Analysis of balances of cash and ReRRESEEYERDIN
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances B MIRITEH 22 548,907 323,312

hEFMmAEERAR QA
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Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION

China New City Commercial Development Limited (the “Company”)
is a limited liability company incorporated as an exempted company
in the Cayman Islands on 2 July 2013 under the Companies Law
(revised) of the Cayman Islands. The registered office address of the
Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) were members of Zhong
An Real Estate Limited (“Zhong An”) and its subsidiaries (“Zhong
An Group”). Zhong An, the shares of which have been listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange”) since November 2007, is the holding company of
Zhong An Group.

The Group is principally engaged in commercial property
development, leasing and hotel operations.

In the opinion of the Company’s directors (the “Directors”),
the ultimate holding company of the Company is Whole Good
Management Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands on 3 May 2007.

The Company was separately listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “SEHK”) with the stock code
“1321” on 10 July 2014 and raised capital amounting to HK$608
million from the market.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2018 Annual Report
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CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about major subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s major subsidiaries are as follows:

Place and date of

Notes to Financial Statements
P 5 R B

Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

1. FIRKERH (&)

TEMBLEER
ARREBHBARZENT

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Company

ERREERER DL
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Principal
Name of company registration and business registered share capital 2018 2017 activities
EMAL MK
AR EB EXBERAH BRITLE/ERRE 20185 2017F EEBEH
Zhejiang Zhong An Property PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000 81.0% 81.0%  Property development
Development Xiaoshan Co.,Ltd. 3 April 1997
MWIRLZEHWERUREERARY RE/E R AR #2,000,00070 MEER
199744 43R
Chunan Minfu Property Co., Ltd. © PRC/Mainland China RMB6,000,000 100.0% 100.0%  Property development
24 October 2003
FRREREEEERAAO RE/E R AR #6,000,0007C MEER
2003104248
Shanghai Zhong An Property PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd. @ 19 January 2004
FERZEHWEREERARY RE /P E R AR #10,000,0007¢ MEER
200414198
Zhejiang Huijun Real Estate Co., Ltd. @ PRC/Mainland China US$77,600,000 99.7% 99.7%  Property development
1 April 2005
HIERBXERAAR HE/ R E R 77,600,000% 70 NEER
200564418
Hangzhou Zhong An Highlong Commercial PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Property management
Buildings Co., Ltd. 20 September 2005
MMRZEEEEARA R L/ HER, AR ¥#2,000,00070 NEZR
2005%9A208
Hangzhou Zheng Jiang Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 92.5% 92.5%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd. @ 16 March 2006
MNEIRtEREERAA HE/ R E R AR #50,000,00070 MERR
2006437168

hEFMmAEERAR QA
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Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

RSy AmRAmAR )
Information about major subsidiaries FEMBLXRER (&)
(continued)

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Company
Place and date of AATEEREE S
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Principal
Name of company registration and business registered share capital 2018 2017 activities
EMARILERR
ARER EXBERAH BRTLE/ERRE 20185 2017% EEH
Henlly Enterprise Management PRC/Mainland China US$149,061,280 100.0% 100.0%  Property development
(Hangzhou) Co., Ltd. @ 4 December 2006
BERAEER (M) BERAR HEL/HE R, 149,061,280 7T NERR
200612448
Hangzhou Xiaoshan Zhong An Holiday PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Hotel management
Inn Co., Ltd. © 28 May 2007
MNBLRZRABEERARY HE/ R E R AR #10,000,0007 BEEE
2007458288
Hefei Zhong An Holiday Inn Co., Ltd. ¢ PRC/Mainland China RMB350,000,000 100.0% 100.0%  Hotel management
18 March 2008
ARRRBAEEERAAY R/ E R AR #350,000,0007C BEEE
2008437188
Yuyao Zhong An Times Square PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Property management
Commercial Management Co., Ltd. ® 6 December 2011
AUBRBERESHEERERAAY  FE/TERL AR 2,000,000 NEER
201141268
Yuyao Zhong An Times Square PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd. 5 August 2013
ARBRRBERESAEERAFY HE/HER, AR#100,000,0007C NEER
2013%8A5H
Yuyao Zhong An Times Square PRC/Mainland China US$16,000,000 93.0% 93.0%  Property development
Property Co., Ltd. @ 13 August 2013
ARBRRBERESEEERAFP B/ HER, 16,000,0005% 7T NEER
2013%8A 138
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CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

Information about major subsidiaries

(continued)

Place and date of

Percentage of equity

attributable to the Company

1. DFRKERH (&)

FEMNBLRAEN (&)

ARREERER DL
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Principal
Name of company registration and business registered share capital 2018 2017 activities
EMARILERR
ARER EXBERAH BRTLE/ERRE 20185 2017% EEP
Zhejiang Zhong An Sheng Long PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Property management
Commercial Co., Ltd. © 9 September 2013
HIRREEEEERARY HE/ R R AR #50,000,0007C nEER
2013%F9A9H
Cixi Zhong An Property Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Property development
6 December 2013
BERRBEERAAY HE/RE R AR 50,000,007 NEER
2013%F12A6H
Hangzhou Zhong An Sheng Long PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Property development
Liyumen Property Co., Ltd. ¢ 21 April 2014
MRz EEEBMHEXERAR HE/HERL, AR #20,000,0007C NEER
201447218
Hangzhou Xixi Huijin Property Co., Ltd."  PRC/Mainland China US$50,000,000 100.0% 100.0%  Property management
18 November 2015
MNERESEEERAR" HE/ R E R 50,000,000 7% NEER
20156114188
Zhejiang Bairuite Hotel Management Co.  PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Hotel management
Ltd.CH0 19 May 2016
WL AR EBEERERAR B/ HE R, AR #10,000,0007¢ BEER
201657198
Zhejiang New Screen Theater PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100.0% 100.0%  Theater management
Management Co., Ltd.“ 29 November 2016
MIFRYREEEBERAR HE/HER, AR #10,000,0007 FhRER
20164113290
Hangzhou Qiu Eye Hospital Co., Ltd. I PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 72.0% 72.0%  Hospital management
12 August 2016
MIRZRHBRER AR HE/HER, AR #50,000,000 BiER
201687128
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. DFRKERH (&)

Information about major subsidiaries FTERBARESR (&)
(continued)
Percentage of equity
attributable to the Company
Place and date of AATEEREE S
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Principal
Name of company registration and business registered share capital 2018 2017 activities
EMARILERR
ARER EXBERAH BRTLE/ERRE 20185 2017% EEH
Zhejiang Hengfa Real Estate Co., Ltd.“ PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 46.0% 46.0%  Property development
6 June 2014
HIERBXEERAAY HE/ R E R AR 50,000,000 NERR
201446468
Huaibei Brilliant Hotel Co., Ltd.c PRC/Mainland China RMB6,900,000 100.0% 72.0%  Hotel management
16 October 2013
FELRREBER B ARG HE/HERL, AR #6,900,0007 BEER
2013%10A316H
Laizhou New Screen Theater Management  PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Theater management
Co., Ltd.® 2 May 2017
FNFBEYREEERERAR B/ HE R, AR #1,000,0007 FhER
201745A28
Qingdao Zhong An Xifu Investment and PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 46.0% 46.0%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.“ 4 July 2017
ERRRERRESRERATY /R E R AR #100,000,00070 NEER
20174748
Kunming New Screen Theater PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Theater management
Management Co., Ltd. @1 27 April 2017
ERH BN AL ERERAR HE/HER, ARH1,000,0007C FhE®
201744A278
Yuyao New Screen Theater Management  PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Theater management
Co., Ltd.0® 26 September 2017
A RYREEEEERAF B/ HER, AR #1,000,0007 FhRER
201749A26H
Hefei Xinmu Cinema Management PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 90.0% N/A Theater management
Co., Ltd. @K 19 March 2018
REMBEYRERERA A B/ HER, AR #1,000,0007 TER YhER
2018434198

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about major subsidiaries

(continued)

Place and date of

Notes to Financial Statements
P 5 R B

Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

1. DFRKERH (&)

FEMNBLRAEN (&)

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Company

ARREERER DL
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Principal
Name of company registration and business registered share capital 2018 2017 activities
EMARILERR
ARER EXBERAH BRTLE/ERRE 20185 2017% EEP
Hangzhou Xiaoshan Maggie & PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 50.1% N/A~ Education development
Rose Culture Co., Ltd. @ 20 September 2018
N ILERE AU BRA R HE/HE R, AR #1,000,0007 TER HEER
2018%F9A208
Hangzhou Zhongan Jinyun Investment PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 90.0% N/A" Investment management
Co., Ltd. @ 7 December 2018
MNRZHRBREBRA A HE,/E R AR #50,000,0007T TER REER
2018%F12A7H
Yunnan Pujin Real Estate Development PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 49.5% N/A~ Property development
Co., Ltd. @ 6 September 2017
ZHEREHEREHRA R HE,/E R AR #10,000,0007T TER  WEER
201749A6H
Zhenjiang Anyuan Agricultural PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 90.0% N/A~ Agricultural development
Development Co., Ltd. @19 7 February 2018
BETZREERRER AR HE/ R E R AR #200,000,00070 TEA  BEER
2018%2A7H
Foshan Xinmu Cinema Management PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 90.0% N/A Theater management
Co., Ltd. @t 11 October 2017
BUTHBYREEEEERATY  E/ hENL AR #5,000,0007 TER YhRER
2017104118
Xuzhou Wanxiang Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 45.9% N/A~ Property development
Development Co., Ltd. @ 28 September 2018
BNTEREEERERAR W HE /R E R AR #50,000,0007 TER  WEER
2018%9A28H
Hangzhou Xinhuan Cinema Management  PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 45.0% N/A~ Theater management
Co., Ltd. @K 25 April 2018
MMFRFREEERERAFED HE/HER, AR ¥1,000,00070 TER YRER
2018%4A25H

hEFMmAEERAR QA
—Z-N\EER

121



Notes to Financial Statements

S 25 e i e

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. AFIREESZFH (&)
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about major subsidiaries FTERBARESR (&)
(continued)
Percentage of equity
attributable to the Company
Place and date of AATEEREE L
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Principal
Name of company registration and business registered share capital 2018 2017 activities
MR/ EME
AL BEWURAH CRITLE/SMBRAE 20184 2017  FEEH
Ningbo New Screen Theater PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 69.2% N/A Theater management
Management Co., Ltd. @ 10 May 2018
ERNEYRERERAR RE/RE R AE#1,000,0007 TER  ERER
2018458108
Taizhou New Screen Theater PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 69.2% N/A Theater management
Management Co., Ltd. @ 31 October 2018
ZNF BRI ERERA T HE/HERL, ARH1,000,0007C THER FhER
20184104318
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in ERINEHARRZHBLAR  EERAH
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the FEXEAEEFRNERNBRNAERE
year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. EFENEADD EERA ML HA
To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the WBARKNFEESRBREN TR
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
Notes: ok
N/A Not yet incorporated/established/acquired or liquidated by the Group i AN B AR EM AL Bz W skE B
(@) These subsidiaries were established by the Group in 2018. (@) Z LM B A A FR2018F F AL B S
(b) Types of legal entities: (b) EEE R
1) Wholly-foreign-owned enterprise (1) SNEBEE
@) Sino-foreign equity joint venture ©) FONEBERE
©) Limited liability company invested by a foreign invested enterprise ) INERERREFEAF]
@) Limited liability company @) BREERAR]
(© The capital of these subsidiaries has not been fully injected in 2018. () Z LM B A R 2 & AFR2018%F [ R B EUE
Ae

1 2 2 China New City Commercial Development Limited
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”), which comprise standards and interpretations
approved by the International Accounting Standards Board
(the “IASB”), and International Accounting Standards and
Standing Interpretations Committee interpretations approved
by the International Accounting Standards Committee that
remain in effect, accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for investment
properties, derivative financial instruments and equity
investments which have been measured at fair value as
explained in the accounting policies set out below. These
financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and
all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 December 2018. A subsidiary is an entity (including
a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

2. MREBEERERTHE

2.1
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e ((ERgEAEZEE]) ME
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BAEEREHBFE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 21 REEE (&)
Basis of consolidation (continued) mEE%E(E)
When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a WA ABEEEEEE DRIRE L
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the RAZ I EREFFALER - AR E
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in ERFEHEEAHEAHRERRE
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including: WEeEE—EBEERER &

&
(@ the contractual arrangement with the other vote @ HEMKREHRIBREREA
holders of the investee; ZEREHE:
(o)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and (o) HMEHNLHEELZETR: &
()  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.  AEBIEEEREBERE
-

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared MBAR MR 2 MERED
for the same reporting period as the Company, using FEARQRMEE FA B2 ST
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries KoMBRATMERE ANEBEEE
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains HliEzBRE2EAHAR BEEXE
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that Tl ARLE -

such control ceases.
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Notes to Financial Statements
P 5 R B

Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BB EREHBE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 21 REEE (&)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control described
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i)
the fair value of any investment retained and (jii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

REEE (F)

R AE R A R EREIEE HE
RBBESEESATEEE LI
B A - BDGEE BIER RE A A B
BB ARAEBERE DR MR
SHFAEEMAERAR Fk-
WA BERRSRERA M N
#44 o

i =BT R A Lt oy = 1852
SRRz -—BARZAKREE K&
e THESTENRESHR
MIB AR ARERNESHEEERR
EHIET IR R FRIE -

AR 5 B 28 AR S B B 1 B O PR A
AR ERNBARMNEE (B1F
) RBE  (VEMIEERERA R
1B R (i) e NS ) REHE N =
B RER()EWARERRAEE (i)
R BIRE R A MEE K (i) T
EEREB B E A - N EEEN
PATE R EL fh 2 T UK 25 N RERR A SR 4R
BRAEEEE L EEBEESARE
FTARE KB R B E 3 5 M ABam sk
R &N (WEA) -
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Notes to Financial Statements

S 25 e i e

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and

disclosures

The Group has adopted the following new and revised IFRSs

for the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 2

Amendments to IFRS 4

IFRS 9
IFRS 15

Amendments to IFRS 15

IFRIC 22

Amendments to IAS 40

Amendments to IFRS 1
included in Annual
Improvements 2014-2016
Cycle

Amendments to IAS 28
included in Annual

Classification and Measurement
of Share-based Payment
Transactions

Applying IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with IFRS 4
Insurance Contracts

Financial Instruments

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

Clarifications to IFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts
with Customers

Foreign Currency
Transactions and Advance
Consideration

Transfers of Investment
Property

First-time Adoption of
International Financial
Reporting Standards

Investments in Associates
and Joint Ventures

2. MEUBEREHE

()

il

22 EHEREHLIRE

AEBCNAFEPIERE & IRA
WA 38T R R 1E 5T BBR B 7 Sl i

Al
EillS b e e WRAZHRFZ
AR PERHE
B B A 54 FEEGBHE
BETA B RS
AB—HER
BB FHREER
295-281A
Bl B A 0% F2BIA
B B R 2RI 15%, EEAHNA
BB B R B 5155, BRI FHEES
AR Z155-FFEH
WAHZE
BBHEREREZEE  JERGREMNE
F00%
ReirERZOREBIA  ERAKENE
BB BHAER 15 BAERRE G HHE
BAA(RER014EE Ef

16FEHHEELER)

Rt EAIEBRETA

(BEROMEE

REERARAERA

HRE

Improvements 2014-2016
Cycle

Except for the amendments to IFRS 4 and Annual
Improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle, which are
not relevant to the preparation of the Group’s financial
statements, the nature and the impact of the new and revised
IFRSs are described below:
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (continued)

(a)

Amendments to IFRS 2 address three main areas: the
effects of vesting conditions on the measurement of
a cash-settled share-based payment transaction; the
classification of a share-based payment transaction
with net settlement features for withholding a certain
amount in order to meet an employee’s tax obligation
associated with the share-based payment; and
accounting where a modification to the terms and
conditions of a share-based payment transaction
changes its classification from cash-settled to equity-
settled. The amendments clarify that the approach
used to account for vesting conditions when
measuring equity-settled share-based payments
also applies to cash-settled share-based payments.
The amendments introduce an exception so that
a share-based payment transaction with net share
settlement features for withholding a certain amount
in order to meet the employee’s tax obligation is
classified in its entirety as an equity-settled share-
based payment transaction when certain conditions
are met. Furthermore, the amendments clarify that
if the terms and conditions of a cash-settled share-
based payment transaction are modified, with the
result that it becomes an equity-settled share-based
payment transaction, the transaction is accounted for
as an equity-settled transaction from the date of the
modification. The amendments have had no impact
on the financial position or performance of the Group
as the Group does not have any cash-settled share-
based payment transactions and has no share-based
payment transactions with net settlement features for
withholding tax.
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Notes to Financial Statements

S 25 e i e

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (continued)

(b)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaces IAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018,
bringing together all three aspects of the accounting for
financial instruments: classification and measurement,
impairment and hedge accounting.

The Group has recognised the transition adjustments
against the applicable opening balances in equity at 1
January 2018. Therefore, the comparative information
was not restated and continues to be reported under
IAS 39.

Classification and measurement

The following information sets out the impacts of
adopting IFRS 9 on the statement of financial position,
including the effect of replacing IAS 39’s incurred credit
loss calculations with IFRS 9’s expected credit losses
(“ECLSs").

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2018 Annual Report

2. MEUBEREHE

()

il

22 EFRRSBRKE (H)

(b)

B B B 7% S5 A RI B 2
TAM2018F1 A1H %K 2%
BHFEHAERABER g E
B30k 2 @ T A - iR R At
B EEeRMTASTEEN
FIAE=@EAE: D EKTE R
BREPGFERE-

RNEBE D HR20185F1 F1B T4
RS B SRR AR A
BoAt WESYIHEERE
e BB AR 4R B PR g 5 2 I 8395R
23R

DR EE

VAT B R 80 51) 5% 4 B R B 7% 3R
FERNFEH IR RAF
2 BRERMEHREERE
SEBEEER ((RHREES
1B 1) R EIRR & 51 £ R 53957
EEAEEEBEFENTE-



Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. WMEEEREEE

AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and 22 SHBERESHRIFE (&)

disclosures (continued)

(b) (continued) (b)
Classification and measurement (continued)

A reconciliation between the change of carrying
amounts under IAS 39 and the balances reported
under IFRS 9, which had effect on financial accounts
as at 1 January 2018 is as follows:

(%)

SR E (E)

20181 A1H BB &t %#
AI55395R T8 TR AR E (B & B 2
RIS TR R SEOSRIB T AT
2HmmsEer (HUBEREBK
FE)ZHENT:

1AS 39 measurement IFRS 9 measurement
EES-fed] BREHREEN
IO E FORiE
Re-
Notes Category Amount classification ECL Other Amount  Category
BH
it 5l &8 ENNE GHEFR ) £ ER
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT
Financial assets SREE
Equity investments designated at ~ 157E BIZA A BB A FVOCl!
fair value through other i 2 EHEE (equity)
comprehensive income BARE N/A - 359,300 - - 350300 RAREE
A HPN-
2EMhE
(#)
From: B:
Avallable-for-sale investments ] 1 £ & ] AFS? 359,300 (359,300) - - -
e
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Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. MEBEBEERGRTHE
")

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (continued)

(b)

il

22 EFRRSBRKE (H)

(continued) b) (&)
Classification and measurement (continued) DHREE (E)
1AS 39 measurement IFRS 9 measurement
Bl =g EPREH T4 52EB
E30E HoRcE
Re-
Notes Category Amount classification ECL Other Amount  Category
ik
g3 <)) 8 BYAE  EEEB Hit 28 EHl
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT
Trade receivables EWE SR i L8R? 19,275 - - - 19,275 AC*
BRk B e A
eI
Financial assets incluced in FABMTE £
prepayments, other receivables,  ERFELEMEE
and other assets NemAE L8R 86,539 - - - 86,539 AC
BAk AR
[EMFIE
Long term prepayments REERHK L8R 116,417 - - - 116,417 AC
Bk BHRA
YA
Financial assets at fair value BAREEFABRE
through profit or loss SREE FVPL® 71,504 - - - 71,504 FVPL
BRANEE BAREE
SAER FAER
(mandatory)
(€:5))
Amounts due from ERERARTE
related companies L&R 39,288 - - - 39,288 AC
EFR BHRA
FEYzE
Restricted cash XRHRE L8R 289,151 - - - 289,151 AC
BRk AR
FEdEE
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEN L8R 323,312 - - - 323,312 AC
EFR BHRA
FEYzE
Total assets BEE 1,304,786 1,304,786
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (continued)

(b)

(continued)

Classification and measurement (continued)

FVOCI: Financial assets at fair value through other

comprehensive income

AFS: Available-for-sale investments

L&R: Loans and receivables

AC: Financial assets or financial liabilities at amortised cost

FVPL: Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

The Group has elected the option to irrevocably designate
certain of its previous available-for-sale equity investments
as equity investments at fair value through other

comprehensive income.

The gross carrying amounts of the trade receivables
and the contract assets under the column “IAS 39
measurement — Amount” represent the amounts after
adjustments for the adoption of IFRS 15 but before the
measurement of ECLs. Further details of the adjustments
for the adoption of IFRS 15 are included in note 2.2(c) to

the financial statements.

Impairment

The adoption of IFRS 9 has had no significant impact

on the impairment of the financial assets of the Group.
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Notes to Financial Statements

S 25 e i e

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (continued)

(c)

IFRS 15 and its amendments replace IAS 11
Construction Contracts, IAS 18 Revenue and related
interpretation and it applies, with limited exceptions, to
all revenue arising from contracts with customers. IFRS
15 establishes a new five-step model to account for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under
IFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which an entity expects
to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or
services to a customer. The principles in IFRS 15
provide a more structured approach for measuring
and recognising revenue. The standard also introduces
extensive qualitative and quantitative disclosure
requirements, including disaggregation of total revenue,
information about performance obligations, changes
in contract asset and liability account balances
between periods and key judgements and estimates.
The disclosures are included in notes 3 and 5 to the
financial statements. As a result of the application of
IFRS 15, the Group has changed the accounting policy
with respect to revenue recognition in note 2.4 to the
financial statements.

The Group has adopted IFRS 15 using the modified
retrospective method of adoption. Under this method,
the standard can be applied either to all contracts
at the date of initial application or only to contracts
that are not completed at this date. The Group has
elected to apply the standard to contracts that are not
completed as at 1 January 2018.

The cumulative effect of the initial application of IFRS
15 was not material and no adjustment was made to
the opening balance of retained profits as at 1 January
2018. The comparative information was not restated
and continues to be reported under IAS 11, IAS 18 and
related interpretation.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (continued)

(c)

(continued)

The detailed changes upon adoption of IFRS 15 are
described below:

Accounting for revenue from sale of properties

Prior to the adoption of IFRS 15, the Group accounted
for revenue from the sale of properties when significant
risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred
to the customers on delivery in their entirety at a single
time upon vacant possession.

Under IFRS 15, for properties that have no alternative
use to the Group due to contractual reasons and
when the Group has an enforceable right to payment
from customers for performance completed to date,
the Group recognises revenue as the performance
obligation is satisfied over time in accordance with the
input method for measuring progress. The excess of
cumulative revenue recognised in profit or loss over
the cumulative billings to purchasers of properties
is recognised as contract assets. The excess of
cumulative billings to purchasers of properties over
the cumulative revenue recognised in profit or loss is
recognised as contract liabilities.

After the assessment, the Group has considered
that it has an enforceable right to payment from the
purchasers for performance completed to date for
few properties only. Majority of revenue from sale of
properties will continue to be recognised at a point
in time, when the purchasers obtain control of the
properties, ie. when the purchasers obtain the physical
possession or the legal title of the completed properties
and the Group has present right to payment from
the purchasers. The adoption of IFRS 15 has had no
significant impact on the timing of revenue recognition.
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (continued)

(c)

(continued)

Accounting for significant financing component for
sales of properties

Prior to the adoption of IFRS 15, the Group presented
sales proceeds received from customers in connection
with the Group’s pre-sales of properties as receipts in
advance from customers in the consolidated statement
of financial position. No interest was accrued on the
long-term advances received under the previous
accounting policy.

Upon adoption of IFRS 15, the Group recognised
contract liabilities for the interest on the sales proceeds
received from customers with a significant financing
component. The Group elected to apply the practical
expedient and did not recognise the effects of a
significant financing component with a customer
if the time period is one year or less. In addition,
reclassifications have been made from advance from
customers to contract liabilities for the outstanding
balance of sales proceeds from customers. The
adoption of IFRS 15 has had no significant impact
on the opening retained profits as at 1 January 2018.
Receipts in advance of RMB1,088,863,000 that were
previously classified under advance from customers
has been reclassified to contract liabilities as at 1
January 2018.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (continued)

(c)

(d)

(continued)

Accounting for sales commissions

Prior to the adoption of IFRS 15, the Group expensed
off the sales commission associated with obtaining
agreement for sale and purchase with property
buyers. Upon adoption of IFRS 15, sales commissions
incurred directly attributable to obtaining a contract,
if recoverable, are capitalised and recorded in other
assets. Capitalised sales commissions are charged
to profit or loss when the revenue from the related
property sale is recognised and are included as selling
and marketing expenses at that time. The Group
elected to apply the practical expedient and did
not recognise the effects of the sales commission if
the time or period is one year or less. The adoption
of IFRS 15 has had no significant impact on the
opening retained profits as at 1 January 2018. Sales
commissions of RMB39,047,000 as a type of an
incremental cost were capitalised for the twelve months
to 31 December 2018.

Amendments to IAS 40 clarify when an entity should
transfer property, including property under construction
or development, into or out of investment property.
The amendments state that a change in use occurs
when the property meets, or ceases to meet, the
definition of investment property and there is evidence
of the change in use. A mere change in management’s
intentions for the use of a property does not provide
evidence of a change in use. The amendments have
had no impact on the financial position or performance
of the Group.
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (continued)

(e)

IFRIC 22 provides guidance on how to determine the
date of the transaction when applying IAS 21 to the
situation where an entity receives or pays advance
consideration in a foreign currency and recognises
a non-monetary asset or liability. The interpretation
clarifies that the date of the transaction for the
purpose of determining the exchange rate to use
on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or
income (or part of it) is the date on which an entity
initially recognises the non-monetary asset (such as a
prepayment) or non-monetary liability (such as deferred
income) arising from the payment or receipt of the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments
or receipts in advance of recognising the related item,
the entity must determine the transaction date for
each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.
The interpretation has had no impact on the Group’s
financial statements as the Group’s accounting policy
for the determination of the exchange rate applied
for initial recognition of non-monetary assets or non-
monetary liabilities is consistent with the guidance
provided in the interpretation.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective
International Financial Reporting

Standards

The Group has not applied the following new and revised

IFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these financial statements.
Amendments to IFRS 3

IFRS 16

IFRS 17

IFRIC 23

Amendments to IFRS 9

Amendments to IFRS 10 and
IAS 28

Amendments to IAS 19

Amendments to IAS 28

Annual Improvements
2015-2017 Cycle

Amendments to IAS 1
and IAS 8

Definition of a Business?

Leases’

Insurance Contracts®

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments’

Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation’

Sales or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement’

Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures'

Amendments to IFRS 3, IFRS 11,
IAS 12 and IAS 23’

Definition of MateriaF

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

i No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption
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Notes to Financial Statements
P 5 R B

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BAEEREHBFE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (48)
(CONTINUED)

-

2.3 Issued but not yet effective 2.3 © ME#F1E & Rk 4 XA B PR B

International Financial Reporting
Standards (continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
the impact of these new and revised IFRSs upon initial
application. So far, the Group considers that these new and
revised IFRSs are unlikely to have a significant impact on the
Group’s results of operations and financial position.

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to
be applicable to the Group is as follows:

Amendments to IFRS 3 clarify and provide additional
guidance on the definition of a business. The amendments
clarify that for an integrated set of activities and assets to be
considered a business, it must include, at a minimum, an
input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create output. A business can exist
without including all of the inputs and processes needed to
create outputs. The amendments remove the assessment
of whether market participants are capable of acquiring the
business and continue to produce outputs. Instead, the
focus is on whether acquired inputs and acquired substantive
processes together significantly contribute to the ability
to create outputs. The amendments have also narrowed
the definition of outputs to focus on goods or services
provided to customers, investment income or other income
from ordinary activities. Furthermore, the amendments
provide guidance to assess whether an acquired process is
substantive and introduce an optional fair value concentration
test to permit a simplified assessment of whether an acquired
set of activities and assets is not a business. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1
January 2020.
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Notes to Financial Statements
P 5 R B

Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. IREBERGITRE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (%8)
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective 2.3 © ME#F1E & R 4 R B BR B

International Financial Reporting
Standards (continued)

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and
in IAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss when
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business,
a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in
the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to IFRS 10 and
IAS 28 was removed by the IASB in December 2015 and a
new mandatory effective date will be determined after the
completion of a broader review of accounting for associates
and joint ventures. However, the amendments are available
for adoption now.
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Notes to Financial Statements
P 5 R B

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BAEEREHBFE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (48)
(CONTINUED)

~

2.3 Issued but not yet effective 2.3 © ME#F1E & Rk 4 XA B PR B

International Financial Reporting
Standards (continued)

IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC 15 Operating
Leases — Incentives and SIC 27 Evaluating the Substance
of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.
The standard sets out the principles for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and
requires lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for most
leases. The standard includes two elective recognition
exemptions for lessees — leases of low-value assets and
short-term leases. At the commencement date of a lease, a
lessee will recognise a liability to make lease payments (i.e.,
the lease liability) and an asset representing the right to use
the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-
use asset). The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured
at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses unless the right-of-use asset meets the definition
of investment property in IAS 40, or relates to a class of
property, plant and equipment to which the revaluation
model is applied. The lease liability is subsequently increased
to reflect the interest on the lease liability and reduced for
the lease payments. Lessees will be required to separately
recognise the interest expense on the lease liability and the
depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset. Lessees
will also be required to remeasure the lease liability upon
the occurrence of certain events, such as change in the
lease term and change in future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate used to determine those
payments. Lessees will generally recognise the amount of
the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to
the right-of-use asset. Lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is
substantially unchanged from the accounting under IAS 17.
Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same
classification principle as in IAS 17 and distinguish between
operating leases and finance leases.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements
P 5 R B

Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. IREBERGITRE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (%8)
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective 2.3 © ME#F1E & R 4 R B BR B

International Financial Reporting
Standards (continued)

IFRS 16 requires lessees and lessors to make more extensive
disclosures than under IAS 17. Lessees can choose to apply
the standard using either a full retrospective or a modified
retrospective approach. The Group will adopt IFRS 16 from
1 January 2019. The Group plans to adopt the transitional
provisions in IFRS 16 to recognise the cumulative effect of
initial adoption as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained earnings at 1 January 2019 and will not restate the
comparatives. In addition, the Group plans to apply the new
requirements to contracts that were previously identified as
leases applying IAS 17 and measure the lease liability at the
present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted
using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate at the date of
initial application. The right-of-use asset will be measured at
the amount of the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the lease
recognised in the statement of financial position immediately
before the date of initial application. The Group plans to use
the exemptions allowed by the standard on lease contracts
whose lease terms end within 12 months as of the date of
initial application. During 2018, the Group has performed
a detailed assessment on the impact of adoption of IFRS
16. The Group has estimated that right-of-use assets of
RMB273,178,000 and lease liabilities of RMB273,178,000
will be recognised at 1 January 2019.
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BAEEREHBFE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (48)
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective

~

2.3 MBI R A& R Y B R Bt

International Financial Reporting
Standards (continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 provide a new definition of
material. The new definition states that information is material
if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis
of those financial statements. The amendments clarify
that materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude
of information. A misstatement of information is material
if it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions
made by the primary users. The Group expects to adopt
the amendments prospectively from 1 January 2020. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 28 clarify that the scope exclusion of
IFRS 9 only includes interests in an associate or joint venture
to which the equity method is applied and does not include
long-term interests that in substance form part of the net
investment in the associate or joint venture, to which the
equity method has not been applied. Therefore, an entity
applies IFRS 9, rather than IAS 28, including the impairment
requirements under IFRS 9, in accounting for such long-
term interests. IAS 28 is then applied to the net investment,
which includes the long-term interests, only in the context
of recognising losses of an associate or joint venture and
impairment of the net investment in the associate or joint
venture. The Group expects to adopt the amendments on
1 January 2019 and will assess its business model for such
long-term interests based on the facts and circumstances
that exist on 1 January 2019 using the transitional
requirements in the amendments. The Group also intends
to apply the relief from restating comparative information for
prior periods upon adoption of the amendments.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements
P 5 R B

Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. IREBERGITRE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (%8)
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective 2.3 © ME#F1E & R 4 R B BR B

International Financial Reporting
Standards (continued)

IFRIC 23 addresses the accounting for income taxes (current
and deferred) when tax treatments involve uncertainty
that affects the application of IAS 12 (often referred to
as “uncertain tax positions”). The interpretation does not
apply to taxes or levies outside the scope of IAS 12, nor
does it specifically include requirements relating to interest
and penalties associated with uncertain tax treatments.
The interpretation specifically addresses (i) whether an
entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately; (ii)
the assumptions an entity makes about the examination
of tax treatments by taxation authorities; (i) how an entity
determines taxable profits or tax losses, tax bases, unused
tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates; and (iv) how
an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances.
The interpretation is to be applied retrospectively, either fully
retrospectively without the use of hindsight or retrospectively
with the cumulative effect of application as an adjustment to
the opening equity at the date of initial application, without
the restatement of comparative information. The Group
expects to adopt the interpretation from 1 January 2019. The
interpretation is not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements.
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BAEEREHBFE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

il

24 TEEHHEHME

policies
Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee,
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method
of accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are
made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that
may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively. In
addition, when there has been a change recognised directly
in the equity of the joint venture, the Group recognises its
share of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses
resulting from transactions between the Group and its
joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
investments in the joint ventures, except where unrealised
losses provide evidence of an impairment of the assets
transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of joint
ventures is included as part of the Group’s investments in
joint ventures.
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BB EREHBE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FTESHBERME (&)

policies (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in a joint venture is classified as held
for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BAEEREHBFE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

il

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FTESHBERME (&)

policies (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued
by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For
each business combination, the Group elects whether to
measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation
at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. UEXRGHER

=

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESHBEHE (&)

policies (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss
as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BAEEREHBFE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

il

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FTESHBERME (&)

policies (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with
the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount
of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the
disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances
is measured based on the relative value of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, derivative
financial instruments and equity investments at fair value at
the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market
for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or
liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must
be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or
a liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

2. UEXRGHER

=

24 TEEGHERBE (&)

policies (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BAEEREHBFE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

il

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FTESHBERME (&)

policies (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets, completed
properties held for sale, properties under development,
investment properties and non-current assets/a disposal
group classified as held for salg), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the
higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit's value in use
and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment
loss is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period
in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the impairment loss is accounted for
in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that
revalued asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements
P 5 R B

Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BB EREHBE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESHBEHE (&)

policies (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises,
unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the reversal of the impairment loss is accounted for
in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that
revalued asset.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@  the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
@iy is a member of the key management personnel

of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(i)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. UEXRGHER

=

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESHBEHE (&)

policies (continued)

Property and equipment and depreciation

Property and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses. The cost of an item of property and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use. Cost may also
include transfers from equity of any gains or losses on
qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of
property and equipment.

Expenditure incurred after items of property and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the
asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BAEEREHBFE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting

il

24 TEESGHERBE (&)

policies (continued)

Property and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure that
the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ materially
from its carrying amount. Changes in the values of property
and equipment are dealt with as movements in the asset
revaluation reserve. If the total of this reserve is insufficient
to cover a deficit, on an individual asset basis, the excess of
the deficit is charged to the statement of profit or loss. Any
subsequent revaluation surplus is credited to the statement
of profit or loss to the extent of the deficit previously charged.
An annual transfer from the asset revaluation reserve to
retained profits is made for the difference between the
depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of an
asset and the depreciation based on the asset’s original
cost. On disposal of a revalued asset, the relevant portion of
the asset revaluation reserve realised in respect of previous
valuations is transferred to retained profits as a movement in
reserves.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The estimated
residual values and useful lives for this purpose are as

follows:

Useful lives Residual values
Buildings 20 years 5% to 10%
Hotel properties 40 years 5% to 10%
Office equipment 5 years 5%
Motor vehicles 5 years 5%
Leasehold Shorter of the -

improvements lease terms

and 5 years
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting

2. UEXRGHER
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24 TEEGHERBE (&)

policies (continued)

Property and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Where parts of an item of property and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on
a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected from its
use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year the
asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under
construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct
costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs on
related borrowed funds during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property and equipment when completed and
ready for use.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BAEEREHBFE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

il

24 TEESGHERBE (&)

policies (continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold interest under an operating lease for
a property which would otherwise meet the definition of an
investment property) held to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes;
or for sale in the ordinary course of business. Investment
properties comprise completed investment properties and
investment properties under construction. Such properties
are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the
end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the statement of profit
or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.
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24 TEEGHERBE (&)

policies (continued)

Investment properties (continued)

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties or investment properties for disposal, the deemed
cost of a property for subsequent accounting is its fair
value at the date of change in use. If a property occupied
by the Group as an owner-occupied property becomes an
investment property, the Group accounts for such property
in accordance with the policy stated under “Property and
equipment and depreciation” up to the date of change in
use, and any difference at that date between the carrying
amount and the fair value of the property is accounted for
as a revaluation in accordance with the policy stated under
“Property and equipment and depreciation” above. For a
transfer from properties under development or completed
properties held for sale to investment properties, any
difference between the fair value of the property at that date
and its previous carrying amount is recognised in profit or
loss.

The Group determines whether completed properties held for
sale and properties under development would be transferred
to investment properties when, only when, there is a change
in use, evidenced by the following criteria: (a) the Group
has prepared a business plan that reflects the future rental
income generated by the property and this is supported
with evidence that there is demand for rental space; (b) the
Group can demonstrate that it has the resources, including
the necessary financing or capital, to hold and manage
an investment property; (c) the change in use is legally
permissible; (d) if the property must be further developed for
the change in use, the development has commenced and (e)
change in use is approved by the board.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BAEEREHBFE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FTESHBERME (&)

policies (continued)

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value and comprise land costs,
construction costs, borrowing costs, professional fees and
other costs directly attributable to such properties incurred
during the development period.

Properties under development which are intended to be held
for sale and expected to be completed within 12 months
from the end of the reporting period are classified as current
assets.

Properties under development which are intended to be held
for sale and expected to be completed beyond 12 months
from the end of the reporting period are classified as non-
current assets.

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined by
an apportionment of the total costs of land and buildings
attributable to the unsold properties. Net realisable value
takes into account the selling price, less estimated costs
to be incurred in selling the properties based on prevailing
market conditions.
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policies (continued)

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for
as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets
leased by the Group under operating leases are included
in non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the
operating leases are credited to the statement of profit or loss
on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the
Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases
net of any incentives received from the lessor are charged to
the statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over
the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably
between the land and buildings elements, the entire lease
payments are included in the cost of the land and buildings
as a finance lease in property and equipment.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BAEEREHBFE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FTESHBERME (&)

policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies under
IFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition (applicable
from 1 January 2018)” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash
flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BB EREHBE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FTESHBERME (&)

policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies under
IFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018) (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if
both of the following conditions are met:

o The financial asset is held within a business model with
the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows.

° The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are subject
to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BAEEREHBFE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FTESHBERME (&)

il

policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies under
IFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018) (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (debt instruments)

The Group measures debt investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income if both of the following
conditions are met:

° The financial asset is held within a business model with
the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash
flows and selling.

° The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, interest income, foreign exchange
revaluation and impairment losses or reversals are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss and computed in the same
manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost.
The remaining fair value changes are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative
fair value change recognised in other comprehensive income
is recycled to the statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements
P 5 R B

Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. UEXRGHER

=

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FTESHBERME (&)

policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies under
IFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018) (continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
when they meet the definition of equity under IAS 32 Financial
Instruments. Presentation and are not held for trading. The
classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument
basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled
to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised
as other income in the statement of profit or loss when the
right of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds
as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in
which case such gains are recorded in other comprehensive
income. Equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies under
IFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018) (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading, financial assets designated
upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or
financial assets mandatorily required to be measured at fair
value. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if
they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing
in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they
are designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not solely payments of
principal and interest are classified and measured at fair
value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments
to be classified at amortised cost or at fair value through
other comprehensive income, as described above, debt
instruments may be designated at fair value through profit or
loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly
reduces, an accounting mismatch.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on equity investments classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are also recognised as
other income in the statement of profit or loss when the right
of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.
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Notes to Financial Statements
P 5 R B

Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. UEXRGHER

=

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FTESHBERME (&)

policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies under
IFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018) (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial
liability or non-financial host, is separated from the host
and accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host; a
separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the
hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or
loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in
the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash
flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification
of a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss
category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing
a financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The
financial asset host together with the embedded derivative is
required to be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at
fair value through profit or loss.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BAEEREHBFE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (48)
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

pil

24 FEESTHEBME (&)

policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies under
IAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables and available-for-sale financial investments, or as
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective
hedge, as appropriate. When financial assets are recognised
initially, they are measured at fair value plus transaction costs
that are attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets,
except in the case of financial assets recorded at fair value
through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading and financial assets
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as held for trading
if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term.
Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are
also classified as held for trading unless they are designated
as effective hedging instruments as defined by IAS 39.
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Notes to Financial Statements
P 5 R B

Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. UEXRGHER

=

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESHBEHE (&)

policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies under
IAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018) (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the statement of financial position at fair value with positive
net changes in fair value presented as other income and
gains and negative net changes in fair value presented as
finance costs in the statement of profit or loss. These net
fair value changes do not include any dividends or interest
earned on these financial assets, which are recognised in
accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition
(applicable before 1 January 2018)” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial
recognition and only if the criteria in IAS 39 are satisfied.

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for
as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to
those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not
held for trading or designated as at fair value through profit
or loss. These embedded derivatives are measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in the statement
of profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either
a change in the terms of the contract that significantly
modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required or a
reclassification of a financial asset out of the fair value through
profit or loss category.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BAEEREHBFE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

il

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FTESHBERME (&)

policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies under
IAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018) (continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for impairment.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in other
income and gains in the statement of profit or loss. The loss
arising from impairment is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in finance costs for loans and in other expenses
for receivables.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative
financial assets in listed and unlisted equity investments and
debt securities. Equity investments classified as available for
sale are those which are neither classified as held for trading
nor designated as at fair value through profit or loss. Debt
securities in this category are those which are intended to be
held for an indefinite period of time and which may be sold in
response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in
market conditions.
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. UEXRGHER

=

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESHBEHE (&)

policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies under
IAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018) (continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments (continuead)

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments
are subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised
gains or losses recognised as other comprehensive income
in the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve until
the investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative
gain or loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss
in other income, or until the investment is determined to be
impaired, when the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified
from the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve
to the statement of profit or loss in other gains or losses.
Interest and dividends earned whilst holding the available-
for-sale financial investments are reported as interest income
and dividend income, respectively and are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss as other income in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition (applicable
before 1 January 2018)” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot
be reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range
of reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that
investment or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates
within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in
estimating fair value, such investments are stated at cost less
any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to
sell its available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are
still appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is
unable to trade these financial assets due to inactive markets,
the Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets if
management has the ability and intention to hold the assets
for the foreseeable future or until maturity.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies under
IAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018) (continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-
sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the date of
reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any
previous gain or loss on that asset that has been recognised
in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life of
the investment using the effective interest rate. Any difference
between the new amortised cost and the maturity amount is
also amortised over the remaining life of the asset using the
effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently determined
to be impaired, then the amount recorded in equity is
reclassified to the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets (policies under IFRS 9
applicable from 1 January 2018 and policies under IAS
39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FTESHBERME (&)

policies (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (policies under IFRS 9
applicable from 1 January 2018 and policies under IAS
39 applicable before 1 January 2018) (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement.
In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations
that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to
repay.

Impairment of financial assets (policies under IFRS 9
applicable from 1 January 2018)

The Group recognises an allowance for ECLs for all debt
instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss.
ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral
to the contractual terms.
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BAEEREHBFE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

il

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FTESHBERME (&)

policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under IFRS 9
applicable from 1 January 2018) (continued)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit
losses that result from default events that are possible within
the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required
for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the
exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime
ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. UEXRGHER

=

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FTESHBERME (&)

policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under IFRS 9
applicable from 1 January 2018) (continued)

General approach (continued)

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, the Group applies the low credit risk
simplification. At each reporting date, the Group evaluates
whether the debt investments are considered to have low
credit risk using all reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort. In making that
evaluation, the Group reassesses the external credit ratings
of the debt investments. In addition, the Group considers
that there has been a significant increase in credit risk when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However,
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset
is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2,
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under IFRS 9
applicable from 1 January 2018) (continued)

General approach (continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at amortised cost are subject
to impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement of
ECLs except for trade receivables and contract assets which
apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly since
initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

1 7 4 China New City Commercial Development Limited
2018 Annual Report
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. UEXRGHER

=

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FTESHBERME (&)

policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under IFRS 9
applicable from 1 January 2018) (continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not
contain a significant financing component or when the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect
of a significant financing component, the Group applies the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified
approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk,
but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime
ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established
a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to
the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables and contract assets that contain a
significant financing component and lease receivables,
the Group chooses as its accounting policy to adopt the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies as
described above.
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under IAS 39
applicable before 1 January 2018)

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment
exists if one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset have an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence
of impairment may include indications that a debtor or a
group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty,
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is
a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows,
such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that
correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses whether impairment exists individually for
financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively
for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the
Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment
exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial
assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is,
or continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. UEXRGHER

=

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESHBEHE (&)

policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under IAS 39
applicable before 1 January 2018) (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The
present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted
at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account and the loss is recognised in
the statement of profit or loss. Interest income continues
to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount using the
rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for
the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans
and receivables together with any associated allowance
are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future
recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been
transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by
adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is later
recovered, the recovery is credited to other expenses in the
statement of profit or loss.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BAEEREHBFE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

il

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FTESHBERME (&)

policies (continued)

EREEMNRE (R2018F1818A]
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Impairment of financial assets (policies under IAS 39
applicable before 1 January 2018) (continued)

Assets carried at cost

B A BRI EE

i B B EBERRE R EEARER

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has

been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not
carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably
measured, or on a derivative asset that is linked to and must
be settled by delivery of such an unquoted equity instrument,
the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market
rate of return for a similar financial asset. Impairment losses
on these assets are not reversed.

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group
assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there
is objective evidence that an investment or a group of
investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount
comprising the difference between its cost (net of any
principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair
value, less any impairment loss previously recognised
in the statement of profit or loss, is removed from other
comprehensive income and recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2018 Annual Report

SAEMTIARARE ﬁ)\ﬂﬁaﬁ#t M
AT A EEEATTAETAEERE
R E B R R WA ZIEIE E AR
ATAMEE AEESELZEE
FREENEARESREERER™
HAEFTEN G RKB S RERE
WERENE ZEEENRERBET
T4 -

R &2 BRE

HRAHHESRIREM S  AEEK
REBEMRFE - BRER—HER
EEEAHAREREIR -

WA & 2 BERE  BIFEKRAR
(HIRREM AR ) B
REEZ ZRAENR AN BERE
RZEIRERBRKEZSE KHM
2EETFIFR LR R R ARER



Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. UEXRGHER

=

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FTESHBERME (&)

policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under IAS 39
applicable before 1 January 2018) (continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments (continuead)

In the case of equity investments classified as available
for sale, objective evidence would include a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment below
its cost. “Significant” is evaluated against the original cost of
the investment and “prolonged” against the period in which
the fair value has been below its original cost. Where there is
evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss — measured as
the difference between the acquisition cost and the current
fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment
previously recognised in the statement of profit or loss — is
removed from other comprehensive income and recognised
in the statement of profit or loss. Impairment losses on equity
instruments classified as available for sale are not reversed
through the statement of profit or loss. Increases in their
fair value after impairment are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income.

The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged”
requires judgement. In making this judgement, the Group
evaluates, among other factors, the duration or extent to
which the fair value of an investment is less than its cost.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Financial liabilities (policies under IFRS 9 applicable
from 1 January 2018 and IAS 39 applicable before 1
January 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables, an amount due to the ultimate holding company,
derivative financial instruments and interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the

statement of profit or loss.

1 0 China New City Commercial Development Limited
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Financial liabilities (policies under IFRS 9 applicable
from 1 January 2018 and IAS 39 applicable before 1
January 2018) (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts (policies under IFRS 9
applicable from 1 January 2018)

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor
fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is
recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance
of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i)
the ECL allowance determined in accordance with the policy
as set out in “Impairment of financial assets (policies under
IFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)”; and (i) the amount
initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative
amount of income recognised.
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. WAEBREREHBE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

il

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FTESHBERME (&)

policies (continued)

Financial liabilities (policies under IFRS 9 applicable
from 1 January 2018 and IAS 39 applicable before 1
January 2018) (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts (policies under IAS 39
applicable before 1 January 2018)

A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a
liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contract at the higher of () the amount
of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period; and
(i) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation.

Derecognition of financial liabilities (policies under
IFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018 and IAS 39
applicable before 1 January 2018)

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements
P 5 R B

Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BB EREHBE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FTESHBERME (&)

policies (continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments (policies under IFRS
9 applicable from 1 January 2018 and IAS 39 applicable
before 1 January 2018)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis.
Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less
any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and on
disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash,
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
and have a short maturity of generally within three months
when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BAEEREHBFE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

il

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FTESHBERME (&)

policies (continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or
loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination
is initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is
measured at the higher of (i) the amount that would be
recognised in accordance with the general guidance for
provisions above; and (i) the amount initially recognised less,
when appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in
accordance with the guidance for revenue recognition.

Employee retirement benefits

Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the PRC government,
the companies comprising the Group operating in Mainland
China (the “PRC group companies”) have participated in
a local municipal government retirement benefit scheme
(the “Scheme”), whereby the PRC group companies are
required to contribute a certain percentage of the salaries
of their employees to the Scheme to fund their retirement
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
the Scheme is to pay the ongoing contributions under the
Scheme. Contributions under the Scheme are charged to the
statement of profit of loss as incurred.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. IREBERGITRE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (%8)
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESHBEHE (&)

policies (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax and land
appreciation tax. Income tax relating to items recognised
outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss,
either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BAEEREHBFE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

il

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FTESHBERME (&)

policies (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences
will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed the
at end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed
at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.
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Notes to Financial Statements
P 5 R B

Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. IREBERGITRE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (%8)
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESHBEHE (&)

policies (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to
the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which
it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited
to a deferred income account and is released to the
statement of profit or loss over the expected useful life of
the relevant asset by equal annual instalments or deducted
from the carrying amount of the asset and released to the
statement of profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation
charge.
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BAEEREHBFE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

il

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FTESHBERME (&)

policies (continued)

Government grants (continued)

Where the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets,
grants are recorded at the fair value of the non-monetary
assets and released to the statement of profit or loss over the
expected useful lives of the relevant assets by equal annual
instalments.

Where the Group receives government loans granted with no
or at a below-market rate of interest for the construction of a
qualifying asset, the initial carrying amount of the government
loans is determined using the effective interest rate method,
as further explained in the accounting policy for “Financial
liabilities” above. The benefit of the government loans granted
with no or at a below-market rate of interest, which is the
difference between the initial carrying value of the loans and
the proceeds received, is treated as a government grant and
released to the statement of profit or loss over the expected
useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. UEXRGHER

=

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

24 TEEGHERBE (&)

policies (continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 January 2018)
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it
is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when
the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group a significant financial benefit for more
than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. For a contract where
the period between the payment by the customer and the
transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or
less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a
significant financing component, using the practical expedient
in IFRS 15.
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 January 2018)

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continueq)

@)

Revenue from sale of properties

Revenues are recognised when the control of the asset
is transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms
of the contract and the laws that apply to the contract,
control of the asset may transfer over time or at a point
in time. Control of the asset is transferred over time if
the Group’s performance:

° provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer; and

° do not create an asset with an alternative use
to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the asset.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation is measured based on the
Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the
performance obligation, by reference to the contract
costs incurred up to the end of reporting period as a
percentage of total estimated costs for each contract.
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Notes to Financial Statements
P 5 R B

Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BB EREHBE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)

(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 January 2018)

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continueq)

@)

Revenue from sale of properties (continued)

For property development and sales contract for which
the control of the property is transferred at a point
in time, revenue is recognised when the purchasers
obtain the physical possession or the legal title of the
completed properties and the Group has present right
to payment from the purchasers.

Revenue from hotel operation

Revenue from hotel operation is derived from room
rental, food and beverage sales and income from the
provision of other ancillary services, and is recognised
when the services are rendered.

Revenue from property management

Revenue from property management services is
recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-line
basis because the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by the Group.
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 January 2018)
(continued)

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over
the lease terms.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right
to receive payment has been established, it is probable
that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will
flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. IREBERGITRE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (%8)
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESHBEHE (&)

policies (continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable before 1 January 2018)
(continued)

Revenue from the sale of properties in the ordinary course of
business is recognised when all the following criteria are met:

(@  the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the
properties are transferred to the purchasers;

(b)  neither continuing managerial involvement to the
degree usually associated with ownership, nor effective
control over the properties is retained;

(c)  the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

(d) it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the transaction will flow to the Group; and

(e)  the cost incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.

The above criteria are met when construction of the
relevant properties has been completed and the Group has
obtained the project completion report issued by the relevant
government authorities, the properties have been delivered
to the purchasers, and the collectability of related receivables
is reasonably assured. Payments received on properties sold
prior to the date of revenue recognition are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position under current
liabilities.

Property leasing income derived from the leasing of the
Group’s properties is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms.

Property management fee income derived from the provision
of property maintenance and management services is
recognised upon the rendering of the relevant services over
the scheduled period on a straight-line basis.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BAEEREHBFE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

il

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FTESHBERME (&)

policies (continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable before 1 January 2018)
(continued)

Hotel operating income which includes room rental, food
and beverage sales and income from the provision of
other ancillary services is recognised when the services are
rendered.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right
to receive payment has been established.

Contract liabilities (applicable from 1 January 2018)

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or
services to a customer for which the Group has received a
consideration (or an amount of consideration that is due) from
the customer. If a customer pays the consideration before
the Group transfers goods or services to the customer, a
contract liability is recognised when the payment is made or
the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under
the contract.
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. UEXRGHER

=

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESHBEHE (&)

policies (continued)

Commission in obtaining contracts (applicable from 1
January 2018)

Sales commissions incurred directly attributable to obtaining
a contract, if recoverable, are capitalised and recorded in
other assets. Capitalised sales commissions are charged
to profit or loss when the revenue from the related property
sale is recognised and are included as selling and marketing
expenses at that time. The Group elected to apply the
practical expedient and did not recognise the effects of the
sales commission if the time period is one year or less.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services as consideration for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to
the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair
value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model, further details of which are given in note 29 to the
financial statements.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BAEEREHBFE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

il

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FTESHBERME (&)

policies (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative
expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the
end of each reporting period until the vesting date reflects
the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the
Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments
that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement
of profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end
of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair
value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of
an award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

2. UEXRGHER

=

24 TEEGHERBE (&)

policies (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or
is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the
date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and is designated as a replacement award on the
date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are
treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as
described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BAEEREHBFE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

il

24 TEESGHERBE (&)

policies (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally and used for the
purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, a capitalisation rate of
9.39% (2017: 8.63%) has been applied to the expenditure on
the individual assets.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately
as a liability when they are proposed and declared.
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Notes to Financial Statements
P 5 R B

Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. UEXRGHER

=

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

24 TEEGHERBE (&)

policies (continued)

Foreign currencies

The Company and certain subsidiaries incorporated outside
Mainland China use the Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”) and the
United States dollar (“US$”) as their functional currencies,
respectively. The functional currency of Mainland China
subsidiaries is the RMB. As the Group mainly operates
in Mainland China, the RMB is used as the presentation
currency of the Group. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss with
the exception of monetary items that are designated as
part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign
operation. These are recognised in other comprehensive
income until the net investment is disposed of, at which
time the cumulative amount is reclassified to the statement
of profit or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to
exchange differences on those monetary items are also
recorded in other comprehensive income.
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the
item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating
to an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction
is the date on which the Group initially recognises the non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction
date for each payment or receipt of the advance

consideration.

The functional currencies of non-PRC established
subsidiaries are currencies other than the RMB. As at the
end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of
these entities are translated into RMB at the exchange
rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their
statements of profit or loss are translated into RMB at the

weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at
the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of non-PRC established subsidiaries are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the dates
of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of non-
PRC established companies which arise throughout the year
are translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,

management has made the following judgements, apart from those

involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the

amounts recognised in the financial statements:

0]

(ii)

Operating lease commitments - Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on
its investment property portfolio. The Group has determined,
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the
arrangements, that it retains all the significant risks and
rewards of ownership of these properties which are leased
out on operating leases.

Classification between investment properties,
completed properties held for sale and owner-occupied
properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the
Group considers whether a property generates cash flows
largely independently of the other assets held by the Group.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion that
is held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes. If these portions
could be sold separately, the Group accounts for the portions
separately or leased out separately under a finance lease. If
the portions could not be sold separately, the property is an
investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an individual
property basis to determine whether ancillary services are so
significant that a property does not qualify as an investment
property.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Judgements (continued)

(iii)

Classification of current and non-current properties
under development

The Group classifies properties under development according
to the construction progress and estimated commencement
date of presale. Properties under development are classified
as current assets after the construction commences.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources

of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that

have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial

year, are described below:

@i

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties were revalued based on the appraised
market value by independent professional valuers. Such
valuations were based on certain assumptions, which are
subject to uncertainty and might materially differ from the
actual results. In making the estimate, the Group considers
information from current prices in an active market for similar
properties and uses assumptions that are mainly based on
market conditions existing at the end of the reporting period.

In the absence of current prices in an active market for similar
properties, the Group considers information from a variety of
sources, including:

(@  current prices in an active market for properties of
a different nature, condition or location or subject to
different lease or other contracts, adjusted to reflect
those differences;
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

@i

(ii)

Fair value of investment properties (continued)

(b)  recent prices of similar properties on less active
markets, with adjustments to reflect any changes
in economic conditions since the dates of the
transactions that occurred at those prices; and

(c) discounted cash flow projections based on reliable
estimates of future cash flows, supported by the terms
of any existing leases and other contracts and (when
possible) by external evidence such as current market
rents for similar properties in the same location and
condition, and using discount rates that reflect current
market assessments of the uncertainty in the amount
and timing of the cash flows.

The principal assumptions for the Group’s estimation of
the fair value include those related to current market rents
for similar properties in the same location and condition,
appropriate discount rates, expected future market rents and
future maintenance costs. The carrying amount of investment
properties at 31 December 2018 was RMB5,524,300,000
(2017:RMB5,667,300,000). Further details, including the key
assumptions used for fair value measurement, are given in
note 13 to the financial statements.

Net realisable value of properties under development
and completed properties held for sale

The Group’s properties under development and completed
properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Based on the Group’s historical experience
and the nature of the subject properties, the Group makes
estimates of the selling prices, the costs of completion
of properties under development, and the costs to be
incurred in selling the properties based on prevailing market
conditions.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Net realisable value of properties under development
and completed properties held for sale (continued)

If there is an increase in costs to completion or a decrease in
net sales value, the net realisable value will decrease and this
may result in a provision for properties under development
and completed properties held for sale. Such provision
requires the use of judgements and estimates. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, the carrying
value and provision for properties in the period in which the
estimate is changed will be adjusted accordingly.

PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

LAT in the PRC is levied at progressive rates ranging from
30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being the
proceeds from sale of properties less deductible expenditures
including land costs, borrowing costs and other property
development expenditures.

The subsidiaries of the Group engaging in the property
development business in Mainland China are subject to
LAT. However, the implementation of these taxes varies
amongst various cities in Mainland China and the Group
has not finalised its LAT returns with various tax authorities.
Accordingly, significant judgement is required in determining
the amount of land appreciation and its related taxes. The
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Group recognises these liabilities
based on management’s best estimates. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, the differences will impact the
statement of profit or loss and the provision for LAT in the
period in which the determination is made.
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

4.

OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on income derived from business and has four
reportable operating segments as follows:

(@  the commercial property development segment develops and
sells commercial properties in Mainland China;

(b)  the property rental segment leases investment properties in
Mainland China;

(c)  the hotel operations segment owns and operates a hotel; and

(d) the “others” segment comprises, principally, the Group’s
property management services business, which provides
management and security services to commercial properties.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax from
continuing operations. The adjusted profit/loss before tax from
continuing operations is measured consistently with the Group’s
profit before tax from continuing operations except that interest
income, finance costs, dividend income, fair value gains/losses
from the Group’s financial instruments as well as head office and
corporate expenses are excluded from the measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, tax recoverable,
pledged deposits, cash and cash equivalents, and other
unallocated head office and corporate assets as these assets are
managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and other
unallocated head office and corporate liabilities as these liabilities
are managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to
the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then
prevailing market prices.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Notes to Financial Statements
P 5 R B

Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

4. EESBEH (&)

Commercial

property Property Hotel
Year ended HZ2018F development rental operations Others Total
31 December 2018 12A31R L5 E L EL K NERE BELE Hit it

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR AR®TR AR®T R ARBT AR®TR

Segment revenue okl ON
Sales to external customers HHVBEFHEE 1,578,447 160,369 111,328 74,475 1,924,619
Intersegment sales HEREEE - 35,952 - 1,722 37,674

1,578,447 196,321 111,328 76,197 1,962,293
Reconciliation: B -
Elimination of intersegment sales 2 BB S 1 8 (37,674)
Revenue from operations MEEBRA 1,924,619
Segment results DHEE 154,965 (29,623) (51,693) (107,844) (34,195)
Reconciliation: L
Interest income FIEWA 13,711
Finance costs HEER (110,330)
Profit before tax BRI A (130,814)
Segment assets IHEE 4,780,196 5,565,032 2,107,184 760,815 13,213,227
Reconciliation: HEp -
Elimination of intersegment receivables S Epr IR 8 (638,266)
Corporate and other unallocated assets PEREMRIREE 656,627
Total assets BEE 13,231,588
Segment liabilities ABEE 1,875,708 126,107 257,391 1,365,501 3,624,707
Reconciliation: I8
Elimination of intersegment payables Vak: AR 3 (638,266)
Corporate and other unallocated liabilties rEREMRIRERE 4,347,104
Total liabilities #wafkE 7,333,545
Other segment information: Hitt o HER:
Depreciation e 750 1,995 39,753 7,173 49,671
Capital expenditure BERR% 10,603 M4 17,725 98,034 126,776

BT EEERER AT
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

4. OPERATING SEGMENT

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4. EESBEH (&)

Commercial
Year ended BZE2017F property Property Hotel
31 December 2017 12A31BLESE development rental operations Others Total
ERYERE MERE BIEEE Hit FE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFR AREFT AREFTT ARETR ARET
Segment revenue: ok ON
Sales to external customers HIVBEFHEE 148,234 63,610 66,815 17,327 295,986
Intersegment sales AEEEE - 9,424 - 2,909 12,333
148,234 73,034 66,815 20,236 308,319
Reconciliation: e
Elimination of intersegment sales AEFEEELHE (12,333)
Revenue from operations mEEBRA 295,986
Segment results THEE 76,996 743,659 (29,520) (28,253) 762,882
Reconciliation: E
Interest income FEWA 2,369
Finance costs HHBER (13,161)
Profit before tax BB ATFE 752,090
Segment assets IHEE 4,740,198 5,722,824 2,135,646 351,521 12,950,189
Reconcilation: A -
Elimination of intersegment receivables 2 EBR R IR (346,290)
Corporate and other unallocated assets TrEREMRIREE 650,275
Total assets BEE 13,254,174
Segment liabilities SHEE 1,865,859 70,620 394,408 729,983 3,060,870
Reconciliation: e
Elimination of intersegment payables ok LA E R S (346,289)
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities rEREMARAEAR 4,531,237
Total liabilities BeE 7,245,818
Other segment information: HitpHER:
Depreciation & 966 704 11,066 4,455 17,191
Capital expenditure BARE 63,482 8,146 147,485 33,721 252,834
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OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Geographical information

All of the Group’s revenue is derived from customers based in
Mainland China and all of the non-current assets of the Group are
located in Mainland China except one property in Japan.

Information about major customers

No sales to a single customer or a group of customers under
common control accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s
revenue for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND
GAINS

An analysis of revenue is as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

4.

5.

EESBEH(]|)

i & B
AEBNEHRARARFERBES -

RAKEEE2EIERBEE (FR—RBYFELR
HZARSN) IR A B A 3 -

AREEEFNEHN
W WA RE—FCRANAREH THES

R HE RO A EEE =2018F K&2017
F12A318 EFEWARIT10% A E o

WA - Eftl i A B iy &

WA HTT :
2018 2017
20185 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR ARETT

Revenue from contracts with EFEHBA
customers

— Sale of properties —WEHE

— Hotel operating income —BJEEERHA

— Property management fee income —MEEEBWRA

Revenue from other sources H 1 3R A

— Property leasing income —MEMHEERA

1,578,447 148,234
111,328 66,815
74,475 17,327
160,369 63,610
1,924,619 295,986

hEFMmAEERAR QA
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND

5.

GAINS (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(i) Disaggregated revenue information

B A - Hfbl A B iy =
(#%)

BEFEHWA

i) DHFBEAESR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 EZ2018F12A31B L FE
Property
management
Property and other Hotel
development related services operations Total
MEER
Timing of REA
revenue recognition W ARREE MERR R R BEEE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR®TR ARETR ARETR
At a point in time X—5EE 1,578,447 - 111,328 1,689,775
Over time — R RS - 74,475 - 74,475
Total revenue from contracts B F A #1#MA
with customers 1,578,447 74,475 111,328 1,764,250

Revenue from sales of properties recognised that was
included in contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting
period is amounted to RMB942,899,000.

ES |

RIS AL E ROERR
£ A A AR#942,899,0007T °

2018 2017
20185 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ TR ARET T
Other income Hgr A
Subsidy income CEETON 1,879 798
Bank interest income RITH BHA 13,709 2,368
Investment income EBA 29,072 823
Others HAb 9,046 9,568
53,706 18,557
Gains g
Gain on disposal of HEREME 2 WS
investment properties - 63,221
Changes in fair value of financial BARBEFTABRD
assets at fair value through CMEEZANEBEEEE
profit or loss - 699
Foreign exchange gain bE 5 Uz - 367
- 64,287
53,706 77,844

There was no significant impact on revenue recognition under

IFRS 15 during the year.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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PROFIT BEFORE TAX

Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

6. FRiIRRIFIA

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): REEBRBAFELENMR, (FFA) TH&
I8 :

2018 2017

2018% 20174

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

MaE ARBT T ARBT T

Cost of properties sold EHEWEKR 19 1,330,618 79,425

Depreciation e 12 49,671 17,191
Minimum lease payments under BIBLEHER

operating leases: SR & IE -

- Office premises o VNI 38,979 7,413
Auditors’ remuneration = AN B & 1,600 1,200
Staff costs including directors’ and BEIXNA (BRESER

chief executive’s remuneration: FETHRAEMNS) 8

— Salaries and other staff costs —TERHMETHKA 106,133 77,153

— Pension scheme contributions —iRIKREFHEI R 16,983 10,671
Foreign exchange differences, net PERZ% FE 3,495 (367)
Direct operating expenses BEELERY

(including repairs and maintenance (BIEREMEELEN

arising on investment properties) HIERIEE) 3,856 7,312
Investment income from financial BRAREERAEEZS

assets at fair value through SRBEZIRERA

profit or loss (29,072) (823)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of HEREMEZ

investment properties BB,/ (W) 29,554 (63,221)
Fair value losses/(gains), net: AAEEEE (I

FE
Changes upon transfer to EREREYMENES
investment properties 13 25,030 (523)
Changes in fair value of BEMELAABENE
investment properties 13 (22,223) (825,157)
Changes in fair value of financial assets &AM BEFT ABZEH
at fair value through profit or loss CRMEECANEBEED 30,586 (699)

hEFMmAEERAR QA
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. HERA

An analysis of the Group’s finance costs is as follows: REENTBERINTOT

2018 2017

20184 20174

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREET T

Interest on bank and other borrowings RITER R EMERFE 198,985 218,090

Less: Interest capitalised in properties B BRI ERFE

under development (88,655) (204,929)

110,330 13,161

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 8. ERERFETHARME

EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION

RIE _ETAR R BB R REHIEE383(1)(@)
o) kMG ARABR (BREESF=A
B RBIE2E 2 RE - FNEE RFE BT

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies

(Disclosure of information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is AEMEIT -
as follows:
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ TR ARET T
Fees =] 600 600
Other emoluments: H At 7B -
Salaries, bonuses and allowances R AW SY=4- 987 2,098
Pension scheme contributions BRI 28 32
1,015 2,130
1,615 2,730

2 1 2 China New City Commercial Development Limited
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’'S REMUNERATION
(CONTINUED)

In 2009 and 2011, certain directors were granted share options for
the shares of Zhong An Real Estate Limited, the parent company
of the Group, as disclosed in note 28. The fair value of the options
was determined as at the date of grant. In respect of their services
to the Group, the relevant accounting impact was accounted for
in the consolidated financial statements for the financial year and
included in the above directors’ remuneration disclosures.

(@) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during
the year were as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

8.

EEREEGRARMS

-

R2009F R2011F - B TEFERAEE
HRBIRLEEEBRABRMDERE  BH
FEOSFTHE TR - ZEMEREN A A EBEREL
AHET RESHAEENRBEmS R
MREENGRAVBERETR LSS
B e REEGHTE-

() BAFHTES

FAENBILFRTES ZERHT

R
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR ARETT

Mr. Wu Shiyuan RETTTEE
Mr. Xu Chengfa ANBELE
Mr. Yan Zhenliang BRiRzm &

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent
non-executive directors during the year (2017: Nil).

200 200
200 200
200 200
600 600

FRWEEMBEMNBLIFNTEE Y
N (20174 - £E) -

hEFMmAEERAR QA
—Z-N\EER
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 8 ERXREERTHARMS
EXECUTIVE’'S REMUNERATION )
(CONTINUED)
(b) Executive directors, a non-executive (b) HITES FHITEERE
director and the chief executive ETBAER
Pension
Salaries and Scheme
allowances Bonuses contributions Total
Bie
FoRER A HE K3 #at
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT ARETRT ARETR
2018 20185
Executive directors: HITEE:
Ms. Tang Yiyan Bt 247 67 12 326
Ms. Jin Ni 2 - - - -
247 67 12 326
Non-executive director: HHTEE:
Mr. Shi Kancheng MEARAK 5T & - - - -
Chief executive: FETHBAL:
Mr. Dong Shuixiao ERREE 540 133 16 689
787 200 28 1,015
2017 20174
Executive directors: HITEE:
Ms. Tang Yiyan S 269 63 = 332
Ms. Jin Ni SR ZE 863 220 16 1,099
1,132 283 16 1,431
Non-executive director: HHTEE:
Mr. Shi Kancheng BEAT K 5 A - = = =
Chief executive: FETHAE -
Mr. Dong Shuixiao BERREE 543 140 16 699
1,675 423 32 2,130

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or

agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2017: Nil).

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. Av¥EEHFAL

The five highest paid employees during the year did not include any FRNABRERFALE COI7TF - ME)E

(2017: two) director. Details of directors’ remuneration are set out in E AMeFBEE#EN EXHES - FAR

note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of the five (2017: three) ZQOI7TF:ZR)IIEERSFTHEEN
non-director, highest paid employees for the year are as follows: S FFIBNT

2018 2017

20185 20174

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARETT

Salaries, bonuses and allowances e B4 KORBL 4,736 2,852
Pension scheme contributions RS ETEIHER 195 38

4,931 2,890
The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose FHARUATAEANMFEESESFHIES
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: NS

Number of employees

EEAH”
2018 2017
20184 20174
Nil to RMB1,000,000 =% A K ¥1,000,0007T 3 1
Over RMB1,000,000 i@ A R #1,000,0007T 2 2
5 B
No share options were granted to the non-director, highest paid WERIFEERSFHESR D ERE-

employees.

BT R ERERAR
FERATEIgE ke 215



216

Notes to Financial Statements

S 25 e i e

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

10. INCOME TAX

The Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong are not liable
for income tax as they did not have any assessable profits currently
arising in Hong Kong during the year (2017: Nil).

The provision for the PRC income tax has been provided at the
applicable income tax rate of 25% (2017: 25%) on the assessable
profits of the Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland China.

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on
the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from the sale
of properties less deductible expenditures including land costs,
borrowing costs and other property development expenditures. The
Group has estimated, made and included in taxation a provision for
LAT according to the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax
laws and regulations. Prior to the actual cash settlement of the LAT
liabilities, the LAT liabilities are subject to the final review/approval by
the tax authorities.

10. R i8R

AEBEREBEMALAMME R ERFA
BENEBESEMAARERTAE - Bt
BRGNS (20174 : &) -

FREMESHERAEBEEF B AN B
N A FE SRR A B 1225% (20174 1 25% )
KBRS RIE L B -

B+ IR E T R T g (E (BN BT
BRBERAIR S H (B3 L HA - &
RRAREMYER R H) ) AREHRE
30%ZE60% U - AE B B RIEH B A B
BOREER  fBF B REHBARF AL
HIRER R - EUR S BREE 112 E
BMAEZH tHRERBEABHRBEER
RIRES

2018 2017
20185 20174
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Mt &t AR®T T ARBT T
Current — PRC corporate income BNHAREIE —F I
tax for the year RS 60,482 101,062
Current — PRC LAT for the year BNERFIIE —F N
B+ IR (E R 161,392 81,912
Deferred EEFIE 17 (130,691) 102,758
Total tax charge for the year FABEBE AR 91,183 285,732

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

= ==
10. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 10. FRr 5% (48)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to (loss)/profit BIBEARF REKNZ B QRAERDE
before tax using the statutory rate for the jurisdiction in which the EEAETERETERB (BB FIE
Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the ERANERAY BREERREAFENTIE

tax expense at the effective tax rate is as follows: FZEERNAT
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARETT

(Loss)/profit before tax BrFLAT (E518) /FIE (130,814) 752,090
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 25% 125% (20174 : 25% )

(2017: 25%) EEREAENTRIEA (32,704) 188,022
Effect of withholding tax at 10% on HAEEFTEMME QT

the distributable profits of the Group’s Al 4 5 8 F 85 4910%

PRC subsidiaries AR EE 3,503 7,270
Expenses not deductible for tax DGR3 5,956 4,447
Tax losses utilised from previous periods R B SRl i 2 B B) AR EE B (16,600) (19,543)
Tax losses not recognised REERTIAE B 9,984 44,101
Provision for LAT T IR E R A 161,392 81,912
Tax effect on LAT THIRENNRBEE (40,348) (20,477)
Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate ~ RNEBEEEEFH KW T IER X 91,183 285,732

Tax payable in the consolidated statement FA4R & B 75 AR i 3= A A B~ B 1B 38
of financial position represents:

PRC corporate income tax PR EER 188,336 166,062
PRC LAT B £t 3 (E 238,308 170,115
426,644 336,177

BT EEERER AT
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11. (LOSSES)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 11. 8
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY i
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss for RERNBEEREBES AR LT BERER
the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent of A ARMAFEANEEAR243,524,000
RMB243,524,000 (profit for 2017: RMB488,505,000) and the 7T (2017 F))8 : A R #488,505,0007T) °
weighted average number of ordinary shares of 1,839,783,242 A RFERE B EREINE T
(2017: 1,783,872,462) in repurchase during the year, as adjusted to 1,839,783,2428% (20174 : 1,783,872,462
reflect the rights repurchased during the year. BOFE B FRABRURMENRE#ZET -
The calculation of basic (losses)/earnings per share is based on: BREX(EB) ' BFRETYSE
i
2018 2017
20185 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTF T
(Losses)/earnings (B8) B
(Loss)/profit attributable to ordinary equity & A &) @A BB A&
holders of the parent (&18]) /#HE (243,524) 488,505
Number of shares
RGEE
2018 2017
20185 20174
Shares gl
Weighted average number of ordinary FABBITEBR 2 MEFHEH
shares in issue during the year 1,839,783,242 1,783,872,462
No adjustment has been made to the basic (losses)/earnings per HRE E2018F12A31BILEFEE - A&
share amount presented for the years ended 31 December 2018 I 48 B B 178 58 L m A% (20174 -
and 2017 in respect of a dilution as the Group had no potential 1) - B A A 20184 k201 74F
dilutive ordinary shares in issue during the year ended 31 December 12A31B LFE2FNERER (B18)
2018 (2017: Nil). B EH T EE -

2 1 8 China New City Commercial Development Limited
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12. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Notes to Financial Statements
P 5 R B

Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

12. KRR R w

Hotel Office Motor Leasehold Construction
Buildings properties  equipment vehicles improvements in progress Total
HENE
B BIENE BORE AE B4z ERIR @zt
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT AREF:
At 1 January 2017, 201761818 -
net of accumulated depreciation MR 2HE 36,218 104,958 1,377 2,248 4,230 1,191,207 1,340,238
Additions RE 19 = 9,845 9,103 30,765 203,102 252,834
Transfer from properties BREATENE
under development - - - - - 420,316 420,316
Construction in progress completed TR ERE T2 - 850,316 - - - (850,316) -
Disposals HeE = = (15) (14) = = (29)
Depreciation provided during the year 4 RATHRITE @419 (8,471) (285) (1,078) (4,944 - (17,191)
At 31 December 2017, R20174612A318
net of accumulated depreciation Nk 2 E 33,824 946,803 10,922 10,259 30,051 964,309 1,996,168
At 31 December 2017: 20174128318
Cost AR 54,254 1,024,409 30,012 26,388 36,464 964,309 2,135,836
Accumulated depreciation 2 E (20,430 (77,606) (19,090) (16,129) (6,413) - (139,668)
Net carrying amount REFE 33,824 946,803 10,922 10,259 30,051 964,309 1,996,168
At 1 January 2018, R2018E1A1R
net of accumulated depreciation MRt E 33,824 946,803 10,922 10,259 30,051 964,309 1,996,168
Additions RE 8,999 = 33,250 612 23,000 60,915 126,776
Construction in progress completed ~ X EE T - 352,848 - - - (352,848) =
Disposals HeE (6,855) - (163) (437) (6,866) - (14,321)
Depreciation provided during the year & RzHRHTE (1,312 (35,668) (559) (2,144) (9,988) = (49,671)
At 31 December 2018, H2018%12A318
net of accumulated depreciation R EHE 34,656 1,263,983 43,450 8,290 36,197 672,376 2,058,952
At 31 December 2018: R20184124318 :
Cost % 56,398 1,377,257 63,099 26,563 52,598 672,376 2,248,291
Accumulated depreciation 2EHE (21,742) (113,274) (19,649) (18,273) (16,401) - (189,339)
Net carrying amount RmEE 34,656 1,263,983 43,450 8,290 36,197 672,376 2,058,952
Although the Group had obtained the land use rights certificates of BEALBEESERIRNLIbERE
construction in progress, building ownership certificates may be not HE-R E LTE%R T AR REEEEUSE
obtained before the completion of construction work. EE e

At 31 December 2018, certain items of the Group’s property
and equipment with a net carrying amount of approximately
RMB498,179,000 (2017: RMB90,704,000) were pledged to secure
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings granted to the Group
as disclosed in note 26.

2018124310  REBE T K&

#18 B BREFE X A A R %498,179,0007T

(20174 : AR#90,704,0007T) * 20f}5E26

ks  BEEARNEEERT BRITERR
HAth &RV o

F B 33k mﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁ G|
FEH
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

13. e EMxE

Investment Investment
Completed properties properties
investment under held for
properties construction sale Total
BRI it BEHE
REME REME REME @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARBTT AREBTT AREF
1 January 2017 201751818 5,129,937 = 237,813 5,367,750
Transfers from properties under TEEMEERE
construction to investment properties TREBEENE
under construction - 868,814 - 868,814
Increase in investment properties BEME
and investment properties under REERE
construction v ESY 8,843 160,663 - 169,506
Investment properties under ERIER
construction completed REME 1,019,477 (1,019,477) = =
Transfer to investment BRERBEHE
properties held for sale REME (773,902) - 773,902 =
Transfers to properties under HEE
construction Y% (697,000) - = (697,000)
Disposal HE - - (857,450) (857,450)
Fair value gain upon transfer BRENAER
g 523 - - 523
Changes in fair value of investment REMEN DA (EES
properties 784,467 - 40,690 825,157
At 31 December 2017 and R2017412A318 &
1 January 2018 201841 A1 5,472,345 - 194,955 5,667,300
Transfer from properties under TEEmEE R
construction - 24,924 - 24,924
Transfer to investment properties HEERENE 24,924 (24,924) - -
Transfers from completed properties ERIFERENFER
held for sale 80,006 - - 80,006
Fair value loss upon transfer BREEAAEBERE (25,030) - - (25,030)
Increase in investment properties REMERER
and investment properties under BEMEEM
construction 107,732 - - 107,732
Transfer to investment properties EREREHEREANE
held for sale (176,839) - 176,839 -
Disposal HE - - (352,855) (352,855)
Changes in fair value of investment BREMENDABEES
properties 19,469 - 2,754 22,223
At 31 December 2018 R2018F12A31H 5,502,607 - 21,693 5,524,300

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(CONTINUED)

Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

13. e BW™=E (&)

2018 2017

20185 20174

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

g3 ARET T ARET T

Non-current assets FEMBEE 5,502,607 5,472,345
Current assets MEEE (e) 21,693 194,955
5,524,300 5,667,300

@ Al investment properties of the Group were revalued at the @ AEEHERENFERNFREBIE

end of the year by an independent professionally qualified
valuer, CBRE Limited, at fair value. CBRE Limited is an
industry specialist in investment property valuation. The fair
value represents the amount at which the assets could be
exchanged between a knowledgeable and willing buyer and
a seller in an arm’s length transaction at the date of valuation,
in accordance with International Valuation Standards.

The following table gives information about how the fair
values of these investment properties are determined (in
particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used), as
well as the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value
measurements are categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable.

Investment properties held by the Group in the consolidated
statement of financial position were valued into fair value
hierarchy level 3 as shown below. The valuation techniques
adopted are the direct comparison approach and the income
approach (term and reversion approach), and key inputs are:

(1) Term yield: the higher the term yield, the lower the fair
value;

(2)  Reversionary yield: the higher the reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value;

(8)  Market unit rent: the higher the market unit rent, the
higher the fair value; and

(4)  Price per square metre: the higher the price, the higher
the fair value.

EaBEBRMEMEHBIBEHEFRAR
BARBEEMR EARECARA
BAINEMARENEMRENTESR
Ko BEENRABEMRER R

BEHRRNAERBREERGEEREL
RIRGRGBEENTRE

TREFIMABEERFREVENR
REE (LER TR EERM R
BABB) WERARREBEAREE
AEBABENBEREENANE
B ENAABERE (F—
&) o

i

7N
o
B2FE=

REMBRARTAREMBERE
YETHE T XN AR EEEFRE
ZRCETTRE RRNGBERTAE
BHEOARACE (HBEERZR) - M
TEHABERS:

(1) EHksER:ARREEYS -
RAEEBIE:

N

@ EREWEE BRI
N EEBIE:

HEE
@ TEELES TEELHEe
BE AREERS: R

@ SEIKEE: BEES AR
BEBE.

hEFMmAEERAR QA
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. 1 EWE (48)

(CONTINUED)

The significant unobservable inputs EXRFAERGARBE

Investment properties
held by the Group
AEBFEERENE

Property 1 -

Property in Hangzhou
(Guomao Building)
1R E - EE
(H8XE)

Significant unobservable inputs

EXTABRAARE

Term yield, taking into account yield of 4% for office portion and 5.5% for retail portion,
generated from comparable properties and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term
income secured and to be received.

KSET I R AR 2 B A A s B R IR R R ) B BRAS e B MER 2 AR BRI A T H 2
BN BB RS ERI% R T ERRNHE.5%

Reversionary yield of 5.5% for office portion and 6% for retail portion, taking into
account annual unit market rental income and unit market value of the comparable
properties.

KA RBUTHFEHRSBARREYENSBLTE  BRMHEE KR ERS5%
REEED6% °

Market unit rent of RMB1.7/sgm/day for office portion and RMB4.9/sgm/day for retail
portion, using direct market comparables and taking into account location and other
individual factors such as road frontage, size of property and facilities.
EREEMSLE A AW KA E R EER  WER/ D RREE M ERFE %
MHEMEEREFHRERAREKI7T (RAEHD) REFHARAGRARKELIT
(AR ) »

Price of RMB9,800/sgm for office portion and RMB23,800/sgm for retail portion, using
market direct comparables and taking into account location and other individual factors
such as road frontage and size of property.
EREEHEMSLEAT RS REHERIMENNSFEMENRE BEAT
FFTARANR9,8007T (HAE M) kBT AKARE23,8007T (FH#HHH)

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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Year ended 31 December 2018 #Z2018F 12831 H L F /&

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. 1 EME (8)
(CONTINUED)
The significant unobservable inputs EXRTASHERAZBE (&)
(continued)

Investment properties
held by the Group
AEBFEEREDE

Property 2 —
Property in Shanghai
(La Vie)
2EME—LBYE
(FR%E%)

Significant unobservable inputs

BEATUERRABE

Term yield, taking into account yield of 5%, generated from comparable properties and
adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be received.

Bt R R AR Y 5 B A B W s B R B R ) 2 RS K BN R 2 A8 BRI A T 2 38
U5 R B5Y% o

Reversionary yield of 5.5%, taking into account annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable properties.

B RBEAMSFERSWARRBYENELNE  ERKREER55% -

Market unit rent of RMB7.8/sgm/day, using direct market comparables and taking into

account location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property

and facilities.

EREEMSLE R AWLT R E RREER  WER/DRREEEMERFE X
MSBUEER/BFTIREBRARKT8T -

Price of RMB50,500/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into account
location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size of property.
ERBEEMSLBUAT T MU ERGEHERIDENNSEEMERNRE BERE
77K AR #50,5007T ©

hEFMmAEERAR QA
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. 1 EME (48)
(CONTINUED)
The significant unobservable inputs EXRTASERAZRE (&)
(continued)

Investment properties

held by the Group Significant unobservable inputs

TEBREEREYE ERTABEGRABE

Property 3 - Term yield, taking into account yield of 5.5%, generated from comparable properties
Property in Hangzhou and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be received.
(Integrated Service Center) TR AEYMEEENKE R AR BIEY B ES XA K EL 2 B R A m L 2 3
MWE—TINIE B AN S T R5.5% o

(FrEa R L)
Reversionary vyield of 6%, taking into account annual unit market rental income and unit
market value of the comparable properties.

B RBEAMSFERSWRARRBYENELTE  EF KD ER6% -

Market unit rent of RMB3.8/sgm/day, using direct market comparables and taking into

account location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property

and facilities.

ﬁﬁﬁE%%?ﬁi%ttﬁﬁifjti@%&ﬁﬁ&Eﬁ&i‘ 8 MEXNRRESEEMEREE
HEMNHE AT A RERARBIST

Price of RMB20,600/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into account
location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size of property.
FREZEMSLBET A MU BEREHERRMENNSEAMENREZ BERE
77K AR #20,6007T ©

2 2 4 China New City Commercial Development Limited
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Year ended 31 December 2018 #Z2018F 12831 H L F /&

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. 1 EME (8)
(CONTINUED)
The significant unobservable inputs EXRTASHERAZBE (&)
(continued)

Investment properties
held by the Group
AEBFEEREDE

Property 4 —

Property in Hangzhou

(Retail portion of Highlong Plaza)
ARME—TINE

(1 BESmMEn)

Significant unobservable inputs

BEATUERRABE

Term yield, taking into account yield of 5.5%, generated from comparable properties
and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be received.

Bt R R AR Y 5 B A B W s B R B R ) 2 RS K BN R 2 A8 BRI A T 2 38
B THEN S ER5.5% ©

Reversionary vyield of 6%, taking into account annual unit market rental income and unit
market value of the comparable properties.

Bt RBEAMSFERASRARRABYENELTE  ERKREE 6% -

Market unit rent of RMB6.3/sgm/day, using direct market comparables and taking into

account location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property

and facilities.

ﬁﬁﬁEﬁﬁi%tt?ﬁifjt%?r&ﬁﬁ&E%&T‘ 8 MER N REREEE M EREE
HEMNHE AT RERARE6.3T

Price of RMB32,000/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into account
location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size of property.
ERBEEMSLBUAT I MU ERGEHERIDENNSEEMENRE BERE
75K AR #32,0007T ©

hEFMmAEERAR QA
—Z-N\EER
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. 1 EME (48)
(CONTINUED)
The significant unobservable inputs EXRTASERAZRE (&)
(continued)

Investment properties

held by the Group Significant unobservable inputs

TEBREEREYE ERTABEGRABE

Property 5 - Term yield, taking into account yield of 5.75%, generated from comparable properties
Property in Hangzhou and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be received.
(Landscape Garden) TR AEYMEEENKE R AR BIEY B ES XA K EL 2 B R A m L 2 3
S ME - B THE S ER5.75% ©

(17K38)

Reversionary yield of 6.25%, taking into account annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable properties.

Bt RBEAMGFERSWARRBYENELTE  ER WS ER6.25% °

Market unit rent of RMB2.4/sgm/day, using direct market comparables and taking into

account location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property

and facilities.

1%ﬁﬁE%%?ﬁi%ttﬁﬁifjtﬂ%&ﬁ%&Eﬁ&i‘ 8 MEXNRRESEEMEREE
HEMHEABFTIREBRARK24T-

Price of RMB14,000/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into account
location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size of property.
FREZEMSLBET A MU BEREHERRMENNSEAMENREZ BERE
IR AR #14,0007T

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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Year ended 31 December 2018 #Z2018F 12831 H L F /&

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. 1 EME (8)
(CONTINUED)
The significant unobservable inputs EXRTASHERAZBE (&)
(continued)

Investment properties
held by the Group
AEBFEEREDE

Property 6 —

Property in Hangzhou
(Hidden Dragon Bay)
Sk E St AN EES

( ﬁE/i:'%

Significant unobservable inputs

BEATUERRABE

Term yield, taking into account yield of 5%, generated from comparable properties and
adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be received.

Bt R R AR Y 5 B A B W s B R B R ) 2 RS K BN R 2 A8 BRI A T 2 38
B THE R ER5% o

Reversionary vyield of 6%, taking into account annual unit market rental income and unit
market value of the comparable properties.

Bt RBEAMSFERASRARRABYENELTE  ERKREE 6% -

Market unit rent of RMB4.4/sgm/day, using direct market comparables and taking into
account location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property
and facilities.

EREEMSLE R AWLT R E RREER  WER/DRREEEMERFE X
ST ENEERBTAREBRARK44T-

Price of RMB21,000/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into account
location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size of property.
ERBEEMSLBUAT I MU ERGEHERIDENNSEEMENRE BERE
77K AR #21,0007T

hEFMmAEERAR QA
—Z-N\EER
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. 1 EME (48)
(CONTINUED)
The significant unobservable inputs EXRTASERAZRE (&)
(continued)

Investment properties

held by the Group Significant unobservable inputs

TEBREEREYE ERTABEGRABE

Property 7 - Term yield, taking into account yield of 5.75%, generated from comparable properties
Property in Yuyao and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be received.
(Intime City) Bt T R AR Y 5 B A O W s B IR B e ) 2L RS K B R 2 A8 BRI A T 2 38
TSR E — ROk B THE S ER5.75% ©

(8RFW)

Reversionary yield of 6.25%, taking into account annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable properties.

Bt RBEAMGFERSWARRBYENELTE  ER WS ER6.25% °

Market unit rent of RMB4.1/sgm/day, using direct market comparables and taking into

account location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property

and facilities.

1%ﬁﬁE%%?ﬁi%ttﬁﬁifjtﬂ%&ﬁ%&Eﬁ&i‘ 8 MEXNRRESEEMEREE
HEMHEABFTAREBRARK4 T

Price of RMB16,500/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into account
location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size of property.
FREZEMSLBET A MU BEREHERRMENNSEAMENREZ BERE
IR AR #16,5007T

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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Year ended 31 December 2018 #Z2018F 12831 H L F /&

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. 1 EME (8)
(CONTINUED)
The significant unobservable inputs EXRTASHERAZBE (&)
(continued)

Investment properties
held by the Group
AEBFEEREDE

Property 8 —

Property in Yuyao

(Retail portion of Times Square )
8SRE — Rk
(FRES—H)

Significant unobservable inputs

BEATUERRABE

Term yield, taking into account yield of 5.75%, generated from comparable properties
and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be received.
Bt R R AR Y 5 B A B W s B R B R ) 2 RS K BN R 2 A8 BRI A T 2 38
B THEN S K R5.75% °

Reversionary yield of 6.25%, taking into account annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable properties.

B RBEAMSFERSWARRBYENELTE  ER WS ER6.25% °

Market unit rent of RMB3.0/sgm/day, using direct market comparables and taking into

account location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property

and facilities.

ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ%m?ﬁ%i%%&ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%‘D\W%K¢&&ﬁ% LA {E B A 3%
HBEMNHE AT A RERAREI0T.

Price of RMB15,000/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into account
location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size of property.
ERBEEMSLBUAT T MU ERGEHERIDENNSEEMERNRE BERE
77K AR #15,0007T

hEFMmAEERAR QA
—Z-N\EER
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. 1 EWE (48)

(CONTINUED)

The significant unobservable inputs ERTAHEGRAZE (&)

(continued)
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within Level NERE=ZRAABESRZAAEBERT
3 of the fair value hierarchy: = 2HER:
Commercial
properties
EmRAYE
RMB’000
ARET T
Carrying amount at 1 January 2017 R2017F1 1B 2 BREE 2,041,750
Additions °’_‘E 996,402
Net loss from a fair value adjustment recognised in REERTRAREMBA RS2
other income and gains in profit or loss NAEBERARE BB FE (52,352)

H2017%12A318 &
201851 A1B 2 BREE

Carrying amount at 31 December 2017 and

1 January 2018 2,985,800

REERPHERREMAS 2

Net loss from a fair value adjustment recognised in

other expenses in profit or loss AAEEARE B FE (109,500)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2018 MR2018F12A31H 2 lREE 2,876,300
Under the discounted cash flow method, fair value is estimated RIERREREE  ARNEERARE

EFRANMERNERABENBRMGEE
(BREEHEXIRKEER) T ESRY

using assumptions regarding the benefits and liabilities of
ownership over the asset’s life including an exit or terminal value.

230

This method involves the projection of a series of cash flows on a
property interest. A market-derived discount rate is applied to the
projected cash flow in order to establish the present value of the
income stream associated with the asset. The exit yield is normally
separately determined and differs from the discount rate.

The duration of the cash flows and the specific timing of inflows
and outflows are determined by events such as rent reviews, lease
renewal and related reletting, redevelopment or refurbishment.
The appropriate duration is driven by market behaviour that is
a characteristic of the class of property. The periodic cash flow
is estimated as gross income less vacancy, non-recoverable
expenses, collection losses, lease incentives, maintenance costs,
agent and commission costs and other operating and management
expenses. The series of periodic net operating income, along with
an estimate of the terminal value anticipated at the end of the
projection period, is then discounted.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2018 Annual Report
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

(CONTINUED)

The significant unobservable inputs
(continued)

A significant increase (decrease) in the estimated rental value and
the market rent growth rate per annum in isolation would result in
a significant increase (decrease) in the fair value of the investment
properties. A significant increase (decrease) in the long term
vacancy rate and the discount rate in isolation would result in a
significant decrease (increase) in the fair value of the investment
properties. Generally, a change in the assumption made for the
estimated rental value is accompanied by a directionally similar
change in the rent growth per annum and the discount rate and an
opposite change in the long term vacancy rate.

There are four properties — the International Office Center, the Office
portion of Highlong Plaza and the Serviced apartment portion of
Highlong Plaza, three properties in Hangzhou, and the Retail and
office portion of Yuyao Zhong An Times Square Phase I, a property
in Yuyao — valued and categorised into Level 2 fair value hierarchy,
the valuation technique adopted is the direct comparison approach,
and the key input is price per square metre. The higher the price,
the higher the fair value.

The significant unobservable input for the International Office
Center is the price of RMB33,200/sgm to RMB37,600/sgm, using
market direct comparables and taking into account location and
other individual factors such as road frontage and size of property.
As at 31 December 2018, the investment property part of the
International Office Center is valued and categorised into Level 2
fair value hierarchy with a carrying amount of RMB2,485,000,000
(2017: RMB2,416,000,000).

The significant unobservable input for the Office portion of Highlong
Plaza is the price of RMB14,500/sgm to RMB14,600/sgm, using
market direct comparables and taking into account location and
other individual factors such as road frontage and size of property.
As at 31 December 2018, the investment property part of the Office
portion of Highlong Plaza is valued and categorised into Level 2 fair
value hierarchy with a carrying amount of RMB68,000,000 (2017:
RMB224,500,000).

Notes to Financial Statements
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13. e BW™=E (&)

EAFAEHEEGABE (H)

EAHEEEATSESFREEREBAK
g ORd) K8 @(&ﬁf@%z/&ﬁ@i@
NI ORd) RREEXTRURFRE
BAREN OfD) BEBREVMEZ DR
EEAERD (380) - —KRME - piEEHE
EREFHNEBERNEDHSERHS FI8
REEREHBRBUNREH M ER K
ZERHBERME -

B — BRI AH O - BEESH
MOLEEERSREALAE (ZEAR
RN RARSER R R RES - T E R
REMD (—BRAIRRK 2 WE) TR R B
BERF2ACETHE  RANGEERN S
BEEREBEA MEBRBARBREFIIKE
®oBEES AREEMS-

R

R ARLHERT A B RS AHIR
BEFHRKAREI3200TEFFEH KA
R#37,600 B ZEHEFEREE
MG EB AW RUBAREEER Y
F RS H At B Bl B = EE E - 102018412
A31B BB AR LR EMED DI
ARBESERFRETHE FEEA
AR #2,485,000,0007T (20174 : A R ¥
2,416,000,0007T )

BRE 45 il A 5040 RO B AT A] B 2 8 A 2K
BAEEBFHARAARK145000EFFH K
ARB14,600TcHER ZEHEFAERE
BEMBLBET At RO E A REEEBE
PR/ EE M E B E = E E - R20184F
12A31H B ESHABHREME
BORANEESREBETHE  RE
B A A R#68,000,0007T (20174 : AR
224,500,0007T ) °

hEFMmAEERAR QA
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(CONTINUED)

The significant unobservable inputs
(continued)

The significant unobservable input for the Serviced apartment
portion of Highlong Plaza is the price of RMB15,800/sgm to
RMB16,300/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into
account location and other individual factors such as road frontage
and size of property. As at 31 December 2018, the investment
property part of the Serviced apartment portion of Highlong Plaza
is valued and categorised into Level 2 fair value hierarchy with a

carrying amount of RMB39,000,000 (2017: RMB41,000,000).

By the end of 2017, the Retail and Office portion of Times Square
Il was originally designed for sale. In October 2018, Management
decided to change the usage of the Retail and Office portion of
Times Square Il from sale to lease out. Significant unobservable
input for the Retail portion of Times Square Il is the price of
RMB14,200/sgm to RMB15,300/sgm and for the Office portion
of Times Square Il is the price of RMB8,000/sgm to RMB9,500/
sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into account
location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size
of property. As at 31 December 2018, the investment property part
of the Retail and Office portion of Times Square Il is valued and
categorised into Level 2 fair value hierarchy with a carrying amount

of RMB56,000,000.

(b)  The Group’s investment properties situated on the leasehold

land in Mainland China are all leased for 30 to 50 years.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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13. L BW=E (])

EARFAEHEGABE (H)

BREES R AT HOERTAIHRE A
BASFEHARKARKEI580TEGFFH XK
ARME16,300t KB ZEHEERAE
BEMISLEUEAW R R B A RERAEE -
) 3 R /N M (B Bl A R E - 120184
12A318  BRESHABMNOIEEME
BHERAABESERFERETEHE KA
1B & A R #39,000,0007 (20174 : AR ¥
41,000,0007T) ©

2017 KRR BRES ZHHTERNA
O RETIAEE R B A mRET - 72018
FI0A BEEZABKRES _HHNT
ERRABOHMAEHEEERALME-

KRES -_HEEBOHNERTIERE
ABEBTFEFRARB142000EEGF
TR ARKEA5,300cHIER - MEERES =
HHMABOMNER T BREAZIEA
BFHKARES0TEGFHKARE
9,500TtHIE - ZEHEFREEMSL
BUAWET RO BIAREGEHBE MEXNE
HERIREEE - H2018F12A310 ' B
HERES —HNTERRABDEED
EETHEYAERAABESHRFE2R

AR A A& A R #56,000,0007T °

b)) AEEHREWME (LR BEADA
HE 1 30) BEIN FHRI0ES04F



13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(CONTINUED)

The significant unobservable inputs
(continued)

()

Investment properties leased out under operating leases

The Group leases out investment properties under operating
lease arrangements. All leases run for a period of one to
fifteen years, with an option to renew the leases after the
expiry dates, at which time all terms will be renegotiated.
The Group’s total future minimum lease receivables under
non-cancellable operating leases arising from investment
properties are as follows:
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13. e BW™=E (&)

BEATABERARE (H)
© REGEEEECAHORANE

FAEBRBCEHERYALIKREY
X-MAHERM—Z=1+THEF YA
BENDH B REEMER 2 IR
THEHEE - AKERENATHHKL
EHEMREMEMSHRRKER
EREBBRWT

2018 2017

20184 20174

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET ARBFT

Within one year —FR 74,551 67,233
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_EZFRF (BREERT) 175,829 145,805
After five years HFELE 61,957 23,330
312,337 236,368

At 31 December 2018, certain of the Group’s investment
properties with a carrying amount of RMB1,238,247,000
(2017: RMB1,732,798,000) were pledged to secure interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings granted to the Group as
disclosed in note 26.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had entered into certain
sale and purchase agreements to sell certain investment
properties with a carrying amount of RMB21,693,000
(2017: RMB194,955,000). Besides, the Group also
received deposits of approximately RMB8,153,000 (2017:
RMB32,571,000), and the amount received was recognised
as advances from customers as at 31 December 2018.

M2018%F 12331 H 1B & M 226
TR A5SEEmEAARE
1,238,247,0007T (20174 : AR ¥
1,732,798,0007T) K& TIREMFEE
EREEEST BIRITER R A b fE
R o

M2018F 12318  REB R &
TEEHBZULERAEAAR
#21,693,0007T (20174 : A R ¥
194,955,0007T ) W& TR E Y-
o REEITFE WRE S A
R #8,153,0007T (20174 : AR ¥
32,571,0007T) ° 2018412 A 31
H ERRESBEERRRREFPEMN

Eo
A °
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

14. PROPERTIES UNDER

14. AP E

DEVELOPMENT
2018 2017
20184 20174
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
it ARET T AREEF T
Carrying amount at 1 January W1A1BERMEE 2,851,414 2,323,045
Additions NE 1,157,277 1,240,691
Transfer to investment properties HEBEIREME 13 (24,924) (858,814)
Transfer to construction in progress BEEETETE 12 - (420,316)
Transfer from investment properties ERAREME 13 - 697,000
Transfer to completed properties held
for sale PRERIEHEE BT E 19 (2,136,698) (130,192)
Carrying amount at 31 December MW12A31BEREAE 1,847,069 2,851,414
Current assets MEEE 913,669 2,211,244
Non-current assets FERBEE 933,400 640,170
1,847,069 2,851,414

Except for one property located in Japan, the rest of the Group’s

properties under development are located in Mainland China.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

14. PROPERTIES UNDER 14. A% (18)
DEVELOPMENT (CONTINUED)
2018 2017
20185 20174
Japan A7 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTF T ARETT

Freehold KA FERE 77,291 =

The carrying amounts of the properties under development situated FER Y (AP BERAEE L)/
on the leasehold land in Mainland China are as follows: BREEWNT

2018 2017

20184 20174

Mainland China B A it RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T AR¥ETT

Leases between 30 and 50 years 7 HABOE 2504 1,769,778 2,851,414

At 31 December 2018, certain of the Group’s properties under 2018F12A31H  REBAE THEFY

development with a carrying amount of RMB753,053,000 (2017: ¥ ERmEEAARE753,053,0007T (2017

RMB786,511,000) were pledged to secure interest-bearing bank F: ARM786,511,0007T) * 20 sE26FT 3

and other borrowings granted to the Group as disclosed in note 26. B EEAETAEEFGBRTERKREA
R GokEwi

BT EEERER AT
TETITEIZIRERa 235
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

15. EQUITY INVESTMENTS
DESIGNATED AT FAIR

VALUE THROUGH OTHER

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/

I
=
EEEH &
5 8

KagbL>

Wb

=
i
o
2>
N

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE
INVESTMENTS
2018 2017
20185 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTT
Equity investments designated EERRBRAAEBEA
at fair value through other Hth2EKREFZBRARE
comprehensive income
Unlisted equity investments, at fair value ~ 3E FTIIRARE  H A REE
Qian Ning Health Industry Co., Ltd I EREEFXBRAT 25,000 =
Anhui Five Star Food Co., Ltd ZHAERmMBNHERRAF 3,300 -
Hangzhou Sui Kang Nursing Home MINBEREZRBR A A
Co., Ltd 4,000 -
Shenzhen Xin Shi City Development AEAMTERRERR AT
Investment Co., Ltd 6,000 -
Maggie and Rose Limited Maggie and Rose Limited 42,514 =
Zhejiang Xinnongdu Industrial Co., Ltd I REHEEXER AR 336,000 -
Total Bt 416,814 -
Available-for-sale investments AHHERE
Unlisted equity investments, at fair value 3 FTIRARE iR A REE - 359,300

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

EQUITY INVESTMENTS 15. BESERAAREHAR
DESIGNATED AT FAIR HhEmiERZBRERE
VALUE THROUGH OTHER AHERE ()
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/
AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE
INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)
Management designated the equity investments as financial EIEE 201851 A1 A Y114 FE FA BIBR B 1%
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income upon WMEERFORBEBERAREIBEEBIEAA
initial application of IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018, as management BEFAEMEZERES2EREE  RAR
considered them strategic investments in the long run. The fair FEERAZSHEBRRIARKRE -
value of the unlisted equity investments are determined by reference ELTRARE AR BELERRRS
to the expected cash flows discounted at current rates applicable MEET MZReREHIERNEEL
for items with similar terms and risk characteristics. (Changes of G R RBEIE 2B < RITH REAIRE
RMB9,000,000 in fair value for the year ended 31 December 2018 He (BE2018F12A31HIEFREZ2ARE
or accumulated change in fair value as of 31 December 2018, B B) AR #9,000,0007T 3 & 22018412
respectively, has been recognized in other comprehensive income.) A31BZ R AnBEEFHE SRR EM
2HEK =R )
LONG TERM PREPAYMENTS 16. REATAFT &
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AREET T
Deposit for acquisition of a subsidiary WiE—ENB AR zEE 60,000 -
Prepaid land lease payments At LS K8 51,415 72,290
Maintenance fund HEES 19,441 12,031
Prepaid property lease payment TR ERE R 24,908 38,633
Construction completion deposits BTES 22,944 13,480
Deposits e 52,273 52,273
230,981 188,707
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17. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND

LIABILITIES

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

17. EERFRER AR

BEERBREERABEHMT

Deferred tax assets EEBEEE
Losses
available
Unrealised for offsetting
intragroup  against future
profit or loss taxable profits Total
A 45 85
REE  RARERB
SEEBE FENESR #at
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFRT AR®TRT AR%®TR
At 1 January 2017 R2017F1A1H 3,691 7,398 11,089
Deferred tax charged to the statement of ~ F AR B KR HBRAELET B
profit or loss during the year (1,715) 1,683 (32)
At 31 December 2017 and 1 January 2018 142017412431 H &%2018%F1 A1H 1,976 9,081 11,057
Deferred tax charged to the statement of & R B K % 7YIE TR 18
profit or loss during the year - (6,504) (6,504)
At 31 December 2018 M2018F12H31H 1,976 2,577 4,553

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

17. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND 17..EERFREAERAR

LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) b =]
Deferred tax assets (continued) EEBBEEE (&)

In accordance with the PRC laws and regulations, tax losses could
be carried forward for five years to offset against its future taxable
profits. Deferred tax assets relating to unutilised tax losses are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow these deferred tax assets to be
utilised.

The Group has no accumulated tax losses arising in Hong
Kong that are available indefinitely for offsetting against future
taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. The
Group has accumulated tax losses arising in Mainland China of
RMB532,752,000 (2017: RMB413,204,000) that will expire in one
to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred tax
assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses as they
have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some
time and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

REFBEAEREAR  HABBRAEERLF
AR SHE B R B EERTAEAE - BRI RENA
BEBENELERREE REEKEEH
RN BUNEZSECHAEERFTH
PR 77 & HERR

AEETEREBELRABIEESE
AANERBEESHREBEENQAAR
% H) R B FDE o AN £ B R B A i &
4 AR #532,752,0007T (20174 : AR
413,204,0007T ) &) 2T HIEEE - R —2
RFERNEE - LIKE BB ERRFE - B
RZEMBARIEEEEE—BEM AR
AT s 0] A EHDR B IS B 18 /O B =R
BAE - U ERZEEERERAECHIEE
EE o
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17. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND 17.RERMIEFTERAR
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) (48)

Deferred tax liabilities EEHREEE

Fair value
adjustment
of equity
investment
Fairvalue at fair value
adjustment  through other

of investment comprehensive With-
properties income holding tax Others* Total
BRAREE
FAEA
2ENE
RENE  ZREARE
MAEERE QAAEERE ki Hifr @t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARET:R

At 1 January 2017 RO17F1 /18 902,079 - 12,073 70,442 984,594
Realised during the year RERER (138,164) - - (900) (139,064)
Deferred tax credited to the statement of FRNRBRRERNELRE

profit or loss during the year 206,026 = 7,270 28,49 241,791
At 31 December 2017 and 1 January 2018 52017412331 201851 318 960,941 - 19,343 98037 1,087,321
Realised during the year RERERE (127,857) - - (24,441) (152,298)
Deferred tax(charged)/credited to FRRBER (1K)

the statement of profit or loss during ERNETRE

the year (702) - 3503 12,302 15,103
Deferred tax credited to the statement of FRREMZAKGEE

other comprehensive income during REVELHIE

the year - 2,250 - - 2,250
At 31 December 2018 2018512318 841,382 2,250 2,846 85,898 952,376
* Others mainly include temporary differences regarding * Hth+ Z 635 E A LA K AN 8 B 0 R

capitalised finance costs. =

2 4 0 China New City Commercial Development Limited
2018 Annual Report



Notes to Financial Statements
P 5 R B

Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

17. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND 17..EERFREAERAR

LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law (the “New CIT
Law”), a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in the PRC. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and
applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding
tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland
China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is therefore liable for
withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries
established in the PRC in respect of earnings generated from 1
January 2008.

Other than the above deferred tax liability in relation to the PRC
withholding income tax provided, no deferred taxation has been
provided for the distributable retained profits of approximately
RMB431,728,000 (2017: RMB352,489,000), which were derived
from the PRC subsidiaries as the Group is able to control the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

=

BEPBECEMERE([EEMBER
i) BRI R B B INE 1 E A SN
BEZHTIRIREBRI0%TEMFT - BERTE
B200841 818 4 %+ I8 A R 20074
12 A31 BBFTE S 2 B o i B Ryt Fa 5k
EREEMBRIZEBR CHATERBGESR
RIPTR SR B R A - N EE 2 @A L
ER10% o At - AEBERZERF B
M2 WE AR B2008F1 F1AREE A
iR 2 IR BB IEHRL

B B 3 E 51 A9 R B TE PR 1S B AR RO IR
EHEAEN BHERFEERBEMNE AT
B Al 50 AR B8 g I 49 A R #431,728,0007T
(20174 : A R#352,489,0007T ) 1 H IE T
MBS AAREEE TR R
5] 9 B P8 BT B 1 = B AT B A B LR 2R R
RE -
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18. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES
WITH MATERIAL NON-

CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries that have material non-

controlling interests are set out below:

Percentage of equity interest held by non-controlling interests:

18.

%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁik#ﬂ

R Ay

Bp

BAEBRIFERERNAEENEQBF

BEINMT :

FEBRESFEREI L

2018 2017
2018% 20174
Zhejiang Zhong An Sheng Long IR ELEEREGRAA
Commercial Co., Ltd. ([REERE])
(“Zhong An Sheng Long’) 10% 10%
Hangzhou Zheng Jiang Real Estate MNE IR ERZERR AR
Development Co., Ltd. ([HMET])
(‘Hangzhou Zheng Jiang”) 7.5% 7.5%
Zhejiang Heng Fa Real Estate Co. Ltd. AIEHEEERAT
(“Zhejiang Heng Fa”) (M#rrieg]) 49% 49%
Accumulated balances of non-controlling interests at the reporting RIS B EAFEIE IR i s RET 4 64
date:
2018 2017
20185 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBETF T
Zhong An Sheng Long REEKE 132,916 146,506
Hangzhou Zheng Jiang N IEST 13,791 7,613
Zhejiang Heng Fa pARIEE:S 62,486 18,175

Profit/(loss) for the year allocated to non-controlling interests:

FADIKTIERERNORT, (BR) :

2018 2017
20184 20174

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARET T

Zhong An Sheng Long REEKE (16,796) (13,329)
Hangzhou Zheng Jiang N IET (2,711) (557)
Zhejiang Heng Fa ARIEE:S 44,310 (6,325)

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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18. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES
WITH MATERIAL NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS

(CONTINUED)

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information

of the above subsidiaries. The amounts disclosed are before any

Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

18. BB S 60 B 9 B K S 42

R i 2 H9PH B

N

NE (#)

TREINA LM BRRMNMBERBE -
EENSRANERNARESEEN 22

inter-company eliminations: H:
Zhong An Hangzhou Zhejiang
Sheng Long Zheng Jiang Heng Fa
RRERE MMIET RPAR R
2018 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
20184 ARBT T AR® T ARBT
Revenue WA 53,743 13,324 291,925
Changes in fair value of BEMERNAREBEED
investment properties (50,783) (27,297) -
Total expenses X 5 (170,922) (22,177) (201,496)
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive R (E518) % H &
income for the year 2HE LR (167,962) (36,150) 90,429
Current assets mENEE 3,260,460 709,094 379,004
Non-current assets IEREBEE 3,003,544 236,477 6,682
Current liabilities mEAaE (4,447,845) (761,688) (259,890)
Non-current liabilities FERBELE (487,000) - -
Net cash flows (used in)/generated ~ &3&E &) (FEA) EAL
from operating activities RemEFRE (43,217) 619 (675)
Net cash flows generated from KREEBEE
investing activities ReRE R 165,712 207 -
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and 3¢ MR & EEWIEMN,
cash equivalents OB ) %58 122,495 826 (675)
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18. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES 18.
WITH MATERIAL NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS

BHY
i b

X
A (

Su
H¥

fa
f

B
kS
s>t

B
Slje
)

(CONTINUED)
The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information TREIALMBATHMFELES -
of the above subsidiaries. The amounts disclosed are before any FEENEEARNEMARMEEN 2
inter-company eliminations: (continued) B (&)
Hangzhou
Zhong An Zheng Zhejiang
Sheng Long Jiang Heng Fa
R E HUN BT DDA K3
2017 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
20174 AREBTFT ARBETTT ARBEFTTT
Revenue KA 43,737 13,576 -
Changes in fair value of WEMEAREBEE
investment properties (19,578) (23,028) -
Total expenses M B (86,513) 2,022 16,154
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive R (&8 ) /i Fl &
income for the year 2EKR LT (62,354) (7,430) 16,154
Current assets MEEE 2,639,851 713,528 298,017
Non-current assets FEMBEE 3,147,234 346,180 3,627
Current liabilities mEN B & (3,652,964) (839,676) (266,277)
Non-current liabilities JERBALE (637,000) - -
Net cash flows generated from/(used B EENEL
in) operating activities (MBS REFH 538,109 (1,183) (56,654)
Net cash flows used in investing REESFEA
activities Bergsm (538,109) (10) (497)
Net decrease in cash and cash ReRkAEEZEED
equivalents B FEE - (1,193) (57,151)

2 4 4 China New City Commercial Development Limited
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19. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD 10. ¥ EHECETHE
FOR SALE

2018 2017

20184 20174

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Bt ARETR ARBTFT

Carrying amount at 1 January R1A18 2 BRHEE 1,282,967 1,232,200
Transfer from properties HEERETYE

under development 14 2,136,698 130,192

Transfer to investment properties EREREME 13 (80,006) =

Cost of properties sold BEHEMERR 6 (1,330,618) (79,425)

Carrying amount at 31 December M12A31H ZBREE 2,009,041 1,282,967

20

As at 31 December 2018, certain of the Group’s completed
properties held for sale of RMB1,524,606,000 (2017:
RMB1,086,533,000) were pledged to secure interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings granted to the Group as disclosed in note 26.

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly lease
receivables on credit. The credit period is generally one month,
extending up to three months for major customers. All balances of
the trade receivables as at the end of the year were neither past
due nor impaired and aged within one to three months, and are
expected to be recovered within one year. The Group assessed that
there is no significant loss allowance recognised in accordance with
the ECL model under IFRS 9 as at 31 December 2018.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

20.

M2018F12A31H  N&EEH T HEH
EEEKYE A AR1,524,606,0007T
(20174 : A R #1,086,533,0007T) + 40 ff
H2BFTIREE  BEEABR TAKEG ERITE
R E S BRI IE -

FE U 58 2 B 3% B SR 48

AEERAERPIIUNEBESEREERE
BEHERKGIE -EEH—KA—M@A
FTERFMERSERE-MA -BKES
BN EERNFTE BB R HHRE
HERAE—Z=@EARBHR—FRNAT
Yefml o 72018412 4318 » AN ERH(AH L&
BRI B 5 2R F ORI N IR B
BEEADHERZEAEEEE-

PIERE SRR E REERENED
LI

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARET T

At beginning of year REA
Effect of adoption of IFRS 9
At beginning of year (restated)

Impairment losses

REY (KKEF)
VERIEN SR
At end of year RER

Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing and unsecured.

RABIFR B S ER LR E = =

e E 5 R AR S R EER -
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21. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER 21. AT FRIE - Hfth FE U R IR
RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS REMEE
2018 2017
20185 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETT

Advances to suppliers TR B4R B 32,563 30,015
Project construction guarantee deposits 18 B T2 RIZ S 44,592 39,312
Recoverable prepayment for land B AT 54 4 b U B A o] W (2] TR A SR IE
acquisition cancelled 122,500 -
Prepaid other tax A B IE 113,444 26,752
Other receivables F Al WO IE 90,480 47,227
403,579 143,306
As at 31 December 2018, other receivables of the Group are 20185128318 @ A& B » E fth i I FK
considered to be low credit risk and thus the Group has assessed BERBRAEERBRE WAEBEDRE12
that the ECL for other receivables is immaterial under the 12 & A B EA B R A R - b EUGRIE 2 TR B
months expected loss method. EEBBEIBTEK.
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of FRIE RUA - R WCGRIE R E At E ER(E
prepayments, other receivables and other assets are as follows: FHEEERENEHNT
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T AR T

At beginning of year REA - =
Effect of adoption of IFRS 9 TANE R i s R EOSR  2 - =
At beginning of year (restated) REF (FKEF) - =
Impairment losses RIEEE - =
At end of year RER - =

2 4 6 China New City Commercial Development Limited
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22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AND RESTRICTED CASH
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2.5aREeFRYMRZR

il Bl &

2018 2017

20184 20174

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BT R ARBTIT

Cash and bank balances B MIRTTA & 618,757 430,000
Time deposits TEHATE R 6,565 182,463
625,322 612,463
Less: Restricted cash B S2BR B & (76,415) (289,151)
Cash and cash equivalents HeERREEED 548,907 323,312
Current assets MENEE 69,850 149,224
Non-current assets ERBEE 6,565 139,927
Restricted cash SR FIIR & 76,415 289,151

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying
periods of between one day and three months depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at
the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances
and restricted cash are deposited with creditworthy banks with no

recent history of default.

Pursuant to relevant regulations in the PRC, certain property
development companies of the Group are required to place in
designated bank accounts certain amounts of pre-sale proceeds of
properties as guarantee deposits for the construction of the related
properties. The deposits can be used for purchases of construction
materials and payments of the construction fees of the relevant
property projects when approval from the relevant local government
authorities is obtained. As at 31 December 2018, these guarantee
deposits amounted to approximately RMB64,820,000 (2017:

RMB105,905,000).

Besides, certain of the Group’s bank accounts of approximately
RMB5,030,000 (2017: RMB783,000) were pledged to banks for the

timely repayment of the loans.

RITERENRITABRBEZIANZEAE
AR EHEMERR —REZEATEK
HR (RAEENRBRSFRME) - R
BRI BE A KRG B - RITHERK
Ko SR 1) 3R 2 39 17 DU 4T HA X 58 K0 R 52
MEE RIF 2 RTT -

BB BEARR A NEEAE T WM
A RVARTREKE T ETEE S HRIE
FHRRIETEIRITIRE  (EREM M EREZR
BRIZS - EEUS A E BT S PI a0 B #
% ReARBERBYEERWEEN
B R ATEESE A K2018F128318 ¢
ZERZRS A AREEG4,820,0007T (2017
&F: AR#¥105,905,0007T) °

BN REBMZEFRITEEOARE
5,030,0007T (20174 = A R #783,0007T)
BEBETRT ARBEEERK-
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—Z-N\EER

247



248

Notes to Financial Statements

S 25 e i e

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F 12831 H IEFE

22.

23.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AND RESTRICTED CASH
(CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2018, none of the Group’s current time
deposits (2017: RMB42,536,000) was pledged to secure interest-
bearing bank loans and other borrowings granted to the Group as
disclosed in note 26.

As at 31 December 2018, certain of the Group’s non-current time
deposits of RMB6,562,000 (2017: RMB1,000,000) were pledged to
banks as guarantees for mortgage facilities granted to purchasers
of the Group’s properties.

As at 31 December 2018, certain of the Group’s non-current time
deposits of RMB3,000 (2017: RMB138,927,000) were pledged to
secure interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings granted to
the Group as disclosed in note 26.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to RMB561,718,204
(2017: RMB420,390,604).The RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement.
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

TRADE PAYABLES

An aging analysis of the Group’s trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the payment due dates, is as follows:

2.5&RBeFRYMRZR

wBRE (8)

AN EE26FTIREE - A2018812A31H » &
SES AL HAETERER (2017F : AR
#42,536,0007T) * fE RN BIER T B8R
TERMEMERZER-

M2018F12A318 A& E 2 & T IERN &1
T H1FE A R #6,562,0007T (20174 : A
R %1,000,0007T ) BB TR1T - fER/RIZA
EEMEERBEEIZIBEEZER.

AP EE26FTIREE - 1A2018512A31H » &
=B 2 F T 3B #3177 ;A R #53,0007T
(20174 : AR#138,927,0007T) B FIAE
o ERASEERG BRITER R EMIE
K2R

RBER NREEUARBIENES
MERTT 48 B AR H561,718,2047T (2017
F: ARM420,390,6047T) - AREREAR
HHERAEMER A REH BRI
P& Hl R E A R 4EIE - SERMNESTER
E o AEEEESRERETINEZEFHIR
TEARBHRABEMER .-

23. B R B IR

ARE BN E S RN HRE P ARIRATRE
HRAENREONAOT :

2018 2017

20184 20174

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARET T

Within six months 618 A W 602,405 590,329
Over six months but within one year BiEeE A EMFR 64,857 117,687
Over one year HBiE1F 23,531 42,358
690,793 750,374

The trade payables are unsecured and interest-free and are
normally settled based on the progress of construction.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
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24. HfthEFIRIAR BB

2018 2017

20184 20174

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETR ARBFT

Deposits related to construction BRAEENILES 30,317 40,894
Payables for acquisition of subsidiaries FEULRE B B A B FE A B 38 15,059 15,060
Tax surcharges B AN 26,842 19,548
Guarantee deposits RS 46,231 41,540
Other payables H fth FE A 5k IE 66,497 62,081
184,946 179,123

Other payables are unsecured and interest-free.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES/ADVANCES
FROM CUSTOMERS

Hip BN R R EE Y BT B e

25. BHIRAMR ERAMRK

2018 2017

20184 20174

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T ARET T

Contract liabilities BHEE 1,123,792 =
Advance from customers EYSEEESEN - 1,088,863
1,123,792 1,088,863

Contract liabilities and advances from customers represent sales
proceeds received from buyers in connection with the Group’s pre-
sale of properties.

Details of contract liabilities as at 31 December 2018 and 1 January

BHBBEREPENRERAEB 2BE
WMERC KRB ZHERSHR

R2018%12A31H &2018F1 A1BH 2464

2018 are as follows: BESFBOT:
31 December 1 January
2018 2018
20184 20184
12H31H 181H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AR¥T

Short-term advances received B W EE 1957 B8 (154
from customers

Sale of properties SHEWZE 1,123,792 1,088,863

hEMMmAEERAR
—B-N\F
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26. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND
OTHER BORROWINGS

26.

FMRETERREMMER
2018 2017

20184 20174

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TF T AR T

Current: BNER
Bank loans — secured RITER— BT
Bank loans — unsecured HR1TE K — I
Non-current: JERNER :
Bank loans — secured RITER—HEMA
Other loans — secured HiER—HEM®
Repayable: AR T BifEEE
Within one year or on demand —F A E K
Over one year but within two years ZR—FEBLRME
Over two years but within five years ZRMEERLRASE
Over five years AFEMNE

Except for certain short term bank and other borrowings amounting
to RMB1,010,000,000 (2017: RMB1,201,000,000) that bear
interest at fixed rates, all bank loans bear interest at floating rates.

2 5 China New City Commercial Development Limited
0 2018 Annual Report

922,460 1,130,739

= 50,000

922,460 1,180,739
1,235,625 1,117,000
810,000 810,000
2,045,625 1,927,000
2,968,085 3,107,739
922,460 1,180,739
320,500 1,270,000
1,565,000 487,000
160,125 170,000
2,968,085 3,107,739

BB TRETEM R B2 ERRITERRE
& AR % 1,010,000,0007T (20174 : A
R#1,201,000,0007T ) * FT A RITERILF
BAEETE o



26. INTEREST-BEARING BANK

AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

The Group’s bank and other borrowings bear interest at effective
interest rates ranging as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
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26. (tBERTTERR H A fERK

(#&)
AEE R ERR R M RRA TR
IET

2018 2017
20184 20174

Effective interest rates BRI R

The carrying amounts of all the Group’s borrowings during the year
were denominated as follows:

0.90% -8.20%  0.90% - 8.20%

AEERFAMBERNEEERATE
BEtE HBWT

2018 2017

20184 20174

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T ARBTIT

RMB loans and borrowings ARBERRER 2,968,085 2,787,390
US$ loans and borrowings ETLERKER - 282,784
JPY loans and borrowings HItER &ER - 37,565
2,968,085 3,107,739

The Group’s bank and other borrowings were secured by the
pledges of the following assets at the end of reporting period as
follows:

RBERR AEBRTER R EMERH
AT EEEREERM:

2018 2017
2018%F 20174
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Mt st AR¥F T ARETIT

Carrying value of the Group’s assets: AEBEENREE:
Investment properties REYE 13 1,238,247 1,732,798
Properties under development FEER Y% 14 753,053 786,511
Completed properties held for sale FHEHEEEXNME 19 1,524,606 1,086,533
Restricted cash RGIE 2 22 5,033 182,246
Property and equipment I EYNE L 12 498,179 90,704
4,019,118 3,878,792

At 31 December 2018, the Group’s borrowings of
RMB479,000,000 (2017: Nil) were guaranteed by Mr. Shi Kancheng
(Note 31(3)(iii)).

M2018F12A318 " AEE 2 ERAR K
479,000,0007T (20174 : £ ) Jy B e Ak %t
AR EER (HEE31(3)(i) )

hEFMmAEERAR QA
—E-N\FEH
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27. SHARE CAPITAL

27. k&

Shares iz 5
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARBTT
Authorised: JEFE
5,000,000,000 (2017: 5,000,000,000) 5,000,000,0000%
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each TR EEO. 10/ 7T B @ A%
(20174F : 5,000,000,0000% ) HK$500,000% 7t HK$500,0007% 7T
Issued and fully paid: ERITRERE:
1,834,968,000 (2017: 1,846,132,000) 1,834,968,0000%
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each SRR TE(EO. 10/ 7T &) X 33 A%
(20174 : 1,846,132,000#% ) RMBAK#144,850t RMBA E#147,5037T
A summary of movements in the Company’s issued share capital is ARARSBITRAESE ST
as follows:
Number of Share
shares Share premium
in issue capital account Total
2®1T
ROHE BE  BRHBRER @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥®TR AR®BTR AR%®Tx
At 31 December 2017 2017512 A31H 1,846,132,000 147,503 583,836 731,339
Repurchase of shares (Note(3)) BIEERD (@) (11,164,000) (2,653) (10,603) (13,256)
At 31 December 2018 7201812318 1,834,968,000 144,850 573,233 718,083
Note: et -

(@) On 17 May 2018 and 18 May 2018, the Company repurchased its own

shares amounting to 740,000 and 9,076,000 separately at market value

of HK$1.45 per share. On 7 June 2018, the Company cancelled these

shares. On 19 June 2018, the Company repurchased its own shares

amounting to 1,348,000 at market value of HK$1.42 per share. On 7 July

2018, the Company cancelled these shares. The share capital was written
down by RMB797,000 and RMB1,856,000 respectively at a historical

convert proportion, and the share premium was written down by the

remaining amount.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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M20184F5H17H Kk2018F5H180 A4
Ao EMESRIAABTHERLA &R
15740,0008% £%9,076,0008% ° 74201846 A7
H AR RHEZERD 1201856819
A ARARHETESRI 428 THEEE A F &
191,348,0008% - 201857 A7H » AR B i
SHZE AR o IR ANIRIE £ 532 Bk 51 5 Bl U
AR¥797,0007T & A R¥1,856,0007T * B fn
St B B 4 SR BB MURL ©



28. OTHER RESERVE

Other reserve represented the reserve from the share option
scheme adopted by Zhong An Real Estate Limited (the “Parent
Company”), the parent company of the Group, who operates a
share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the operations. The Scheme became effective on 15
May 2009 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain
in force for 10 years from the offer date.

Certain directors of the Group were granted these share options.
In respect of their services to the Group, the relevant share-based
payment transactions were accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements.

Pursuant to the Scheme adopted by the Parent Company, the initial
maximum number of shares which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all options granted (excluding options which have lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Scheme and other share option
schemes of the Parent Company and its subsidiaries (the “Parent
Group”), if any) under the Scheme and other share option schemes
of the Parent Group (if any) must not exceed 10% of the shares
of the Parent Company in issue as at 15 May 2009, being the
date of approval of the Scheme by the shareholders at the annual
general meeting of the Parent Company. Such maximum number
may however be refreshed at a general meeting of the Parent
Company by shareholders. In addition, no options may be granted
under the Scheme or other share option schemes adopted by the
Parent Group (if any) if the grant of such option will result in the
maximum number of shares which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted but yet to be exercised
under the Scheme and other share option schemes adopted
by the Parent Group (if any) exceeding 30% of the issued share
capital of the Parent Company from time to time. The maximum
number of shares issuable under share options to each eligible
participant in the Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to
1% of the shares of the Parent Company in issue at any time. Any
further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Notes to Financial Statements
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28. H fth % fi§

HipFRIEREARERARIRLEESR
BRAR ([BATE])FRARIERE 8/
- BEOEAE ([ZT8l) M AR
B URASAEEEERIMELERNEE
1% 2 B2 T (5t B K% 22 R - & AT 81712009
FEAR AR FRIFRITHHRIEET -
BRIKHENRRRETFRAR

AEBETESERZSRERE RREY
AEBEWIRG T = - AR ARG AER
MR 5 R 2 ABBERERE IS
W&o

RIBERBMRANZET S BREZS

EINBRARLEMBAR (TBAREHR])
H BT 8 (1F) Xt 2 8RB
#(TERREZFELBARSEEM
B S (B WIERE ERANER
) BITEM A TREMETHNTRERK
HEE - TEEBBE R FIN2009F5H15H
(AMBRRNERBBRRBFERNE LI AEZ
AR BB BEBITRME10% - A B
MRSBRNBEAIREARKERE £H
BERAE B - BES - i 45 th 5 R R A S
BHREERAET SRR REERAL
HipfEREar 8 (nE) ERHBRTTRER
FrEBRBEETE M Al i3 R EITHR
SN E BB AR TEDETRAN
30% - BT AIRIZRE A HE AT SIS B A R KE
R LBt 8 (A REZEH
Bt - ME(T -+ — M8 A B M A AR IR RE A A
MZTE TR EAR2EERTHNRS
RO EE - (RN E R RIPMEI SR 2 31T
B2 H91% o (EA 2 — R H B i@t R R A
BREANBRRARE EBUSBRA AL -
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28. OTHER RESERVE (CONTINUED)

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Parent Company, or to any of their associates,
are subject to approval in advance by the independent non-
executive directors. In addition, any share options granted to a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director
of the Parent Company, or to any of their associates, in excess
of 0.1% of the shares of the Parent Company in issue at any
time or with an aggregate value (based on the price of the Parent
Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million,
within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval
in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted by the
grantee within 21 days from the date of offer at a consideration
of HK$1.00. The exercise period of the share options granted is
determinable by the directors, and commences after a vesting
period of one to five years and ends on a date which is not later
than 10 years from the date of offer of the share options or the
expiry date of the Scheme, if earlier.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the directors,
but may not be less than the highest of:

(i) the Stock Exchange closing price of the Parent Company’s
shares on the date of offer of the share options;

(i)  the average Stock Exchange closing price of the Parent
Company’s shares for the five trading days immediately

preceding the date of offer; and

(i) the nominal value of a share of the Parent Company.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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28. Hfthf i (#8)

BYRRRESR TETBRABRTIBRE
HFEEABHEATOBRE  AELRS
B FEITE ROHLAE  thSh - IR PMER
TEARER TR EERRIBL
FRTES IWFNEABHRANTMARE
PR B A R PMERE HE EHITRO B
01% E#AE (REARRREKH BHH
P& fE&tE ) #385,000,000 7T - BIZEF LR
BRERAE EBEUSB R AE -

BRHBERENENTEZNBEMEARR
AR ARAE.00B TTE A « FTR H BB AR
B2THEHHESET UN—20F2HE
BEIRFS  EEBERERNAHETER
THFEzZAHZAEZERER (ARPEE
ERE)RILE-

BEREZTEERESET  EBETAERNI

TEREE:

0 BRRERNRBREZY A AR
A2 (& :

i) SARKROREZZHAMRIAES
EREBIHZFHKRTE: &

(i) HRFEEAOEEE -



28. OTHER RESERVE (CONTINUED)
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The share options granted to certain directors of the Group were
outstanding under the Scheme during the reporting periods:

28. Hfthf i (#8)

RGP BRI AEEE TEEHBRE
Tkt 8T i R1TE 2 RE A HE -

2018 2018 2017 2017
20184 20184 20174 20174
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise Number exercise Number
price of options price of options
I i AR e N9 fEhR e
TEE #E BB EgEl
HK$ HK$
per share ’000 per share ‘000
BRET F& BRET 45
At 1 January M1 A1R 2.12 5,053 2.12 5,053
At 31 December ®12A31H 212 5,053

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options

2.12 5,063

REIR  WARTTEBREZ TEERTT

outstanding as at the end of the reporting periods are as follows: FEIIT
2018 201845
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BREHE TEE* TEH
’000 per share
¥ 5 =14
2,650 HK$1.85 22 January 2014 to 21 January 2021
1.858 7T 201441 220 £20214F1H21H
2,403 HK$2.58 9 July 2010 to 8 July 2019
2.5878 7T 201097 A9H 201947 A8H
5,053
2017 20174
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BREHE TEE> TEH
’000 per share
T4 =14
2,650 HK$1.85 22 January 2014 to 21 January 2021
1.858 7T 201441 B22H £2021F1 H21H
2,403 HK$2.58 9 July 2010 to 8 July 2019
2.58% 7T 201097 A9H £201947 A8H
5,053
* The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in case of BRENTEBEHRRIAKRETLEAR

rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Parent Company’s

share capital.

The Group did not recognise any share option expense during the
year ended 31 December 2018. (2017: Nil)

WA R AR S BB R T A TR

HE2018F12A31B IEFE - AEE I
TR AR AER S o (20174 « %)
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29. RESERVES

(@) Share premium

The share premium represents the excess of ordinary shares

paid by the shareholders over their nominal value.

(b) Capital reserve

U

(i)

(i)

On 30 May 2014, the Company and its related
parties signed the deed of novation, assignment
and set-off (the “Deed”). The Deed settled and set-
off the outstanding balances of the Company with
related parties. The net debts due to and owing by
the Company to Ideal World after set-off, amounting
to approximately RMB963,639,000, were settled by
the Company by allotting and issuing 1,000,000 new
shares amounting to RMB80,000 credited as fully paid
to Ideal World.

On 31 May 2014, the directors were authorised
to capitalise HK$126,700,000, equivalent to
RMB100,825,000, by using the exchange rate on
that day, standing to the credit of the capital reserve
account of the Company, so that 1,267,000,000
shares were allotted and issued, pursuant to this
resolution.

Deemed contribution by the controlling shareholder
represented certain residual interests of the residential
business remaining in certain subsidiaries and was
contributed by the controlling shareholder to the
Group.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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29, #
(a) BH=RE

(b)

ARBRMD R ERRRIN 2 BBk
TRBREEE-

=N

M

(i)

(i)

M2014F5 4308 - AR E RHE
BAEE S RIS B E iR R
BT ([ZRIE]) - A RIBEE
R AR S5 7K ) ) ER A Bk 75 B9 8 R
BIBGEH RIEHE  AQTE
R R fFIdeal World®J & 765 5%
B4 A AR #963,639,0007T °
A Q&5 B Al ldeal WorldE?
¢ 12 3£471,000,0008% A BR 51|/
BEFTRMOMENS SEEA
R #80,0007T °

2014458318 « EFERE
1% 75 & 75126,700,00058 7T (1%
EHEXGHBERARK
100,825,0007T) " 5 A& 2 A
BEABER UWREARER
Bt 2% K 3£ 771,267,000,0004% A%

1/\ ®

AR RIERPIRIR BB 45 E TH
BARESGTHETEBNE T
s WARERRFEARE
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29. RESERVES (CONTINUED) 29. f# fim

(c) Statutory surplus reserve (c) EEBRGEHE
In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC and BREBEFREARERFEEEAGEE
the respective articles of association of the PRC group HAE R AR AR BN - i pA AR B A i A R
companies, each of the subsidiaries of the Group that is SEEMB AR AR ERTEFE
domiciled in Mainland China is required to allocate 10% of its K10% (IRIBEFBE S ENET)E
profit after tax, as determined in accordance with the PRC EERABAE(DETRBRIE])
Accounting Regulations, to the statutory surplus reserve HEZEREEZEEBAMAERY
(the “SSR”) until such reserve reaches 50% of its registered 50% -
capital.
In addition, certain of the PRC group companies are foreign oN BRETHBEEE R AINE
investment enterprises which are not subject to the SSR 2 WEERIEERBMBRATE R
allocation. According to the relevant PRC regulations BEARIINECENBEAREER -
applicable to foreign investment enterprises, each of these ZEMB R BB RETFRESFE
subsidiaries is required to allocate a certain portion (not less AP EE ERIBR B 1& A E Ay & T 5619
than 10%) of its profit after tax, as determined in accordance (TL0% ) BEETEEES HE
with the PRC Accounting Regulations, to the statutory ZIREBESEZTHIMEARBS50% °
reserve fund until such reserve reaches 50% of its registered
capital.

30. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 0. FERENERME
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Changes in financial liabilities arising from MEITHEECERMEBEEH

financing activities

Bank and

other loans

1T R H A E R

ARET T

RMB’000

At 1 January 2018 720181 A1H 3,107,739
Changes from financing cash flows BMERSRELE (139,654)
At 31 December 2018 201812 H31H 2,968,085
At 1 January 2017 7201741 A1 R 3,300,609
Changes from financing cash flows BERCREED (192,870)
At 31 December 2017 R20179F12H31H 3,107,739

hEFMmAEERAR QA
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31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

1

Name and relationship

Name of related parties

RS B

S1.RABARXS
(M BBRBE

Relationship with the Group
EE AR SR B RE 1R

Mr. Shi Kancheng

BEATLAK 52 4

Yuyao Zhong An Property Co., Ltd.

TR LEXEARAR]

Zhejiang Zhong An Property Management Co., Ltd.
WL RZMERBER AR

Zhong An Group Co., Ltd.

BREEBAR AT

Zhong An Real Estate Co., Ltd.
RRFEEBRAR

Glorious Days Management Co., Ltd.
HREBARAT

Anhui Zhong An Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
LB EEMEREFRAG

Zhejiang Anyuan Agriculture Development Co., Ltd.
WILREERERR AR

Hong Kong Huiyuan Real Estate Limited
BERBERMERR DA

Ruikai Management Co., Ltd.
HEERBRAT

Zhong An Asset Management Co., Ltd.
BRREEEEARAR

Zhong An Corporate Finance Limited
RELMEBR AR

Zhong An Finance Limited

RLUBERA R

Zhong An Securities Limited

REBHFAR LT

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2018 Annual Report

Ultimate controlling shareholder

R ER

Company controlled by the ultimate controlling shareholder
F B AR IR AR R PR I B A B

Company controlled by the ultimate controlling shareholder
H B AT AR AR R PR I B A 7]

Company controlled by the ultimate controlling shareholder
F B AR IR AR R PR I B A B

Company controlled by the ultimate controlling shareholder
F B AR AR AR R PR I B A A

Company controlled by the ultimate controlling shareholder
FE B AR IR AR R PR I B A B

Company controlled by the ultimate controlling shareholder
B S IR AR R 8 R &)

Company controlled by the ultimate controlling shareholder
B SEERRRZES QA

Company controlled by the ultimate controlling shareholder
SR AR R S8R )

Company controlled by the ultimate controlling shareholder
S EERRRZES &R E)

Company controlled by the ultimate controlling shareholder
B SRR R 8 R &)

Company controlled by the ultimate controlling shareholder
S EERRRZES &R E)

Company controlled by the ultimate controlling shareholder
SRR AR RS8R )

Company controlled by the ultimate controlling shareholder

B R AR AR B SR AE I 9 12 B
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31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

B AR (])

(2)  Outstanding balances with related parties: @ HEEESRREELR:
() Amounts due from related companies (i) FEWREEHATIRE

2018 2017

20185 20174

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARETT

Zhong An Real Estate Co., Ltd. BEFEERRAT 7,017 7,523
Glorious Days Management Co., Ltd. HEEEARAF 17,524 31,765

24,541 39,288
Amounts due from related companies were interest- JEWRAEE A RIFKIEARE &
free, unsecured and had no fixed terms of repayment. BN E B ER -

LR ERAR
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31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS S1.RABAEXS (18)
(CONTINUED)

(2)  Outstanding balances with related parties: (continued) @) HEEESRRERELEH:

(i)

Amounts due to related companies

(i) EFRBEBEATRE

(#8)

2018 2017
20185 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARET T
Hangzhou Huijun Information U BE B 15 B R Al
Technology Co., Ltd. BRAF 107,912 =
Hangzhou Junjie Investment Co., Ltd. MMEB IR EBRAF 55,427 =
Zhong An Group Co., Ltd. RELEBBRAR 260,515 427,715
Zhejiang Zhong An Property AL R LR
Management Co., Ltd. BRAF] 800 800
Anhui Zhong An Real Estate ZRR L FEHERE
Development Co., Ltd. BRAR] 186,316 186,316
Yuyao Zhong An Property Co., Ltd. RKRLEEBRAA 79,298 79,044
Zhejiang Anyuan Agriculture AL R
Development Co., Ltd. BRRA 1,685 2,346
Hong Kong Huiyuan Real Estate Limited & /& &Rt EH R A 7 252,330 =
Ruikai Management Co., Ltd. IHIlEEER AR 35,645 =
Zhong An Asset Management Co., Ltd. RBZEEEEHFR AT 1,745 -
Zhong An Corporate Finance Limited FREBMEBRAA 1,745 =
Zhong An Finance Limited R BERAR 1,746 =
Zhong An Securities Limited REBHER AT 1,745 =
986,909 696,221

Amounts due to related companies were interest-free,
unsecured and had no fixed terms of repayment.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(8) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these
financial statements, the Group had the following transactions
with related parties during the year:

(i) Property service fee

Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

B AR (])

Q) BRZFMBHERREMIFNDORZF
TBEI 10 G 7 S B B R B 5 HE 1T RO

RSUT:
(i) YERKEHR
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR AR¥ETT

Zhejiang Zhong An Property T RLYE R

Management Co., Ltd. BRAR]

(i) Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group, which comprises the remuneration of the
directors, is disclosed in note 8.

(iii) As disclosed in note 26, the Group’s borrowings of

RMB479,000,000 (2017: Nil) were guaranteed by Mr.
Shi Kancheng at 31 December 2018.

32. COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following commitments for property
development expenditure at the end of the reporting period:

800 800

(i) ANEBETEEEABRFH
(BEESHFH)CRH s

5o
(iii) a0 BT sE26FT # 55 - FA20184F
12A318 AEBZEFAR

#479,000,0007T (20174 :
) TR A e SRR R o

32. EXEKIE

RBEIR  AEERYEREHHER

HEHEMNT
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR ARETT

Contracted, but not provided for: BRI B AR B
Properties under development FRERYE

480,259 520,421

BT EEERER AT
FETATTEGENEEE 261
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33. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 33. & & #H & &iE

As lessor

The Group leases its investment properties under operating lease
arrangements on terms ranging from one to fifteen years and with
an option for renewal after the expiry dates, at which time all terms
will be renegotiated.

At 31 December 2018, the Group had total future minimum lease
receivables under non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants
falling due as follows:

EREHEA

AEERBEEHELHHBERENE
MBANF—2+RHEF TAERERIHAR
EENER 2GR T EIEE -

R2018F12A31H  AEERIFEEMA S
AT BRI IS E MM T 5 R E
HMHEREEREEREATENT

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TF T AR¥ETT

Within one year —FNR 74,551 67,233
In the second to fifth years, inclusive FE_EERFT (HEMFERIELENA) 175,829 145,805
After five years hF% 61,957 23,330

312,337 236,368
As lessee fERAEA

The Group leases certain of its office properties and office
equipment under operating lease arrangements, negotiated for
terms from one to nine years with an option for renewal after the
expiry dates, at which time all terms will be renegotiated.

At 31 December 2018, the Group had total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling due as

AEERBEEHEECHEREETHA
EMERRR ARG BRGHEANF—EN
F WANEEN BB R REEHERD 2 AR5
ATETHEE-

R2018F 128318 + KL B RIE T 7] E 44
LEHEmMN TS HME BN B ERIEKRE

follows: NEEFRIEATENT
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBTT
Within one year —F N 18,599 22,850
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_EFRF (BEMERETEA) 105,975 98,848
After five years hFE 256,700 283,321
381,274 405,019

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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34. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # Z2018F 128310 IEFE

<7 % -h-Ki|

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTF T AR¥ETT

Guarantees given to banks for: FLATIER 48 TIRITEVELR -
Mortgage facilities granted to REBYEERERRITIRBEE

purchasers of the Group’s properties

The Group provided guarantees in respect of the mortgage
facilities granted by certain banks to the purchasers of the Group’s
properties. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantee arrangements,
in case of default on mortgage payments by the purchasers,
the Group is responsible for repaying the outstanding mortgage
loans together with any accrued interest and penalty owed by the
defaulted purchasers to the banks. The Group is then entitled to
take over the legal titles of the related properties. The Group’s
guarantee periods commence from the dates of grant of the
relevant mortgage loans and end after the execution of individual
purchasers’ collateral agreements.

The Group did not incur any material losses during the reporting
period in respect of the guarantees provided for mortgage facilities
granted to purchasers of the Group’s properties. The directors
consider that in case of default on payments, the net realisable
value of the related properties can cover the repayment of the
outstanding mortgage loans together with any accrued interest and
penalty, and therefore no provision has been made in connection
with the guarantees.

332,636 232,541

AEERETRITAAREMENERE
HHRBEEHAER BREBEERTHK
o MERAGRERRETNE AEEEE
TARTEEERERNB T REERR
EEF M B RSN - ARBERAEEK
HEAMEMAIEFT B - AEEER S
BRHOEBRBERBEEEMNE R L
EIRBER L -

RBERRE AEELBEARNEEMENE
RERTHRBEERMRENERTMES
EREABR -EFRA HHRERGEER
M1 HREY R A B E R AEE R
THRIBE SR R R ERFE REK - Bt
W FHE RIS -
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CATEGORY

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

5. LIMANESEMIR

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

EESRIARBEHRNETENT -

2018 20184
Financial
assets Financial
Financial at fair value assets
assets through other at fair value
at amortised  comprehensive through profit
cost income or loss Total
BARERE
AR BAAREE
REBHERAN ZHUEH FABEMN
SREE SREE SREE a@st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR AR%TR AR%TR AR%TR
Financial assets: SREE:
Long term prepayments REABAR 102,385 - - 102,385
Equity investments designated ETEBERAREEFA
at fair value through other Hi2ERANRFRE
comprehensive income - 416,814 - 416,814
Financial assets at fair value BRRAEBETABR
through profit or loss SHEAE - - 42,093 42,093
Trade and bills receivables B E 5EARRE 21,501 - - 21,501
Financial assets included in prepayments, &t A& {08 « E th FE Yo 708 |
other receivables and other assets HWBENSREE 135,072 - - 135,072
Amounts due from related companies &4 BB 1A 71 F0A 24,541 - - 24,541
Restricted cash XREEE 76,415 - - 76,415
Cash and cash equivalents ReLhBeEEY 548,907 - - 548,907
908,821 416,814 42,093 1,367,728

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (CONTINUED)
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35. 1
(%)

HEsemTR

-

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

REBHER AT
E =R
RMB’000
AR®T
Financial liabilities: cHasE:
Trade payables BB SRR 690,793
Other payables and accruals Hib e RIE R ERTE R 158,104
Interest-bearing bank and other & EERITEF R E b fE 3R
borrowings 2,968,085
Amounts due to related companies J& 1~ 8B A 5 FUE 986,909
4,803,891
2017 20174
Financial
assets
at fair value
through Available-for-
profit Loans and sale
or loss receivables financial assets Total
BAREE
FTABEED ERR AL E
SREE FEU R IE SREE Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFT ARBTFT ARBTFT ARBTFT
Financial assets: SREE:
Available-for-sale investments A ERE - - 359,300 359,300
Equity investment at fair value through AR BE ABZMESRE
profit or loss 71,504 - - 71,504
Long term prepayments REABAR - 116,417 - 116,417
Trade receivables EKE SRR - 19,275 - 19,275
Financial assets included in prepayments, &t AJER 5038 « H ft Uk F0 0B K2
other receivables and other assets HtEENS AR - 86,539 - 86,539
Amounts due from related companies  JEUREREE 1A BIFUE - 39,288 - 39,288
Restricted cash XBHRE - 289,151 - 289,151
Cash and cash equivalents ReRAGEEY - 323,312 = 323,312
71,504 873,082 359,300 1,304,786

hEFMmAEERAR QA
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 35. LA SHEmMTI R
CATEGORY (CONTINUED) (#&)
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
REIEK AR
TRIBE
RMB’000
ARBFT
Financial liabilities: cEAaE:
Trade payables FERTE SRR 750,374
Financial liabilities included in FFAHMENRIEREAERATHNEHAR
other payables and accruals 159,575
Interest-bearing bank and AFERITERREM
other borrowings 3,107,739
Amounts due to related companies J& 1< B E A 7] 78 696,221
4,713,909
36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 36. % NREERL

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial

instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that

reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

AEFCRTANERNERAEENT
HEREEEQAEESEBAEERIN:

Carrying Carrying
amounts amounts  Fair values Fair values
AR TE B REE AREE NREE
2018 2017 2018 2017
2018%F 20174F 20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRT ARBTT AR®BTR ARETT
Financial liabilities cHEE
Interest-bearing bank and other =t BSR1TE R &
borrowings H a5k 2,968,085 3,107,739 2,923,871 3,024,522

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, the current portion of restricted cash, trade receivables,
trade payables, financial assets included in prepayments, other
receivables and other assets, financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals, amounts due from/to related companies,
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short
term maturities of these instruments. The non-current portions of
restricted cash, long term deposits and financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss and financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the insignificant amount or short remaining maturities
of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used
to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of the interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
have been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using rates currently available for instruments with similar terms,
credit risk and remaining maturities.

Notes to Financial Statements
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36. M LAMARRERL

i)

REERE

il

BRRERRSEEY JRHRS BN
B BREZER BENEZER A
BNFOR - HttBRFE R A EEN TR
BE TARMENFELESERTNE
BEE RN B A R FURRNE R
N MEBEEARZETIAREERAE
FREEMRS - XRFIR S IR KH
FERARBRARBEFABRENEREE
RBRAARBEFAREGEZERENESHE
EREEEERS  T2ARZSFTARGE
R FIEREARR RGP B -

TREENRABHNARBENZIARE
X577 (MIEREAHBRHEE)ERIRS
TEARZERARR  TFIIERRRTYA
REERREE:

ARRITERREMERNAAEETE
BEAEBLUGER  EERR LS TEIHA
B & Bl T B IR B BT R AT 3R R K 1R B R 2R3R
EREFHEMTH -
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36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted
market prices. The fair values of unlisted equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income,
which were previously classified as available-for-sale equity
investments, have been estimated using a market-based valuation
technique based on assumptions that are not supported by
observable market prices or rates. The valuation requires the
directors to determine comparable public companies (peers)
based on industry, size, leverage and strategy, and calculates an
appropriate price multiple, such as enterprise value to earnings
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (“EV/EBITDA”)
multiple and price to earnings (“P/E”) multiple, for each comparable
company identified. The multiple is calculated by dividing the
enterprise value of the comparable company by an earnings
measure. The trading multiple is then discounted for considerations
such as illiquidity and size differences between the comparable
companies based on company-specific facts and circumstances.
The discounted multiple is applied to the corresponding earnings
measure of the unlisted equity investments to measure the
fair value. The directors believe that the estimated fair values
resulting from the valuation technique, which are recorded in
the consolidated statement of financial position, and the related
changes in fair values, which are recorded in other comprehensive
income, are reasonable, and that they were the most appropriate
values at the end of the reporting period.

For the fair value of the unlisted equity investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income, which were previously
classified as available-for-sale equity investments, management
has estimated the potential effect of using reasonably possible
alternatives as inputs to the valuation model and has quantified an
increase in fair value of approximately RMB9,000,000, using more
favourable assumptions.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

36. M LAMARRERL
RIRERE (&)

AR BR2018F K2017F12A31HE& /R T
AHBEMERANERT B RE AT

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the
valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative

sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2018 and 2017: EERREDTHE:
Significant
Valuation unobservable Sensitivity of fair
technique inputs Range value to the input
BEATAEE AREBEEHHAHE
& (B B iT BWAHE &i [ HBURE
RMB’000
AR®TT

Unlisted equity
investments
(2017: unlisted

Valuation multiples

HERR

Average P/B
multiple of peers
(Or Average P/E

2018: 1.19t0 1.45
(2017: 1.09 to 1.41)
20184 : 1.19%1.45

5% (2017: 5%)
increase/decrease
in multiple would

available-for-sale multiple of peers) (20174 : result in increase/
equity investments) BEEABHFHMER 1.09%1.41) decrease in fair
IE EMAR IR E (2017 REH (BERERT value by 16,577
FoIELmAHEE A EFZE) (2017: 16,699)
RARE) 8% R
5% (20174 : 5% ) #%
BYRAABEEN
/W 16,577(2017
% :16,699)
Discount for lack 2018: 25% 5% (2017: 5%)

of marketability
R Z T is T IR

The discount for lack of marketability represents the amounts of

premiums and discounts determined by the Group that market

participants would take into account when pricing the investments.

(2017: 25%)
20184F : 25%
(20174 : 25% )

REmERBERRETS2BEEER
BETEBREZ BN M AREETE G

BRI

FEFBTAEEESAR
—ZE-N\EF

increase/decrease
in discount would
result in decrease/
increase in fair
value by 5,384
(2017: 5,788)
FIRIE AN, R 5%
(20174 : 5% ) 5 &
BAREBERLD
#905,384(20174F :
5,788)

QA
F 1R
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36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

All financial instruments for which fair value is recognised or
disclosed are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described

BMTANLREERS
R1E %48 (@)

BERIERAANBENFEEERIA AR
BHAABEAESERMEBEZERAH

as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the BZREERETLAAABESHRANETT

fair value measurement as a whole: b2k =k

Level1  —  Quoted market prices in an active market (that FIRA — RBEEEXBERER
are unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities HHVRE (B ARGTED fﬁ

%)

Level2 ~ —  Valuation techniques (for which the lowest E2MA —  HERN (BLEEKEE
level input that is significant to the fair value BEIRHAAEBEFEMS
measurement is directly or indirectly observable) BEZ &EERH A

%)

Level 3 —  Valuation techniques (for which the lowest E3RA —  (HERNT (BT AERY
level input that is significant to the fair value ARBEFENEBEEZEZ
measurement is unobservable) =K E 5 A BIE)

Fair value hierarchy AREERE

All the above financial assets and liabilities had Level 2 inputs other
than financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and equity
investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income which had Level 1 and Level 3 inputs respectively. The fair
value hierarchy of investment properties is disclosed in note 13 to
the financial statements.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE s6. £MIANAARER L
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL REERE (8
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy (continued) NABERESE (&)
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy TRITAEEERITANAABEE
of the Group’s financial instruments: 2

Fair value measurement using
FRAUTRENAAEETE
Quoted
prices  Significant  Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
SERME EATEE EXTITHEE
KR E BWARE WAHE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(SF14 A1) (sE24% All) (ZE345) mat
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR¥TR AR®BTRT AR¥TR

Financial assets at fair value BAABEFABEN

through profit or loss TRMEE 42,093 = = 42,093
Equity investments designated 8 7E Bz A SLEER A

at fair value through other EAh2EUE AR RAIEE

comprehensive income - - 416,814 416,814
As at 31 December 2018 A2018%F12H31H 42,093 - 416,814 458,907

Financial assets at fair value BAREBETABRH

through profit or loss CREE 71,504 - - 71,504
As at 31 December 2017 A2017F128311 71,504 - - 71,504
During the reporting period, there were no transfers of fair value RS B - 1R BB FE 24 Bl 2 I A
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into ‘M BErf28% B EE A 8L E3R

or out of Level 3.

BT R ERERAR
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT J7Z.MERGEEAEREE

272

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and
cash equivalents, short term deposits and interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The
Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as
trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments
for trading purposes. The board of directors reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised
below:

(a) Interest rate risk

The Group has no significant interest-bearing assets. The
Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank and other
borrowings with floating interest rates. The Group has not
used any interest rate swaps to hedge its interest rate risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax
(through the impact on floating rate borrowings) and the
Group’s equity, assuming all the increases or decreases are
dealt with in profit or loss, without consideration of interest
capitalisation.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2018 Annual Report
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(a) Interest rate risk (continued)
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37. MBEPEEE B R KR

=

(@) =@ (H)

Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in (loss)/profit (decrease)
basis points before tax in equity
BB AT
2% (B8R AHE Bz
#m,/ CRd)  #EwmORd) & ORd)
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARBTFT

2018 20184
RMB AR
RMB AR
2017 20174
RMB AR
Us$ ETT
JPY =7
RMB AR
Us$ ST
JPY AT

50 (14,840) (11,130)
(50) 14,840 11,130
50 (250) (188)
50 (1,414) (1,061)
50 (188) (141)
(50) 250 188
(50) 1,414 1,061

(50) 188 141
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b) Foreign currency risk

The Group’s businesses are located in Mainland China and
all transactions are conducted in RMB. Most of the Group’s
assets and liabilities are denominated in RMB, except for
certain bank balances and bank loans denominated in US$
and HKS.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in
the US$ and HK$ exchange rates, with all other variables
hold constant, of the Group’s (loss)/profit before tax and the
Group’s equity.

=

(b) ShEE R

37. MBEMREEE R R BER

REBMEL 2 BED BN ETT

B X SEEAARE - REB AR
NEERABBEAARKE ETHU
ELRABTTHENRITEBRIRITE
KBRS o

TRINRAEEGREA (BB, F
HRAEEREENRERAREETR

B ITE R AR

ab g5k
BE 5

B GURE

BT B A S R AR T o

Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in (loss)/profit (decrease)
foreign currency rate before tax in equity
BB AT
HNEE =X (B8])/#E i
#m/ & CRD) #m,/ Gh)
(R 2) ARMTF T ARMT T
% RMB’000 RMB’000
2018 201845
If HK$ weakens against US$ fis 7T 7 E T B 5 294 220
If HK$ strengthens against US$ fisi 75 7T 5, E T HHE ) (294) (220)
If RMB weakens against US$ i AR H R TR A 5 1,720 1,290
If RMB strengthens against US$ M A REHETHE 5) (1,720) (1,290)
2017 20174
If HK$ weakens against US$ WABITHETEE 5 (8,831) (6,623)
If HK$ strengthens against US$ fis 7 7T %, E T HHE 5) 8,831 6,623
If RMB weakens against US$ M ARBHETRE 5 3,556 2,667
If RMB strengthens against US$ i A R A ETAE () (3,556) (2,667)

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

Credit risk

The Group has no concentration of credit risk. The Group’s
cash and cash equivalents are mainly deposited with
overseas banks and state-owned banks in Mainland China.
The carrying amounts of the other receivables, restricted cash
and cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated
statement of financial position represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial
assets. The Group has no other financial assets which carry
significant exposure to credit risk. The Group has arranged
bank financing for certain purchasers of its property units and
has provided guarantees to secure the obligations of these
purchasers for repayments. Detailed disclosures of these
guarantees are included in note 34.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial assets
(e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows from
operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank
and other borrowings.

(c)

(d)
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37. MBEPEEE B R KR

=

ERAR

AEFBVTEEHHNEERR AEE
WIReRRESBEYEZERTFHEE
HMRTT K A B R B & SRITENTF 3K
fRE B IS AR S 3R FRT 1) B H B Wk
H ZREBFEeARRe RALEE
MREEEANEERESREER
EENZEEERRE - A& B I &K
FEACERBROEMSREE &
EEARHETMHEBUMERETH
RITREWRBEERUREZZER
WERET BHEZSEROFAR
BEA I 5E34 o

REBESER
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 7. MERMEEEBRRBE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (#%)
(CONTINUED)
(d) Liquidity risk (continued) (d) KBESAK (&)
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at BEBFTORERNR AEE2FHE
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual BERREAROE AR AT :

undiscounted payments, is as follows:

Less than 3 to less than 1t05 Over
On demand 3 months 12 months years 5 years Total
REXR HH3MEAR 3Z12f8A8 1855 5N L @t
2018 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
20184 ARETR AR®Trn AR¥Tr AR¥Tn AR%Trn AR®T:n
Interest-bearing bank AERITERR
and other borrowings HipfER - 214,000 1,518,460 1,075,500 160,125 2,968,085
Interest payable in relationto Fﬁ RITREMERZ
bank and other borrowings  FE{F 7 & - 41,651 66,816 139,286 21,791 269,544
Trade payables & ﬁ B HER - 602,405 88,388 - - 690,793
Other payables and accruals H it ENHELEFER 158,104 - - - - 158,104
158,104 858,056 1,673,664 1,214,786 181,916 4,086,526
Lessthan  3toless than 1105 Over
On demand 3 months 12 months years 5 years Total
REX SRR3R 3Z=12M8A8 1255 S5EA F it
2017 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
201746 AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT ARETRT
Interest-bearing bank and & BERITEFR
other borrowings HitfEm - 195,565 985,174 1,757,000 170,000 3,107,739
Interest payable in relation to G EAIRTT REMET 2
bank and other borrowings  [E1 & - 46,729 120,205 137,843 8,428 313,205
Trade payables BB S BRI - 590,329 160,045 - = 750,374
Other payables and accruals — E &1 708 & =+ & 159,575 = = = = 159,575
159,575 832,623 1,265,424 1,894,843 178,428 4,330,893

2 7 6 China New City Commercial Development Limited
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT J7Z.HMERSEEAEREE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

(e) Capital management (e) EXRERE

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not
subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes
for managing capital during the years ended 31 December
2018 and 31 December 2017.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
net debt divided by capital plus net debt. Net debt includes
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, trade payables,
other payables and the accruals, less cash and cash
equivalents. Capital represents equity attributable to owners
of the parent. The gearing ratios as at the end of each of the
reporting periods was as follows:

AEBERNEENTIEANEERRE
AEBEFELE NEFRENE
AL UXFHEEBRERREE
mAIE .

RNEBEBREEALE  WIREBCE
R EEBFEBEEENRRSE
HEEDLRAE - BRBIARERE
B AEEA e AEI T FRENR
BCBEARETHREREITHR
e REENZAIMINEPRME A
KPR %l o R E £2018F12A318 &
2017F12A31HILFE  EBEARN
B2 HERREMELAES-

AEEEREERBLREZFELN

ZEERBLERREBFERAER
MEBFE BEHFEBET SR
EREEMER BNESERR H
N RBEREER  RBRE MR
SEEY -BEARBRRESE ARG
B REHRERRNEERBLE
LU

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREET T

Interest-bearing bank and SFERTER R EME

other borrowings 2,968,085 3,107,739
Trade payables ETE SRR 690,793 750,374
Other payables and accruals Hfib e RIERETER 184,946 179,123
Less: Cash and cash equivalents BRE MBS EEY (548,907) (323,312)
Net debt B F5E 3,294,917 3,713,924
Equity attributable to ERRHEEB AEIGER

owners of the parent 5,582,986 5,837,122
Capital and net debt AR R BT FRE 8,877,903 9,551,046
Gearing ratio BERMALX 37% 39%
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 3. XTI ZHMBERAE
POSITION OF THE COMPANY
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BT ARBFIT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KRB AR E 1,369,316 1,326,803
Property and equipment I EY &L 12 14
Total non-current assets BIEREEE 1,369,328 1,326,817
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments, other receivables and TEATFRI8 - H At FEUGRIE &
other assets Hih &&= 4,633 7,809
Financial assets at fair value EBARBEFABRZ
through profit or loss EREE 93,531 71,504
Amounts due from subsidiaries NG E s 1,652,433 1,696,506
Inventories T8 108 103
Cash and cash equivalents BeERREEED 9,414 13,033
Total current assets BREEE 1,760,119 1,788,955
Current liabilities REBAE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FETH B R R FUIA 1,097,992 1,157,312
Other payables and accruals E e R IE R EETE - 4,047
Amounts due to related parties JFE{S RA B 5 3 E 50,792 =
Total current liabilities BRBaE 1,148,784 1,161,359
Net current assets RBEEFEE 611,335 627,596
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBAR 1,980,663 1,954,413
Net assets BEE 1,980,663 1,954,413
Equity s
Equity attributable to owners of the parent & A A% A A fE{EHE S
Share capital [ 144,850 147,503
Reserves (note a) & (Hata) 1,835,813 1,806,910
Total equity RS 1,980,663 1,954,413
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40.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)
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Note a: Hiita -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AN E REEB T
Share Exchange
premium fluctuation Accumulated Capital
account reserve losses reserve Total
i) ERKEE
HER =1 2itE#R BRRE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFRT AR%TR AR%¥TR AR¥TT AR%BTxR
At 1 January 2017 #2017F1A1H 426,019 118,637 (45,972) 1,235,872 1,734,556
Issue of shares BITRG 157,817 - - = 157,817
Total comprehensive income for the year FREEKEBE - (80,300) (5,169) - (85,463)
At 31 December 2017 and 1 January 2018 M20178F12A31A K&
2018F1H1H 583,836 38,337 (51,135) 1,235,872 1,806,910
Repurchase of shares BERGH (10,603) - - - (10,603)
Total comprehensive income for the year FREAKRELE - 58,143 (18,637) = 39,506
At 31 December 2018 M2018%F12A31H 573,233 96,480 (69,772) 1,235,872 1,835,813

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

On 20 July 2018, Zhejiang Zhongan Shenglong Commercial Co.,
Ltd., an indirect non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into an equity transfer agreement to acquire 22.65% of the
equity interests in Zhejiang Xinnongdu Industrial Co., Ltd. (“XND”)
at a consideration of RMB352,994,400 which will be settled by the
allotment and issue of the Company 178,280,000 consideration
shares. The completion of this transaction is subjected to certain
conditions that must be finalized by 31 December 2018.

On 7 January 2019, the Company issued shares as consideration
and made announcement in this regard. After the announcement,
Hangzhou Oriental Culture Tourism Group Co., Ltd (“Seller”)
approached the Company for further arrangement, the Company is
closely working with the Seller.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the board of directors on 19 March 2019.

30. REMHEER
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201857 A20R NI B L EERXABR
AR (ARF—EEEFE2ENB AR
W T R EEE AR AR ([F2H])
22.65%MRERT I IRIEE E G RERA
R #352,994,4007T * 135 i@ AN 2 A Bl 3 K
171, 7828 B R ERR D M 21T - 720184
12A31H ' ZX S HEREBERE TEEER
IR 1B ATEE ©

201941 A7H AR R BITI AR
A B FIT AL D5  MEF A
Bk REERAT ([HH ) EEZSA
ATLMERE — SR BUARFERES
A

HEMBERR

BB HMR D EN2019F3 19 EEE St
R IRRET)EE -
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—E-N\FEH

279



280

Summary of Consolidated Financial Information

ok 1 B B B R

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controling ~ ANEBEFEEKEE AMANEEZ BHmx M BEA
interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from 201446 17 A 894 A &) 1R A% = 72 #9 &% 41 1 (@ BF
the published audited financial statements and the prospectus of the HFEEENEE BENMIFEREROBEE

Company dated 17 June 2014, is set out below. HIENR °
RESULTS 4
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLEE
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
20184 20174 20164 2015%F 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFRT AR®TT AR®ETT ARETT ARETT
Revenue A 1,924,619 295,986 858,371 503,986 208,853
Profit before tax B B4 A ) E (130,814) 752,090 265,707 1,075,435 655,779
Income Tax Fris#i (91,183) (285,732) (128,642) (324,265) (193,275)
Profit for the year FRFE (221,997) 466,358 137,065 751,170 462,504
Attributable to: AT FEAS -
Equity holders of the RATRERFTEA
Company (243,524) 488,505 147,042 740,337 476,504
Non-controlling interests FEEAR 21,527 (22,147) (9,977) 10,833 (14,000)
(221,997) 466,358 137,065 751,170 462,504
E =N
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON- BEE - ARRIEERER
CONTROLLING INTERESTS
31 December
12H31H
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
20184 20174 20164F 2015%F 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTR AR®TT AR®ETT ARETT ARETT
Total Assets BEE 13,231,588 13,254,174 11,288,945 11,203,164 10,043,821
Total Liabilities wEE (7,333,545) (7,245,818)  (5,946,886)  (6,073,322)  (5,586,397)
Non-controlling Interests FEIE R R (315,057) (171,234) (170,406) (180,383) (169,550)
5,582,986 5,837,122 5,171,653 5,039,459 4,287,874

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2018 Annual Report
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